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2001/0281 &
o BN ERTIREER

2003/0481 F

o WMPAEIE B A £401H

o RFHER{EERF266,992F
o RARINEE3,9108E7 K

2005/06 81 F

o FTTREE R A 501

o ZFHEB{EERF806,103F
o RARFIMER1T64ETHHK

2007/0881 £

o WTHARIEE & H68(E

o ZEFHER{EEMRF2,253,044F
o RARBEEENMEL K
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2009/1081 &

o WWMRIBESEH£123(E

o REEE{IERF4,837,436F
o RARHEE36EI K

2010/1181 &

o WHMRIER A 1481

o ZEEEB{EERF6,078,806F
o RARMEEBA6ET K

2011/1281 5

o WMMRIEE S H160(E

o REEE{EERF7,187,894F
o RARHE RS8BT K

2012/1381 5

o WARIEE A #1791

o REEEB{EIERFS,438,991F
o RARHEET0EI K

2013/1481 &

o WTARIEE & #2371

o RFHEEBYE=ERF10,306,9957
o RARHEES2EL K

2014/1581 &

o WTARIEE & #2731

o REEEB{EERF12,590,944F
o RARHEEIMEIL K

2015/1681 &

o WTARIE B & #3051

o RFHEB{EERF14,691,200F
o RAKIHEE 100183 K
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o REHERI{EER 20,681,656
o RARLE R 12485 K
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o RARMEEE247E K

BREe

2019/2081 &

s BEZERNTENMRERSGH
6041
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o RAREEE254B K
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. BEERENTEMAER AR
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- BHEZERNTENMRERSGH
6601
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o RARIEEE367(ET HK
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66118
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o RARIEEE302ET K
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. BEELENTEMRBBAL
6621
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o RARWEEEMNTEITHK
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HEME
BZE=A=1+—HLEFE —EC-RHE —EF bei
EERE(THT) 79,258,009 81,410,133 (2.6%)
EA(FET) 11,263,173 11,304,123 (0.4%)
KARHEE AEERF(FET) 3,251,614 3,184,939 2.1%
IEEBU IR ELEAETE AR BHE ARG
EHREGF(FET) (MIFE) 3,419,893 3,965,514 (13.8%)
FRERAEF(ET) 0.60 0.59 1.7%
EEMIR S EE(THIT) 6,440,956 11,340,195 (43.2%)
BHREERESR(FET) 4,661,031 4,288,773 8.7%
—E-EF —E U4 BE)
wEE(TAT) 148,220,570 148,697,724 (0.3%)
IRITHEBR MRS (FHET) 9,163,796 8,280,335 10.7%
[ ez (F87T) 53,864,695 53,927,655 (0.1%)
FENBEEZE
BE=A=1+—HILEE —E-RE —E-OF
FH R E KA 3.8% 4.8%
MBI = () 0.95 0.90
EVAES 14.2% 13.9%
FEERELE 79% 79%
B
. THRMERA . RERE
FEFIBT R, THEEE RBEE/ FBHAs
.  FHAEAMEHE . EFE
BB ERE e EF sz

Mo

[ FARALT | FE AR B E Y el K B RIA R AR SR [ A P 1A BE IR 7 [Z BB SR AN SF DG ) © [ MRS BAUA | RIFR A B IME LA E - ARFIAKR
SEEMPSERBEBARTHERELBRNER WFERAAKEXEEDHER  BREZRRAKERLEERR - ARRARRLINAQTHEE ABEL
B[ SEE BB MGG BRSEROINTBMEMELAFTENY

AEANEAARRBRRRABREERTEAMAEERLEBRRANHAEH

BRJ—ff -

TERRERERAE

-8



BERR
BE=A=+—HIFFEF

—E-EF ZETOF b=
EERE
EBRRIER B 662 662 -
BhRREE IERERAFPH(EER) 54.8 54.4 0.4
HHMEEEERAELER(%) 72.9% 70.9% 2.0M8 & %
AARBHE(BBLEXK) 39,959.8 41,698.4 (4.2%)
BB ENRRIEREENRAR 23,518.1 23,513.1 0.02%
MREHEENRE FHENKAR 16,441.8 18,185.3 (9.6%)
BERREEBXARHEE(AFSE) (BBLLK)
ERAF 8,487.7 8,666.6 (2.1%)
TEAP 11,360.5 11,249.3 1.0%
EEIE)= 3,242.7 3,127.5 3.7%
B 45, BRI R AR R INE I 427.2 469.7 (9.0%)
FEBARE
ERERE 1,400,521 1,656,570 (15.5%)
TEAP 2,573 2,368 8.6%
ERP 44,206 30,263 46.1%
2N EERAFREBN MRS
EREFE 48,451,788 47,051,267 3.0%
IXRAP 27,049 24,476 10.5%
EmERP 403,804 359,598 12.3%
B8, BRI R AR IR I 488 516 (5.4%)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BENHRE

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 9 to 218, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BREITEE

FARETTSER

RETFESRBERMNERAE - BRY
ARGEMBRENETRREBNER 5
LEEITERMBABBEAMBHRRILA
BARETEREN - BHMATSHELSHEHR
BEENER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNFTOAHBRETZRETRE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BT el (1

We identified impairment assessment of goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined
with the significant judgments made by the management
in determining the recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units (“CGUs") to which goodwill has been allocated, which
are derived from value in use calculations using discounted
cash flow models.

BB BRI R ET EAMRETEE  REASME
BUGAHBRERBMEAAEEY  LHREBER
EERHREENREEA B ((ReEL B )2 TE
T ACT I L ey Bl T L |
KL -

At 31 March 2025, the Group has goodwill with carrying
value of HK$2,989,853,000 relating to CGUs principally
engaged in the sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
construction business, sales of liquefied petroleum gas
business and provision of value-added services in the
People’s Republic of China. Details are disclosed in notes 4
and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

RZZE-_RAFE=ZRA=+—H  EE£EAEFREEA
2,989,853,000/8 7T + HEF EEAEE AR KB ERA
FIHERMRREEERRER  RIEAARIEEERS RIRM
RERBNRSELEMNER - FIBEEREREMISHREM
FAR21IREE -

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
goodwill of the identified CGUs included:

BPSEBR e EL BB EREMENEFBHE

. Understanding the Group’s impairment assessment
process, including the impairment model adopted and
the key inputs and assumptions used,;

o TR BEREREEHNBE - BEMEANRER
BN P A RO RE SR B A BUR R R

o Assessing the application of the impairment model
adopted by the management;

o FHMAEEEMRABERINERBR

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 HEIMFIZBRAER DT 2024258 1§ E
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREITEE

BARETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRNEFTOAHBRETZRETRE

During the process of impairment assessment of goodwill,
the management considered the assessment of certain
CGUs is highly judgmental and is dependent on key inputs
and assumptions used in the discounted cash flow forecast,
including discount rates and growth rates. The carrying
amount of goodwill of these identified CGUs at 31 March
2025 amounted to HK$1,973,356,000. As at and during the
year ended 31 March 2025, no impairment of goodwill has
been recognised.

R EEERENRRET  EEERAETHRSELSEN
NS R e EHE - WECRRAIRIE SR ETEAATAN
BRHABBELER  BEMREREER - ZFE0#7
BEEABNR _E-RAE=F=+—BREREES
1,973,356,000/ 87T - R-E-_RE=A=+—RAREEZ
HIEFE » WERREZERE -

o Evaluating the accuracy of historical cash flow
forecasts prepared by the management by comparing
the actual results to the historical cash flow forecasts;

o EBKERERAFELRSRETAEITLLER - 4
EREMREE LIRS RETER M EREN -

o Engaging our internal valuation experts to assess the
appropriateness of discount rates used; and

o  ERARMMABGEEERFEMARBXRNEE N
K

o Assessing the growth rates applied in the cash flow
forecast.

o HMEREAREFATEAMERE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BENHRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BENHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BB ET S U RRAEN
BfE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BENHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BENHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Yiu Chung (practising certificate number:
P05398).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERBRHMAEZEBRARR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E-REF T4
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Likz3 FExT FET
Revenue WA 5 79,258,009 81,410,133
Cost of sales SHER R (67,994,836) (70,106,010)
Gross profit E7 11,263,173 11,304,123
Other income HAA 6 996,758 1,212,899
Other gains and losses Efth oz K& 1B 7 (163,555) (763,954)
Selling and distribution costs $HE R HR A (2,441,024) (2,551,377)
Administrative expenses TS (3,111,288) (3,163,135)
Finance costs MiEER 8 (1,802,182) (2,121,753)
Share of results of associates Vil 187,465 297,253
Share of results of joint ventures A NI T 253,835 398,389
Profit before taxation B F B A 5,183,182 4,612,445
Taxation I8 9 (993,203) (759,558)
Profit for the year FREBF 10 4,189,979 3,852,887
Other comprehensive (expense) income HtZ2E (BIx) WA
Items that will not be reclassified to TEEHEEEm B -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation — #&EA4 7 [E i =58 (693,879) (4,424,886)
Decrease in fair value of investments in BAEFARMEE
equity instruments at fair value through WAZBRATERE
other comprehensive income NEER D (52,564) (169,551)
(746,443) (4,594,437)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERBRHMAEZEBRARR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E_OF
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
Likz3 FExT FET
[tems that may be reclassified subsequently ~ E1&R[fEE# I E 1872
to profit or loss: HE -
Fair value gain on hedging instruments BEABREREL F 2
designated as cash flow hedge Hih T AN ERE 96,174 32,936
Reclassification to profit or loss on REREL N EREH
realisation of cash flow hedge NEEEG (108,879) (25,181)
(12,705) 7,755
Other comprehensive expense for the year — FEH b2 EAY (759,148) (4,586,682)
Total comprehensive income (expense) FEAR2EWRAFRS)
for the year 3,430,831 (733,795)
Profit for the year attributable to: FEBNEFS
Owners of the Company RATHER A 3,251,614 3,184,939
Non-controlling interests JEFERAS R 938,365 667,948
4,189,979 3,852,887
Total comprehensive income (expense) for  FEZ2EUWA(FX)
the year attributable to: R
Owners of the Company KABEA A 2,583,414 (1,000,398)
Non-controlling interests JEIEALRE RS 847,417 266,603
3,430,831 (733,795)
Earnings per share gRAEF 14
Basic BER HK$0.6078 7T HK$0.597% 7T
Diluted g HK$0.607% T HK$0.5978 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SEBHIRR R

At 31 March 2025 R=—E-fRF=H=+—~H

2025 2024
—E-REF —EoF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FHET FHET
Non-current assets IEmENEE
Investment properties LEYE 15 2,513,161 2,596,454
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RRE 16 68,749,408 67,521,253
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 2,313,285 2,420,802
Investments in associates NEEE AT 2 IE 18 9,786,048 10,005,754
Investments in joint ventures REBRABIZKRE 19 11,774,449 12,033,619
Equity instruments at fair value through AT EFFAEMEEmEA
other comprehensive income ZIRAT A 20 800,442 753,585
Goodwiill [EES 21 2,989,853 3,078,353
Other intangible assets EtmmpaE 22 3,031,174 3,244,551
Deposits for acquisition of property, WEEYZ - BE REHES
plant and equipment 175,049 240,822
Deposits for acquisition of subsidiaries, WHEME AR - A& RARIN
joint ventures and associates and é‘%%’& RIZEES AN EM
other deposits %4 101,464 96,315
Deferred tax assets zﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁé 34 1,438,737 1,459,037
103,673,070 103,450,545
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 23 4,284,695 4,731,280
Contract assets ABHREE 24 11,753,650 10,260,982
Trade and other receivables B REWERIA R
H{J@JEM&EEIE 25 15,562,499 15,519,598
Amounts due from associates FEY 5%%’& I,E 26 177,144 76,172
Amounts due from joint ventures EWEE RN 26 3,506,016 6,314,715
Derivative financial instruments ?ﬁi@%ﬂlﬂ 27 64,098 36,512
Held-for-trading investments BIEEERE 28 35,602 27,585
Pledged bank deposits BEHERITIER 29 310,447 185,999
Cash and cash equivalents HWEeNIRSEEER 29 8,853,349 8,094,336
44,547,500 45,247,179
Current liabilities mEIaE
Trade and other payables %ﬁ%%ﬁﬁaﬁlﬁi\&ﬁmﬁéﬁﬂﬁ
30 16,746,886 17,628,751
Amounts due to associates F’EH LS/ IE 26 57,770 81,760
Amounts due to joint ventures fﬁAQ /T>)\ 26 498,058 366,502
Contract liabilities AHAaE 24 7,921,488 8,568,261
Derivative financial instruments ?ﬁi(ﬁ%ﬂlﬁ 27 51,415 28,757
Tax payable FERTLIR 480,090 606,660
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 64,578 58,146
Bank and other borrowings — due within ~ $R{TREMEE — R—4F
one year EE 32 21,081,999 23,043,420
46,902,284 50,382,257
Net current liabilities mEBEFE (2,354,784) (5,135,078)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREEE 101,318,286 98,315,467
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R a BRI R

At 31 March 2025 R=—E-fRF=H=+—~H

2025 2024
—E-REF —EoF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
P EE FHT FH&TT
Equity s
Share capital P& 33 54,482 54,356
Reserves R 53,810,213 53,873,299
Equity attributable to owners of GEEANTRE A2 ERE
the Company 53,864,695 53,927,655
Non-controlling interests eI 6,862,010 6,819,698
Total equity MR 4BTE 60,726,705 60,747,353
Non-current liabilities EmBEE
Bank and other borrowings — due after MITREMBEE —
one year R—F1&E|H 32 39,148,798 36,021,935
Lease liabilities HEaFE 31 128,933 114,904
Deferred tax liabilities FEREFIBEE 34 1,313,850 1,431,275
40,591,581 37,568,114
101,318,286 98,315,467

The consolidated financial statements on pages 9 to 218 were approved  $9E218B VAW HMECDR S - AEN
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2025 and A Z++HKEE S EWRETZE - WHIA

are signed on its behalf by: TATREKEE
LIU MING HUI ZHU WEIWEI
28 E KER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEREBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRALTRAA
Employee
Investment ~ Properties Treasury ~ share-based Capital Non-
Share Share  Translation revaluation  revaluation  Hedging Special shares — compensation Capital ~ redemption ~ Statutory  Accumulated controling
capial  premium resene resene fesenve resene resenve Tesene resene fesenve resene funds pofts  Subtotal  interests Total
& % EE  EERR B
BA ROEE EXRE  ERER  EMERE  WAEE  BIBRE  RAER  SBER  AMEE  WERR  iREe ZHER Pt HERES &3t
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK§'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn Fin T TR TiEn TEL Fin T TFEL TiEn FEL Fin T TFEL TiEn T
(Notei) ~ (Noteiv) (Note i) (Noteii)
(k) (W) (Hiiti) (Fii)
At1 April 2023 RZF==£mA-A 54403 20275595 (2425630)  (339,400) 74738 - 1,602 (1,084,740) 174 (3,837,989 3435 3757312 41421080 57,900,584 6,889,795 64,790,379
Profit for the year FRER - - - - - - - - - - - — 3184939 3184939 667,948 3,852,887
Other comprehensive (expense) EREMAARR)
income for the year WA - — (4013541) (169,551 - 775 - - - - - - —  (4185337)  (401,345)  (4,586,682)
Total comprehensive (expense) FE2E(RR)
income for the year WA - — (4,023541)  (169,551) - 7,75 - - - - - — 3184939 (100039 266603 (733795
Acquisiion of additional interestof ~ WEMBLTE ER
subsidiary (note 36) (P5E36) - - - - - - - - - 60,037 - - - 60,037 (97,093) (37,056)
Disposal and winding up of LEHBAAR
subsidiaries HEAAER - — - - - - — - - - - — - - (13467)  (13467)
Capital contribution from non- MERRARER .
controlling interests of subsidiaries (& — - - - - — - - — - — - - — 73,548 73548
Recogniton of equity-settled EAREEENR
share-based payments FARRERT - - - - - - - - 2813 - - - - 2813 - 2813
Repurchase of shares EERG @) (43864) — — — — — — — — — — — (@3911) — 43911)
Shares vested under the share iy emEtEl
award scheme EEERA - - - - - - - 380 (171) - - - (209) - - -
Dividends paid by subsidiariesto PR ATRHEER
non-controlling interests BaiRE - - - - - - - - - - - - - — (299688 (299,688)
Dividends recognised as distributions B AAEZHKS
(note 13) (Hi13) - - - - - - - - - - - - (2991470)  (2991,470) - y91470)
Transfer EE - - - - - - - - - - - 143183 (143,183 - - -
At31 March 2024
5435 20,231,731 (6449,171)  (508,951) 14738 775 1,602 (1,084,360) 2816 (3,777,948) 3435 3900495 41471157 53927,65 6,819,698 60,747,353
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

—AN
v

SEEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BEALAFEA
Employee
Investment  Properties Treasury  share-based Capital Non-
Share Share  Translation revaluation revaluation  Hedging Special shares  compensation Capital ~redemption  Statutory  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds profits ~ Subtotal interests Total
R& G .2 EERR -2
Ba  BEEE EXRE  EfEE  ERE  HWER  KEER  ROER AHiE AR MEERE  REs Fitldl M FERREE &t
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSOOD  HKS00 HKSO00  HKSOD0  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSODD  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKS0O
TEn  TER Thn TEn TEn Tén TEn Thn Thn TEn TEn Tén T TR TEn TEn
(Notei) ~ (Noteiv) (Note i) (Note i)
(W) (W) (Bii) (R

At Apil 2024 RB-mEmA-R S35 031731 (64910 (508951 7478 1755 1602 (1,084360) W6 BT 385 3045 AATIIST SIGESS 681969 60.7473%

Profitfor the year EEET - - - - - - - - - - - - 3251614 3,251,614 938365 4,189,979

Other compreensie expense EREBEEAR

forthe year - - (%) (56 - () - - - - - - — (668200 (30%48)  (159,148)
Total comprehensive (expense) EERE(FR)

income for the year rgg - - (%) (a5 - (0) - - - - - —  3NIEM 25BAM MTAT 308
Issue of shares (note 33) BARA(E:) 126 80,175 - - - - - - - - - - — 8030 - 80301
Acquisiion of additonal inteest WEHRAFE R

of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - (11,528) - - - (15 (11,095) (2,63)
Disposaland winding up of sbsciaries HEKBATRHELT

(rote37) Ea ) - - - - - - - - - nm - (08)  (3684) — (s (s
Capital contrbution from HERA gL

non-controling interests of subsidiaries 4 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - B0 BU0
Recogniton of equity-settled EIRELENRA

share-based payments BN E R - - - - - - - - 2919 - - - - 29 = 2919
Shares vested under the share award [ £R5EHEIE S

scheme - - - - - - - 37 (171) - - - (208) - - -
Dividends paid by subsiciris to HELARHFARES

non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - - - - (m15359) (775359
Dividends recognised as distibutions Yol %S

(rote 13 (13) - - - - - - - - - - - —  (a718066) (2718066) — 718066)
Transfer E - - - - - - - - - - - 107,532 (107,532) - - -
At31 March 2025 i Sk

ZA=t-8 AL 036 (052100 (RIS1S) AT (49%0) 1602 (1083981) SSE0 (7523) 35 4000719 MS0121 S3EAES 6862010 60726705

Notes: Bz -

(i) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the ) REE 7 EREE AR ATINEREB AT Z
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value B EEERATROR—ANLAEE FTHRIESE
of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the group B EAR AETWEMRTAARBROEEY =
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares in 1995. 5 o

(ii) Capital reserve represents the effect of changes in the ownership interests in (i) BAREEEBIEN S IR % - WBARIFTE
subsidiaries on the equity attributable to owners of the Company upon the RSP EEAARIES AELESTE -
acquisition of non-controlling interests.

(i) In accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic of China, iy HREPEARHNE([FE]  T8EES)8E
other than Hong Kong (the “PRC"), subsidiaries registered in the PRC are required FHT  RPEEMOMBARER 25 %M 8
to transfer a certain percentage of the annual net income from accumulated HEEEZWAETFESLBEAETES  BEEE
profits to the statutory funds, until the statutory funds are accumulated up to FEHSERESMERS % A - E—RIER
50% of its registered capital. Under normal circumstances, the statutory funds T EFESTEDRTZMNBATREELSR
are not allowed to be distributed to the subsidiaries’ shareholders as dividends. B o AT ESEN AERBER BRNEEHA
The statutory funds shall only be used for making good losses, capitalisation into BARUREREERZE -
paid-in capital and expansion of its production and operations.

(iv)  Treasury shares reserve comprises the consideration paid for the repurchase of  (iv) EFRHOEEBSEFBEI5HENRA TR

the Company’s shares for treasury shares held under the share award scheme of
the Company as disclosed in note 35 and transaction costs thereon.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —EE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit before taxation BB B A 5,183,182 4,612,445
Adjustments for: AT FEE
Changes in fair value of investment properties & %A T EEE) 41,344 94,639
Impairment losses recognised for trade HEFEYARIBR &K EEER
receivables and contract assets, net ZREBEFE 568,028 685,598
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 42 - B E &R #E 2 ITE 2,687,011 2,430,372
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZTE 149,891 298,720
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EREH 178,525 181,405
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading HIEEBEREZ AT EED
investments (8,017) 76,951
Changes in fair value of derivative financial PTHEERMTAZ AFEE
instruments (17,633) —
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEWE - BE REREEIE
plant and equipment (Ugz8) 1,773 (20,827)
Finance costs WEER 1,802,182 2,121,753
Share of results of associates e E N E) 2 A (187,465) (297,253)
Share of results of joint ventures EhaERF 2 #E (253,835) (398,389)
Interest income FE U A (214,786) (381,327)
Net foreign exchange gain b e S8R (34,297) (78,444)
(Gain) loss on disposal and winding up of HEHBARIMITBARIEER Y
subsidiaries (Yeas) EstE (472,146) 14,282
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HEABRNRIZERE 3,624 —
Gain on disposal of interests/partial interests B A RIRRAE, BP0 AR E
in associates and deemed acquisition of 18 AN BERS 2N\ 7] 2 FBIMIRAE
additional interests in an associate 2 Was (43,822) (187,831)
Loss on derecognition of financial assets R ERIRE A N E R 2
measured at amortised cost BEZEX = 237,601
Gain arising on lease modification MEBTEE 2 W — (83,616)
Share-based payment expense AR A AT 3B 2 2,919 2,813
Operating cash flows before movements in EEECEEP I LEE
working capital ReEmnE 9,386,478 9,308,892
Decrease in inventories FERLD 398,234 751,310
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BHRVEE GRS (1,967,240) 1,640,986
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables & 5 FEUBRIE [ H b fELUL BE 18
(g0 (486,510) 314,996
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from JE ST 4% N B I (48800 k>
associates (36,661) 36,148
Decrease in amounts due from joint ventures FEW A E NI IE R 1,265,600 1,740,906
Decrease in trade and other payables B S B RE R BB BRER A (247,593) (1,157,624)
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to joint ERAERARZIECRD )N
ventures (23,144) 32,232
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to associates JE{TEf <~ 730 IE (R4 ) 100 (23,111) 13,392
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities AHaECE ) EM (527,016) 11,750
Change in derivative financial instruments PTHETRT AR 11,752 —
Cash generated from operations KBRS 7,750,789 12,692,988
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EMET (1,309,833) (1,352,793)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (TSR & T 6,440,956 11,340,195
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

2025 2024
—E-—RE —E 4
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
{iFsa FER FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Interest received BIFE 214,786 381,327
Deposits (paid) refunded for acquisition WEEH B AR - 88 A
of subsidiaries, joint ventures and BENR(BEMER Z@?ﬁfﬁ
associates (6,185) 6,630
Placement of pledged bank deposits FABRERRITIFR (440,967) (299,090)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RIEERRITIFR 314,519 282,781
Additions of investment properties REREWE (2,188) (19,163)
Additions of and deposits paid for NEME - BB RFE &
acquisition of property, plant and WY - B REE
equipment [EENE-& (4,637,629) (6,001,223)
Additions of right-of-use assets RECAEEE (37,098) (59,847)
Additions of equity instrument at fair value SARBIZAFEFAEMETE
through other comprehensive income WAZRAT A (130,222) (28,180)
Additions of other intangible assets REEMBEEE — (783)
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBARIZIRSRAERE 37 429,111 71,266
Proceeds from disposal/partial disposal of ~ H& #85 HER# & A FlER
interests in associates Z 8538 124,629 242,901
Proceeds from disposal of/capital return HEAERF,/ AERRIRE
from joint ventures B2 1S HIR 17,095 412,158
Proceeds from disposal of property, ﬁﬁqﬂ%% = Kkt 2 s
plant and equipment A 190,643 240,010
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use ﬁ’iﬁﬁﬁﬁéé{FZﬁﬁﬁfk
assets 33,803 36,484
Proceeds from disposal of investment HERE Y 2 TSR
properties 4,070 —
Proceeds from disposal of equity HEZAFEFAEMEZEK
instruments at fair value through AZWEART B2 FrfSs08
other comprehensive income 26,158 6,551
Additions of investments in joint ventures AERAEEARIZKE (22,039) (719,282)
Additions of investments in associates RERBE QR 2IRE (134,466) (176,904)
(Advances to) repayment from non- GINIENGER S Ta et
controlling interests of subsidiaries iEEPNGIE 22l g S g e N (3,785) 60,302
(Advances to) repayment from associates  ( [A]Ef /2 B ZAER ) B A 7
B (66,799) 344,790
Repayment from (advances to) BERAEFR(MEERFR
joint ventures ) 1,738,971 (2,212,466)
Dividend received from associates B E A 79” g 291,735 144,298
Dividend received from joint ventures BlEENRIRE 327,685 236,018
Gross cash outflow from derivative mi%vﬂlfiﬁﬁ SHEeRE
financial instruments k] (11,752) —
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & EBFTRIR S B4 (1,779,925) (7,051,422)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

2025 2024
—E_REF —E_OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEH
Interest paid BEAFIE (2,271,042) (2,752,442)
Payment on repurchase of ordinary shares [0l % I AR A = (43,911)
Dividends paid BERRE (2,637,765) (2,991,470)
New bank and other borrowings raised FERTMEMER 36,570,782 31,949,665
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BERITIEMER (34,381,173) (31,560,768)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEER (70,645) (205,399)
Advance (to) from non-controlling interests ElGIENGEEA G T L]
of subsidiaries RNEIFEE R B (64,197) 3,275
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries  UE&HT B~ B EBSMEZS (22,623) (37,056)
Repayment of consideration payables FERREER (178,337) —
Capital contribution from non-controlling (S EENEIE IR Frpltunk=y
interests of subsidiaries 23,240 73,548
Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling /&R BRI EHE A% HERS 2 IR B
interests (775,359) (299,688)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES REESIRR S SE (3,807,119) (5,864,246)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND RekREFEER 2L MOKRD)
CASH EQUIVALENTS HER 853,912 (1,575,473)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING S #I7R& MRS EEIER
OF THE YEAR 8,094,336 10,438,990
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES [& R &) » 5,4 (94,899) (769,181)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FR7ESNIRESEEIER
OF THE YEAR 8,853,349 8,094,336
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
registered office and principal place of business are disclosed in the
section headed “Corporate Information” of the Group’s annual
report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries (together with the Company referred to
as the “Group”) and its associates and joint ventures are set out in
notes 46, 18 and 19 respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and the functional currency of the Company and
majority of its subsidiaries is Renminbi (“RMB"). As the Company
is a listed entity in Hong Kong, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to present the consolidated financial
statements in HK$.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that
are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")

for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's

annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2024 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group'’s financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

B B 16 3 45 o 3
ST B R AS3T A

RAFEBBER 2B BT HER
EERTEANERT A

AEBERAFEERERATHER
SEMAE([HEEFMAE])RMEDN
BEMBREGTENZEBITAR - 6
HEURAEEE T _WFMNA—AK
Z & P H) R R R G AR RS
AR BB -

BEMBHRERER SRECHEEEE

FE165E(IEFTA)
FREEHEAE R BRES BRI
(1EFTA) FRBRELEE
F5( =TT
EEOLE|ZIERIRN
BREFHERIFE R IHZHENIERDE
(1EFTA) (E3
EREHERETS HERRETH
REEV RS
HERIE7H(EET
)

BTaEN  AERERBEEMHERE
SR EAERI AH A KB AFE MBE
FENUBRAREERSEEHB
BERABBEELBEATE -

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 HEIMFIZBRAER DT 2024258 1§ E

19



20

g NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B santmmEs

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

2.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
"Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the
“2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or noncurrent, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the classification
should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12 months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of
cash, goods or services, or the entity’s own equity instruments
to the counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms
do not affect its classification as current or non-current
only if the entity recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation”.

EREBMERES T ER S
HE- 3D EHENE))

RAFEBRHER BB KR
e S CHENE)

HEREBGTTERUE 1R (ERTAR)
[REESEARDNFRE IREE
RESSHK(CE-ZF)NEREBE
FZB-RFEITEX)UAREES
RIS 1SR (BRI A M A 2R i 3F
RBREIZFE--FE7T48 W
B/ a

s

AEERAFEERERZEETA -

—ECEREAARSREIBERRD

i%‘F?ﬁ@J RHUAREFGBEREHRR
EREAPRED+ @A ZHEF

Zé/ﬁ&%‘ﬁﬁl\h%l B

° SRS BES AR IERBIE
RIFRERRE FHERERN - A8
mE  PETEXERERENE
HR12EANFERERTE -

o EBFHBRBEFEBAYTFIEE
R EmERE  KEEAIH
AT AT - MAREA FRMR
EIR RV T%H—ir—f%‘%ﬁ%a@}%%i%?i
AEZBEATRBEAE ERE
B2 \%%ﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%’\ﬁ%%%ﬁé?
FHERIE32SR 2R T A - 27 11
BATAE  ZEGRTTEFE
BESE/RESIERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
"Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the
#2022 Amendments") (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that only
covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed
only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also specify
that covenants with which an entity must comply after the reporting
date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification of a
liability as current or non-current at the reporting date. However,
if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to
the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after
the reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period. This would include information about the covenants, the
carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances,
if any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying
with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has applied
the new accounting policy to the classification of liability as current
or non-current retrospectively. The application of the amendments
in the current year had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
"Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current”
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to
HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the
#2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, the Group's right to defer
settlement for certain borrowings are subject to compliance with
certain financial ratios only after the reporting period. Upon the
application of the 2022 Amendments, such borrowings are still
classified as non-current as the covenants which the Group is
required to comply with only after the reporting period do not
affect whether that right exists at the end of the reporting date.

Except as described above, the application of the 2020
Amendments and the 2022 Amendments has no other material
impact on the classification of the Group's other liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued
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but are not yet effective:
HKFRS 18
Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Presentation and Disclosures in
Financial Statements*

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

RAERTR

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

2.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”
("HKFRS 18"), which sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation
of Financial Statements” (“HKAS 1"). This new HKFRS Accounting
Standard, while carrying forward many of the requirements
in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance measures
in the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved
to HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and
HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is
in the process of assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net current liabilities
amounted to HK$2,354,784,000. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
because the directors of the Company believe that the
Group has sufficient funds to finance its current working
capital requirements taking account of the cash flows from
operations and assuming the continuing ability to utilise the
available bank facilities. As at 31 March 2025, the Group
had available unutilised bank facilities of approximately
HK$93,461,572,000.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

RAUGEUBRRZEERE
REFBRER

3.1 RAGEMBRR2EE

RAEPMBHRDRETEGMA
SR BAY RS @ ERR
o RS AMBEHERME ©
EHEMENGYETREREM
TEHEVRTE @ RIBRERRAE
Ko o - AEMBHRRTHEAT
BHAXSMBRABES LA
AT EMARA) REB A RHEBIPT
MEHEREEER

RIE-_RAF=A=+—H8 &%
BB & (EF58/52,354,784,000
BIL e BRARRESRHE B
B a2 SR e R BREFED
A ERERTRE N - &
EEEREESCUNAEBRIZESR
cHRERBEES  WEETHIR
KINRFBBEERERE - N
T-RAF=ZA=1+—H A£HE
A AMREBAZRTRENR
93,461,572,000/8 7T °

NI X G BORFTARE  BRIREY
ELETeRIARBERSHR
BAFEFEI  GEMBE®RERT
TR L AR B ML o

B RA— BRI ER RRB 2
REAFEE -

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 HEIMFIZBRAER DT 2024258 1§ E

25



26

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” (“HKFRS
2"), leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16"”), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value
in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” (“HKAS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interests; and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is amortised for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate and a joint venture is described in below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. For associates and joint
ventures that use accounting policies that differ from those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, appropriate adjustments have been made to
conform the associate’s and the joint venture’s accounting
policies to those of the Group. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group'’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest
in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained interest
at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of the relevant interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s investments in associates and
joint ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in
ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition date
if there is excess of the consideration paid over the share of
carrying amount of net assets attributable to the additional
interests in associates or joint ventures acquired. Any excess
of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
additional interests in associates or joint ventures acquired
over the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies related to
contracts with customers is provided in notes 5 and 24.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the
contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As
a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of
the lease liability by (i) decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of
the lease for lease modifications that decrease the scope of
the lease. The Group recognises in profit or loss any gain or
loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease; or (ii)
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset for all other lease modifications.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency in HK$ are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in translation reserve will not be reclassified to
profit or loss subsequently.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction on production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as a deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of
the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.
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g NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B santmmEs

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS Accounting Standard requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
after deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of current and deferred income
tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” requirements to the lease liabilities and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress as described below). Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets,
other than properties under construction, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under

construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful life to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of
CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

. cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

o cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

RAEGECHMBEBRR2EERE
REFBERER #)

3.2 ERETHERER®)

RERRELEEER

REFBMBRRKRANZINZRE K
ReFERAERE -

e BT BERFHEEASNEH
FR(TEEIHBEERER
THUHRREERZEER
BIFTRR BIROSRTTAERR) + I

o HEFEEERR BEREH(GAE
FREIMAR=ZEAHE
1) AIBERER AT NBGR
ReABEEFRARTAN
BRBMERE - REEERE
B #5512 A HA 3R & AR
MIEMRIREREME ] ©

MEEReRERME F R kB
SEEBARRLXMAEZRE
FEEFEER -

rE

FETRRA KA 23R FEME T
ZEIEEDIER - FERAR INEF
IDEETE - AEBRFERFENG
ST E BB — ARt TR AR BT T
HEMBHAA <« EITHEMFH
RABEHEEERBIGEEKE R
AEREEITHERELHNIHEENX
7 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All reqular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

RAEGECHMBEBRR2EERE
REFBERER #)

3.2 ERETHERER @)

Bie

i 7 52 [ XL 3 1 S 4 T 8RR 3R B
EERMEEEME - BAEERATE
BRI EE - LRER] S AETAT
RARE £ RIEREYE -

RREBcSRITENRERR
BITRBEEIMBEREFL Z&E
st WAt RBRET AR RN
BERE - ERBRETREELT
EFEZHERETER - HiR
HEREHEREREZRE(NE
BREEEIFEEXN) -

ERTHE

EEEERRATASNBRNE—
TR EHRATBREELEZRA
B-MAEAERTAEEZERE
EIREE A HIEERR AR
R BRNAEBEREEREMS
EEER KBS EROIR AR
BENTRMEERE °

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 HEIMFIZBRAER DT 2024258 1§ E

51



52

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term;

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that is required to be measured at the amortised cost
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

Equity instruments designated as at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, and is transferred to accumulated
profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's
right to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost
of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income” line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(iii)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances) and other items (contract assets and financial
guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

RAEGECHMBEBRR2EERE
REFBERER #)

3.2 ERETHERER @)

@I A
TREEE)

RETEMBRELEIRA
ETHEFENEHREERA
b8 B 2R fE (%)

FEPREREEBREHEBTA
MIBHIE AT A R RERE N FIF
BEREMEERR - Rz 12
EARBEEER(N2MEAEHE
EE1E]) EFERRHRE AR 1218
ARAIERENEBOEHFEHZE
BNERERNEEERES - FHETS
REARBENEL EEERERE
17 ERBEFAFAENARER - B
REEMRIA K S & B A ik
UK B AR SR FE R R A5 4 5
= o

AEEBEAREZREERRARAE LD
BEwRRFEPHRNEERE -

STEEMTAMS  AKREFE
MEERESN12EABREES
1B RIFEVITHERREERRR
EEM - ERERT - NEERER
FREPBHREREERR - TEEME
REENBRREREEBRNTET)
ER BT HERAREZELEROZA]
BNk AR E IR N ©

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 HEIMFIZBRAER DT 2024258 1§ E

57



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk
since initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the
Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current
market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and
to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by
adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash
shortfalls being discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and contract assets where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency
and translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting
period. Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the “other
gains and losses” line item as part of the net foreign
exchange gain;

o For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the investment revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to accumulated profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates and joint ventures, amounts due to
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries and bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payments when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in the “other gains and losses” line item
in profit or loss as part of net foreign exchange gain for
financial liabilities that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Recognition of gas connection and engineering
design and construction income

Revenue from gas connection and engineering design and
construction is measured based on the input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Accordingly, any changes to the actual costs incurred and the
estimated budgeted costs may have material impact on the revenue
recognised in each accounting period over the contract term.
The management of the Group is required to exercise significant
judgments in the assessment of the progress of satisfaction of
performance obligation, including costs incurred to date and
budgeted costs to complete.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU (or
a group of CGUs) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances which result
in downward revision of future cash flows or upward revision of
discount rate, a material impairment loss or further impairment loss
may arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

(Continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has goodwill of approximately
HK$2,989,853,000 (2024: HK$3,078,353,000). The impairment
assessment of certain CGUs is highly judgmental and is dependent
on key inputs and assumptions used in the discounted cash flow
forecast, including discount rates and growth rates. As at and
during the year ended 31 March 2025, no impairment of goodwill
has been recognised (2024: Nil). Details of the recoverable amount

calculation are disclosed in note 21.

Revenue

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

At TRBEEZE 2 EERR @)

R ER ()

RZEZRAF=A=+—0  ~5£EBHK
Fﬁ%%ﬁ7%2989853000,%75(_ —
F :3,078,353,000/87T) - ATIHEEL
BAAREF T R R R E - WEUR
REIRIBEREBARFERNEZH A
HIERBR  BEERERIERE - B
—ECRF=-A=t+—HEHEH=ZZAL
FE - BEEIHERE(ZZENF

/) c BB ETE S ANFIBE

RH 21 E -

WA R 5 &R E #

WA
() BEFEHWADH

customers
2025 2024
—EB-RF —EHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Types of goods or services EmSiRgEn
Sales of natural gas KARIHE 49,049,432 52,444,694
Gas connection and engineering RRIER AR TRt KT
design and construction 5,391,815 5,552,166
Sales of liquefied petroleum gas wibABR(DRIEARR D HE
("LPG") 19,575,477 17,980,918
Value-added services 18 RS 3,731,560 3,654,898
Other businesses HAh T 1,509,725 1,777,457
Total @3t 79,258,009 81,410,133
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

(a

Sales of natural gas

Revenue from the sales of natural gas is recognised
at a point in time when control of the natural gas is
transferred to the customers, being at the point the
natural gas is delivered to the customers. For household
customers, the Group generally requires advance
payment before the usage of the natural gas through
prepaid cards. The charge of the actual usage of natural
gas will be deducted directly from the balance of the
prepaid cards. The customers can only consume the
natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid cards.
For certain industrial and commercial customers, the
Group requires advance payment before the usage
of the natural gas, and bills any shortage against the
periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural
gas. For other industrial and commercial customers,
the Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 180
days for amounts billed.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

(b)

Gas connection and engineering design and
construction

The Group provides gas connection services under gas
pipeline construction contracts with its customers. Such
contracts are entered into before construction of the
gas pipeline begins. The Group centralises most of its
engineering design and construction functions by setting
up certain subsidiaries to carry out those functions (the
“Centralised EDC Subsidiaries”). Most engineering
design and construction works under those gas pipeline
construction contracts with the Group’s customers
are performed by the Centralised EDC Subsidiaries on
behalf of the group companies. The Centralised EDC
Subsidiaries also performs the engineering design and
construction works for the Group’s joint ventures and
associates for their gas pipeline construction contracts
with their own customers. The Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs. As such, revenue from gas
connection and engineering design and construction
services is recognised over time.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services. The directors
of the Company consider that input method is an
appropriate measure of the progress towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligations under
HKFRS 15.

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

(Continued)

(b)

Gas connection and engineering design and
construction (Continued)

The Group requires certain customers to provide
upfront deposits before the commencement of the
construction which will give rise to contract liabilities
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contracts
exceeds the amount of the deposits received. The Group
recognises contract assets for any work performed
in excess of payment from customer for the same
contract. The Group is entitled to invoice customers for
gas pipeline construction services upon completion of
construction works and acceptance by the customers,
and any amount previously recognised as a contract
asset is reclassified to trade receivables. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 to 180 days to its
customers for invoices issued.

Sales of LPG

Revenue from the sales of LPG is recognised at a point
in time when the goods are delivered to the customers
as this represents the point in time at which the control
of the goods are transferred to the customers. The
Group requires advance payments from the customers
or allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 days to
its customers for invoices issued.

Value-added services

Value-added services represent mainly the sales of
household products. The Group sells kitchen appliances
and gas safety products and other household products
(including consumables such as foods and food
ingredients, daily necessities and health products and
small domestic appliances) directly to its customers
(representing individual customers and institutional/
enterprise customers).

5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

(Continued)

(d)

Value-added services (Continued)

For sales of products to individual customers, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred,
being at the point the customer acquires the goods at
the Group’s stores or when the goods are delivered
to the customer’s specific location. Payment of the
transaction price is due immediately at the point when
the customer purchases the goods. The transaction
price received by the Group is recognised as a contract
liability until the goods have been delivered to the
customer.

For sales of products to institutional/enterprise
customers, revenue is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been delivered to the customer’s specific location. The
transaction price received by the Group is recognised as
a contract liability until the goods have been delivered
to the customer. The normal credit term is generally up
to 180 days upon issue of invoices.

Other businesses

Revenue from other businesses including the provision
of urban heating services, integrated energy services
and supply chain services is recognised over time as
the customer simultaneous receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All the contracts are for original expected duration of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Segment information

Information reported to the Group's chief operating decision maker
(“CODM"), being the Chairman and President of the Group, for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services rendered, which
is also consistent with the basis of organisation of the Group.

The CODM reviews the results of Zhongyu Energy Holdings Limited
(“Zhongyu Energy”), an associate of the Group, being accounted
for under equity accounting separately and thus Zhongyu Energy is
presented as a single operating and reportable segment.

The Group's operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments” are as follows:

(i)  Sales of natural gas;

(i) Gas connection;

(i) Engineering design and construction;
(iv)  Sales of LPG;

(v)  Value-added services;

(vi)  Other businesses; and

(vii)  Zhongyu Energy

Information regarding the above segments is presented below.
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m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B santmmEs

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ=—%

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

Segment revenues and results

“HE=ZA=THLHFE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
operating and reportable segment.

WART

D HRE

T %E&Tiiﬁﬁ%%ﬂ

> Z WA

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BHE_ZT-_hF=A=+—HILFE
Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Salesof  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services  businesses Energy total
IBfR  WEARR
ARRHE ey BT #E BERE O HHRER PHAR
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tén TR TEn TER TEn TEn TEn
Total seqment revenue HPRAEE 49049432 3628360 4984858 19575477 3731560 1509725 — 419
Inter-seqment revenue AHRERA - - (321403) - - - - (321403)
Bxternal segment revenue RENREPZATMA 49,049,432 3,628,360 1,763,455 19575477 3,731,560 1,509,725 — 79,258,009
Segment profit Bar- Dl 3,306,003 508,455 584,377 52,007 1,749,601 407,749 76,078 6,684,270
Changes in fair value of investment KENEINTERD
properties (41,344)
Changes in fair value of RIEEERE 7D TEEY
held-for-trading investments 8,017
Changes in fair value of derivative fEERTAZATERY
financial instruments 5,881
Interest and other gains and losses HEMRE AR RER (48,438)
Unallocated corporate expenses APERAR (650,303)
Finance costs SBER (1,073,835)
Exchange loss on translation of RENESSER AN ER
foreign currency monetary items EEE
into functional currency (7,685)
Gain on disposal of interests/partial HEBBNTRE /55 Hﬁ%&
interests in associates and deemed Rl LA BINR
acquisition of additional interests in e
an associate 43822
Gain on disposal and winding up LENBATRNBARREL
of subsidiaries e 472,146
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HEABNRZER (3,624)
Share of results of associates N
{other than Zhongyu Energy) (Glai=aty 11,387
Share of results of joint ventures EhAEMR 2 EE 253,835
Share-based payment expense Mﬂ%iﬁﬁ 5 (2.919)
Impairment losses recognised on trade ~ #tE ZEMEERANEERTL
receivables and contract assets, net TEFRETE (568,028)
Profit before taxation Bitanas 5,183,182

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024258 7R E

77



78

m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B santmmEs
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5.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

“HE=ZA=THLHFE

WA R D EBE R

D EVEFR (&
DRHBAREE(E)

E-TNEZA=tHILEFE

Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Salesof  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction PG services  businesses Energy total
TR RERR
KARHE ittt L HE R EftEH hiEeR nHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TEn Tén Thn TER Thn Thn Thn Thn
Total segment revenue BELE: 52,444,694 4,014,539 5217659 17980918 3,654,898 1,777457 — 85,090,165
Inter-segment revenue Pl ON - — (368003 - - - — (3,680,032
External seqment revenue RENRER AP 444694 4014539 1537627 17980918 3654898 1777457 — 81410133
Segment profit AaER 3,062,678 681,461 622,741 120,064 1,582,032 426,410 215,837 6,711,223
Changes in fair value of investment RENEL N TERY
properties (94,639)
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading ~ #{EEE%E 7 AFEES
investments (76,951)
Interest and other gains and losses HENRENERER (119,407)
Unallocated corporate expenses FAERAEY (141.211)
Finance costs YEER (1,139,162)
Exchange gain on translation of BREMEEREE R ER Y
foreign currency monetary items e
into functional currency 30,033
Gain on disposal of interests/partia HEBERARE/ FARER
interests in associates and deemed RAlERERT BMREL
acquisition of additional interests ey
in an associate 187,831
Loss on disposal and winding up of HENBLRRKBAREE,
subsidiaries Eﬁ% (14,282)
Share of resuls of associates EEBENT $E
(other than Zhongyu Energy) (E%E% B 81416
Share of results of joint ventures EIRAENAZEE 398,389
Share-based payment expense WRAF AR (2813)
Gain arising on lease modifications REETEL G 83616
Impairment losses recognised on trade  FEBENEALANEERT L
receivables and contract assets, net RERRTE (685,598)
Profit before taxation BitaraH 4,612,445




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5,

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

Inter-segment revenue is charged at prevailing market rates.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group'’s accounting policies described in note 3. Except for
segment profit of Zhongyu Energy, segment profit for the remaining
reportable segments represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of changes in fair value of investment properties,
changes in fair value of held-for-trading investments and derivative
financial instruments, certain interest and other gains and losses,
corporate expenses, gain on disposal of interests/partial interests
in associates and deemed acquisition of additional interests in an
associate, gain (loss) on disposal and winding up of subsidiaries, loss
on disposal of a joint venture, share of results of associates (other
than Zhongyu Energy), share of results of joint ventures, share-
based payment expense, impairment losses recognised on trade
receivables and contract assets, gain arising on lease modifications,
certain exchange (loss) gain on translation of foreign currency
monetary items into functional currency and certain finance costs.
The segment profit of Zhongyu Energy represents share of results of
Zhongyu Energy. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment.

WARDEHER #)

£ ERI N R E BB -

LIE D AR B AT BUR P R 3 P A SR [
SEFBERARR - BRP 4 BEIR 2 20 B0 A
SN BRT AT 2] R D BEDENIER D
ERFAEREREVAIE - ML E|D RIREME
ZRVFEEZY  FEEERERITES
BMTAZAVEES ETMEARE
i R EE - ARIFX - HEBER
FIARHE, R0 B R AR B Ui B A R
RRSMHE 2 s - HE B AR KB
REBERzNE(EBR) HEARERA
ZEE - EhEE R B2 RE (R
RIN) - RIEB B RR 2 %E - AR P
ANHRHAX WESEUEELAGNE
ERRZBHERE HEEITELZK
wm BREINEEBHARMERERZE
TERL(BR)KRZURBHUBERS -
A4 BE R 20 BB R 45 IR A5 P BE TR
e WIHBERDBERKRBFEM S [
TRLERREERNVAET L -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

" samBmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ=—%

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

“HE=ZA=THLHFE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s segment assets and

WA R D EBE R

D EPE R
THEEREE

NTRAEEAEIRLERRET IR

segment liabilities that are reqularly reviewed by the CODM: AN BEERDHEEIN
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RAF=A=+—H
Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Salesof  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services  businesses Energy total
IBfR  WEARR
ARRHE ey BT #E BERE O HHER PHAR
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Tén TR TEn TER TEn TEn TEn
Assets &g
Segment assets HHEE 79515542 15,950,396 647,814 5,363,247 3,210,548 1,494,449 2,651,173 108,833,169
Investment properties RENE 2,513,161
Property, plant and equipment 0% BRRER(RE)

(for corporate) 1,186,524
Right-of-use asets (for corporate) EFH%EE( R 30,033
Investments in associates REERAZ RE

(other than Zhongyu Energy) (Bebihgion) 1,134,875
Investments in joint ventures REERAIZRE 11,774,449
Equity instruments at fai value through ~ ATEF AL 2ERAL

other comprehensive income RAIE 800,442
Deferred tax assets EREHEAE 1438737
Derivative financial instruments fESRIA 64,008
Held-for-trading investments RIEEELE 35,602
Other receivables (for corporate) EfENEA(DR 1,562,524
Amounts due from associates FEBELT ZMIE 177,144
Amounts due from joint ventures EUAENE 2R 3,506,016
Pledged bank deposits Tﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬂy\ 310447
Cash and cash equivalents ReNEE5EER 8,853,349
Consolidated total assets GREREEE 148,220,570
Liabilities 8
Segment liabiities AHEE 7,068,134 8,106,667 2,381,415 4,219,358 2,471,618 397,308 — 24,644,500
Other payables (for corporate) HMLEHQEIE( ‘) 217,385
Amounts due to associates ERBELT 57,770
Amounts due to joint ventures ,wﬁ/* N 498,058
Derivative financial instruments ’f}ﬁﬁﬂlﬂ 51415
Tax payable AR 480,090
Bank and other borrowings FREEE 60,230,797
Deferred tax liabiities EEHEaE 1,313,850
Consolidated total liabiliies GAEEES 87,493,865
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m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B santmmEs

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ=—%

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)

“HE=ZA=THLHFE

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2024

WA B D 2BE K )

N

DEER ()
PHEENREBEE)
R-ZE-m&E=/=+—~H

Engineering
Sales of Gas  design and Salesof  Value-added Other Zhongyu Segment
natural gas  connection  construction PG services  businesses Energy total
TR RERR
RARHE ittt i HE R EftEH hiEeR nHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TEn Tén Thn TER Thn Thn Thn Thn
Assets BE

Segment assets PHEE 78220866 14,955,073 538,552 5,584,360 3,376,950 1,536,228 2,726,239 106,938,268
Investment properties RENE 2,596,454

Property, plant and equipment 0% BRREERA)

(for corporate) 1,284,651
Right-of-use assets (for corporate) ERELE(DA) 37,15
Investments in associates REERNFZRE

(other than Zhongyu Energy) (Brieean) 7,279,515
Investments in joint ventures RABREZRE 12,033,619
Equity instruments at fair value through AT {ERF AL ATRALZ

other comprehensive income RATE 753,585
Deferred tax assets EtHBLE 1,459,037
Derivative financial instruments fiEeRIa 36,512
Held-for-trading investments BIEEERE 27,585
Other receivables (for corporate) HiEREE(AR) 1,580,120
Amounts due from associates felil W""IZMIE 76,172
Amounts due from joint ventures RUAEDNAIZZE 6,314,715
Pledged bank deposits }E#iﬁfﬂ% 185,999
Cash and cash equivalents ReNFReEEER 8,094,336
Consolidated total assets GREEER 148,697,724
Liabilities 8
Segment liabilities NBEE 7,434,764 8,466,534 2,925,203 4,362,193 2415729 467,521 — 26071944
Other payables (for corporate) Hﬁh}i&ﬁ@&lﬁ( *) 298,118
Amounts due to associates ERBEATH 81,760
Amounts due to joint ventures ERA é’ﬂ, A 366,502
Derivative finanial instruments fiEeRIa 28757
Ta payable ERHA 606,660
Bank and other borrowings PIREMES 59,065,355
Deferred tax iabilities EHEaE 1431275
Consolidated total liabilities LABRES 87,950,371
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Segment information (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of allocating resources and monitoring segment
performance between segments:

o All assets are allocated to operating segments, except for the
investment properties, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets for corporate use, investments in associates
(other than Zhongyu Energy), investments in joint ventures,
equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deferred tax assets, derivative financial instruments,
held-for-trading investments, amounts due from associates
and joint ventures, pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents of the Group, and other corporate assets of the
Group.

° All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, except
for amounts due to associates and joint ventures, derivative
financial instruments, tax payable, bank and other
borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, and other corporate
liabilities of the Group. The Group allocates certain finance
costs into operating segments without allocating bank and
other borrowings into the segments. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE
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m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B santmmEs

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARSDIEE =)

(Continued)

. . S PZ=AIN =
Segment information (Continued) DEPER (&)
Other segment information Hih D HER
Engineering
Sales of Gas  designand Salesof Value-added Other ~ Zhongyu  Segment
natural gas  connection  construction LPG services  husinesses Energy total  Unallocated  Consolidated

IRHHR  RRER
FRREE  BREN BI #8  BERE  EbEE O MREE  ABER ROE &8
HKSO00  HKS000  HKSOOD  HKFO0O  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS00  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000
TR TR TAn TR TEL  TAT TR TEL TET  TER

Amounts included in the measure  3F AZHE A EHER S
of segment profit or loss or PHAENSE:

seqment assets;
For the year ended HE-Z-R5=A

31 March 2025 ST-ALER
Additions to property, HENE -

plant and equipment BERRE 4,564,001 - 32,061 335,232 64,914 65,109 — 5061317 128267 5,189,584
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, &M - BER

plant and equipment R (BE W (5,085) - - 7192 (104) (4376) - (1.773) = (1773)
Amortisation of intangble assets & AZ & (177,628) = (897) - - - - (1m5) - (178523)
Depreciation of property, ERY T

plant and equipment uﬂ%ﬁ% (2,447,682) - (22,365) (113,083) (25,337) (63,434) —  (2,671,901) (15,110)  (2,687,011)
Share of results of associates EBENE EE = = = - - - 76,078 76078 111387 187,465
For the year ended HE-Z-ME=A

31 March 2024 ST-ALER
Additions to property, FENE

plant and equipment BRERRE 6,129,234 — 124,272 284,279 73122 152,543 — 6763450 76906 6,840,356
Gain on disposal of property,  ¥ENE - BRER

plant and equipment B:RA e - - - 20827 - - - 20827 - 20827
Amartisation of intangible assets R/ AEEH (177,989) - (897) - (2494) - - (181379 (26)  (181,405)
Depreciation of property, 0% BER

plant and equipment uﬂ%ﬁg (2,183.429) — (19,849 (111,810 (47 820) (60,845) — 42375 (6,620 (2,430372)
Share of resuls of associates YN - - - - - - 58T 258 81416 297253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Geographical information

All of the Group’s revenue is contributed by and derived from
external customers in the Mainland of the PRC.

The following is the information about non-current assets
other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets by the
geographical areas in which the assets are located:

5. WARDEBER &)

h & B R
AEE 2 U AR E KR E 12 B i
HISNRES o

NTRREEMEMIIDNIERDEE
(R TANMREHEEERINOER :

2025 2024

—E-RHEF —EOF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTExT FHET

Hong Kong BB 95,758 96,759
Singapore N 7,212 10,891
Mainland of the PRC FR B A 101,330,921 101,130,273
101,433,891 101,237,923

None of the customers contributed over 10% of total revenue of
the Group.

BEZPERMAEANKEREANI0% A 21K
A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HflA
2025 2024
—E_RE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#5 Fits
Interest income FILEHA 214,786 381,327
Subsidies from PRC government BB I 8 2 il B (B D)
authorities (Note i) 364,275 267,427
Tax refund (Note ii) AR (B i) 58,060 111,173
Income from leasing of a vessel (Note iii) HH AE — A% A AR B9 A (B 5D — 262,982
Others HAith 359,637 189,990
996,758 1,212,899
Notes: BT
(i) During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, subsidies are granted (i) BE_ZE_RAFR-_Z_WNF=A=+—
by the relevant PRC government authorities to the Group in respect BIEFE - HE+TERAEERL (LT
of, among others, support for the Group’s natural gas business, labour B)ZRAEEZRARER hERTE
support such as employment stability and training, costs incurred for the REINEE I RRETMEREEER
construction of pipeline network into new urban areas, development of @& RESTRRIRG REERRT 2 ES
new energy services and promotion of energy safety. BORK AN J5 EHEH 2 AL o
(i) ~ The PRC government authorities have granted tax incentives to certain (i) FREBF#EEREHREERTFE TS
subsidiaries in the PRC by way of tax refund mainly for the natural gas EAR - BNEZREIEFRHLEERAR
business and gas pipeline construction business operated in the PRC. EBRMREBREREH 2B -
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group subleased a leased (iy HE-Z-_WF=ZA=+—HLEFE &

vessel under time charter from a joint venture (initially recognised as
right-of-use assets) to a third party for one year and generated fixed hire
income. As disclosed in note 7, the leases were early terminated during
the year ended 31 March 2024.

SENSMES K -HEEQRN—HEHE
EMM(VSERAEREEE)DET—
BE=T RM-—FUELBEEEEW
A o BURKIEETATREE - ZEROCNE
E-E_MFE=R[=+—-BIFERNREA
AL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HitlhsmREE
2025 2024
—E-RHEF —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Changes in fair value of investment WEWE 2 ATEEZE)
properties (41,344) (94,639)
Changes in fair value of held-for-trading BIEEBEREZ AFEES)
investments 8,017 (76,951)
Changes in fair value of derivative PTESBMT AZ AFEES)
financial instruments 5,881 —
Gain on disposal of interests/partial HH S B N R AR AR, BE o AR
interests in associates and deemed R AU R & N E) 2 BN
acquisition of additional interests 2 Wz
in an associate 43,822 187,831
Loss on disposal of a joint venture HEEEARZEE (3,624) —
Loss on derecognition of financial assets IR SEPN ANET 2R
measured at amortised cost (note 25) TRIEE 2 BR(MFE25) — (237,601)
Gain (loss) on disposal and winding up HEMBARKMBAREHE
of subsidiaries (note 37) W (&18) (FEE37) 472,146 (14,282)
Net foreign exchange gain b 5 s F /R 34,297 78,444
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, LEWE - BERREZ
plant and equipment (E8) = (1,773) 20,827
Gain arising on lease modification (Note) SIS EE 2 W (fEE) — 83,616
Impairment losses recognised, net, on: LATIE B R 2 R EEEIFEE -
— trade and other receivables — B REINERIAR
HibrEUgBR IR (203,789) (269,232)
— contract assets — EHEE (364,239) (416,366)
(568,028) (685,598)
Others EAth (112,949) (25,601)
(163,555) (763,954)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into
termination deeds with a joint venture, the lessor of each of the two
leased vessels, pursuant to which the relevant parties agreed to the early
termination of the time charter contracts for the lease of the two vessels.
On the date of lease modification, the Group derecognised right-of-use
assets of HK$993,427,000 and lease liabilities of HK$1,077,043,000, and
recognised a gain arising on lease modification of HK$83,616,000.
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ek RBE=ZT-MF=A=1+—ALLFE"
AEEE-HEEAR(ZREHERNS
B2 HAA)RTARIERE - Bt - ABRES
77 R E R AT LT E i A A A 2 E HAFE
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g NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B santmmEs

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BIKEH
2025 2024
—ECHF —E e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMBEEZFE 2,281,024 2,815,209
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZFE 9,635 59,424
Total borrowing costs BB AL 2,290,659 2,874,633
Interest capitalised to construction ERIRERbZHE
in progress (488,477) (752,880)
1,802,182 2,121,753
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the general RKEEANDERLZEEKRATEA B
borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation rate —REEEHES  HANRAEREEN
of 3.6% (2024: 5.6%) per annum to expenditure on qualifying % 23.6% _?_Eﬁ 5.6%)MFE
assets. BN RHE
9. TAXATION 9. ®IHE
2025 2024
—ECHF T
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current tax BNEAFS 18
PRC Enterprise Income Tax AR EE TSR 1,140,971 1,192,547
Singapore Corporate Income Tax s TSR 1,053 —
1,142,024 1,192,547
Deferred tax credit (note 34) IRIEFL IR 52 (P17E34) (148,821) (432,989)
993,203 759,558
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

9.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

TAXATION (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits
Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements as the Group had
no assessable profit arising in or derived from Hong Kong for both
years.

The major operating income is derived from the Mainland of the
PRC. Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years, except for certain
PRC subsidiaries that are subject to tax relief as explained below.

Certain PRC subsidiaries are entitled to the preferential tax rate
pursuant to the relevant regulations applicable to enterprises
situated in the western region of the PRC and high technology
enterprises. The applicable tax rate of those PRC subsidiaries is 15%
for both years.

The Company’s subsidiary in Singapore is subject to Singapore
Corporate Income Tax at 17% (2024: Nil).

BIE ()

REZEFNEHZMNEHMRSH A&
REEERE200EBTEMNNORER
8.25% - MiBiE2008 & T i) M 2 1 K
/316.5% > KT ANEHMEH 2 REE
B R S — A E16.5%:TH °

RARBRZMEFELERBEELE
HIREBFBNERTGHN - WAL ARNE
BUMBHREAREBNERIELERME -

ITREERAKAFEALE - RIEFE
EEMSPEA(TEERMERE]) kdx
PRSBURE RG] - B T lrE T+ E
MEBARZERBERIN  TEHMEAR
AR MEFEZHER25% °

ATHEMBARBE=ZEREMEZE
FE A A B P B i O ¥ R e R
REEMERRE - 2EFBEKBAF
RAREFENREBREA15% o

AN BTN BT B R R R R 17 % B9 X
RERF IR R/ T _MOF
&) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

9.

TAXATION (Continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

BIE ()

FERARGAERR R

H ity 2 WA R
PTRERB B 2 B ZZT

2025 2024
—EB-RE —EmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit before taxation B T AV 5,183,182 4,612,445
Tax at the applicable domestic income tax HEARAERT RS
rates ZTIE 1,374,018 1,283,449
Tax effect of share of results of associates i NGIE -y (46,866) (74,313)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures  JE{EA B AR ELE 2 THIBT L (63.,459) (99,597)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BLAIA 5 DA HIE R
for tax purpose R 117,919 79,931
Tax effect of income not taxable for TRIEM = B AR A
tax purpose 2R E (295,457) (382,456)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not WERERR 2 (T TE R 18
recognised ZHIES 86,931 341,277
Tax effect of recognition of previously R LRI AER 2 FHIEEE
unrecognised tax losses i — (219,030)
Tax effect of income tax at concessionary rate R{BE KT EEH
2T (179,883) (169,703)
Taxation 18 993,203 759,558
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. FEEF
2025 2024
—E-RHEF —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Profit for the year has been arrived at FREHMENERGEA)
after charging (crediting): T8 -
Auditor's remuneration — audit services ZHMME — B RS 26,346 15,500
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥% - ME MREZITE 2,687,011 2,430,372
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZTE 149,891 298,720
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EEY 178,525 181,405
Staff costs: BT :
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EEME (MEE11) 45,160 44,630
Salaries and allowances of other staff HAth B T 2 3N K20k 3,412,132 3,708,172
Contributions to retirement benefits BEME T RRKER)
scheme of other staff sHEIHER 770,764 771,035
Less: Amount capitalised in construction B EEIRER &8
in progress (173,864) (203,746)
4,054,192 4,320,091
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses BUTHEEHERAERX
in respect of: ZIFEA
Sales of natural gas RIANRIHE 44,409,462 48,566,902
Sales of LPG RIcA MR IHE 18,249,104 16,486,338
Contract costs recognised as expense TR REBUA R TI2RRET &
in respect of gas connection and I ANERAERIN
engineering design and construction BHIRAR R E Aty
contracts and others 2,737,642 2,676,392
65,396,208 67,729,632
Rental income from investment properties WEWEEEZASIRA
less outgoings of HK$8,144,000 RS2 $58, 144,000 7T
(2024: HK$5,333,000) T F
5,333,000/ 7T.) (36,763) (28,091)
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The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and the
Chief Executive disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules
and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHAIRMAN'’S EMOLUMENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

1. EERTFEME

RIBER EH R R REE R AR E
ZENSENEEERITHRAER ZME
L

2025 —E_RE
Contributions
Salaries Performance- to retirement
Directors’ and other related benefits Total
fees benefits bonuses scheme  emoluments
ek RIKER
EZHe Hte|A REBERRA STEIR HemsE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEx TER TEx TER
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui ZImE L L — 10,220 3,784 18 14,022
Mr. Huang Yong BEBAAE — 8,324 3,468 18 11,810
Mr. Zhu Weiwei KEEREE - 4,420 1,576 18 6,014
Ms. Li Ching UL — 924 308 - 1,232
Ms. Liu Chang At — 2,400 1,000 18 3,418
Mr. Zhao Kun bt — 2,325 1,000 — 3,325
Non-executive directors IHTEE
Mr. Liu Mingxing BepEL 413 — — _ 413
Mr. Jiang Xinhao (Note i) EaEn s () = - - - -
Mr. Shri Ayush Gupta (Note i) Shri Ayush GuptaZt &
Gl 330 — — - 330
Mr. Xiong Bin B4 = = - - -
Ms. Zhou Xueyan (Note iii) B A £ (i) — — - - -
Independent non-executive directors BV ITEE
Mr. Zhao Yuhua HEERE 898 - — - 898
Dr. Mao Erwan FIERT 898 — — — 898
Ms. Chen Yanyan [CE-= g 816 — — _ 316
Mr. Zhang Ling RASE 734 — — - 734
Dr. Ma Weihua FEERT 1,250 — — - 1,250
5,339 28,613 11,136 72 45,160
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“m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHAIRMAN'S EMOLUMENTS 11. EERIFFEME )

(Continued)

2024 —EOE
Contributions
Salaries  Performance-  to retirement
Directors’ and other related benefits Total
fees benefits bonuses scheme  emoluments
Fek RIRET
EENe EMigR]  REBBEAL SR Hems
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TATL TEL TEL TEL TEL

Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Liu Ming Hui L)y - 10,220 3,784 18 14,022
Mr. Huang Yong HELE — 8,324 3,468 18 11,810
Mr. Zhu Weiwei KEERRE — 4,332 1576 18 5,926
Ms. Li Ching UL - 924 308 — 1,232
Ms. Liu Chang oy - 2,400 1,000 18 3,418
Mr. Zhao Kun HELE — 2,507 1,000 — 3,507
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Mr. Liu Mingxing ZIRALE 413 — — - 413
Mr. Jiang Xinhao (Note i) Zanbs () — — — — —
Mr. Mahesh Vishwanathan IYER Mahesh Vishwanathan
(Note iv) IYER%E 4 (FifEiv) 220 — — - 220
Mr. Shri Ayush Gupta Shri Ayush GuptaZt &
(Note ii) (i) 110 — - — 110
Mr. Xiong Bin B - - - - -

Independent non-executive directors BV ITEE

Mr. Zhao Yuhua HEELLE 742 — _ _ 74
Dr. Mao Erwan FCEREL 742 — — _ 742
Ms. Chen Yanyan [CE-= g 660 — _ _ 660
Mr. Zhang Ling FERE 578 — - — 578
Dr. Ma Weihua EEEEL 1,250 — - — 1250

4715 28,707 11,136 72 44,630
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHAIRMAN'S EMOLUMENTS 11. EERIFFEME )

(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Resigned on 6 January 2025.

(i) Appointed on 1 December 2023.
(iii) Appointed on 11 March 2025.

(iv) Resigned on 1 December 2023.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

Performance related incentive payments are determined by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the performance of the
directors and the Group’s operating result.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Liu Ming Hui is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered
by him as the Chief Executive.

Except for Mr. Jiang Xinhao, Mr. Xiong Bin and Ms. Zhou Xueyan
who waived their rights to receive remuneration (2024: Mr. Jiang
Xinhao and Mr. Xiong Bin), there was no arrangement under which
the Chief Executive or a director waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during both years. No emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Chief Executive or the directors as an inducement
to join the Group or as a compensation for loss of office for both
years.

(i) RZBZRF—ARNEEHE -

iy RZTZ=F+-A—BHEZEE-
@iy MW-T-RAF=F+—HEZRE-
vy RZT_=F+_A—HEHE-

NEMRBTEEZHETRZARNE
BEARB RAEEERZ R

RENMARBIERTNEZESETE
EP2EEERBARAREELERE -

A ERTRIFITE R Z S KB IEH
TESFCHETERMMNESETARR
BEE 2R -

ZIRBEEAETAARRRZITHAR - £
MAEEZME R ERETRER
REH RGPS -

BEIERE  RELEEMBEHRLL
MEEEDMe 2 #FN(ZT-mF : =
FORRERRRRLELE) I RZMEFE
A ITHRBHRESRERBR ML
MEHFBMEERERMME - REW
EFEEARERERTRARREST
MERMMESERMAREE 2 Re B
BRER(E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12. AREBEHAL

During the year ended 31 March 2025, of the five individuals with
the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2024: four) of them
were directors which included the Chief Executive of the Company
whose emoluments are included in note 11. The emolument of the
remaining one (2024: one) individual is disclosed as follows:

REBEE-_ZE-_AF=-A=+—HLHF
B AEBEReHFzAREAESRTDA
(ZZZF : QA BRES(BEARRT]
THAR) BEMSHNME - K&
—H(ZZEZMF  —R)EAANEEE
BT

2025 2024
—E-RE —EPUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Salaries and other benefits e MEMBER 2,845 3,020
Performance-related bonuses KIRMEEIEAL 1,394 1,135
4,239 4,155
No. of employee
EEZB
2025 2024
—E_RE —EPUF
The emolument was within the BEZMENFIAT &R :
following band:
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001/ L% 4,500,000/ 7T 1 1

There was no arrangement under which the above individual(s)
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years. No
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above individual(s) as
an inducement to join the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. KA
2025 2024
“ECHF —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Final dividend in respect of the year BEe—_T-_mWF=A=+—H
ended 31 March 2024 of HK$0.35 IFEFEH0.358T
(2024: HK$0.40 in respect of the year —ECMF BRE_T_=F
ended 31 March 2023) per share —A=T—HLFE
F1%0.40/8 7T ) 2 REARR &
— Cash dividends —Rels 1,890,116 2,176,134
— Scrip dividends — AR 12,335 —
Interim dividend in respect of the six months #HZE-ZT-IMFHF5=+H
ended 30 September 2024 of HK$0.15 JJ:/‘_\{IH 201587
(2023: HK$0.15 in respect of the six TEC=F BRI =F
months ended 30 September 2023) per NA=+H1EXEA
share FAR0.15870) 2 IR B
— Cash dividends — IBEkE 747,649 815,336
— Scrip dividends — AR E 67,966 —
2,718,066 2,991,470

A final dividend of HK$0.35 in respect of the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: final dividend of HK$0.35 in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2024) per share in an aggregate amount of
HK$1,906,853,000 (2024: HK$1,902,451,000) has been proposed
by the directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ARABEFEZREHE_T_AF=
A=T—RLFEEKR03ISBITZRY
RE(ZZ-NF: BE_FT_NF=
A=T—RLFEER03SEBITZRY

f%2) » &5F/A1,906,853,0008 0 ( =&
ZPU4E £ 1,902,451,00087T) © HEALKEIR

RREERRBERSHET AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

. BRER

RRBEA ANEG T RER 358 & F

THE NIRRT

2025 2024
—E-HEF —EF
HK$'000 HK$’000
TExT FHT
Earnings B
Profit for the year attributable to owners of  FTEFIRER L EERF| 2
the Company for the purposes of basic and ~ AQ & A ABIEEEHH
diluted earnings per share 3,251,614 3,184,939
2025 2024
—ECHF —T-mF
‘000 ‘000
T8 T
Number of shares ROEAR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares stESMAERZEF) 2 E
for the purpose of basic earnings per share  H#EF 98K 5,384,981 5,383,521
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares in Gt H &5 2EE) 2 BB L
respect of share awards granted e o oE = 12
Weighted average number of ordinary STETREERR 2Tk
shares for the purpose of diluted earnings DNRESFE 58X
per share 5,384,981 5,383,533

The weighted average number of ordinary shares is arrived at after
deducting the treasury shares held by the trustee under the share
award scheme as set out in note 35.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the computation
of diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the
Company'’s outstanding share options as the adjusted exercise price
of those share options is higher than the average market price of
the shares for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. REWHE

HK$’000
FHT
FAIR VALUE NHE
At 1 April 2023 RZZTEZ=FMA—H 2,881,831
Exchange adjustments HE 34 8 B (136,801)
Additions VNS 19,163
Transfer to property, plant and equipment HEEYE - BEMRE (73,100)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERER L TEEZED (94,639)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZT-_WNFE=A=+—H 2,596,454
Exchange adjustments P R (27,011)
Additions NE 2,188
Disposal and winding up of subsidiaries (note 37) HERB AR KRB ARER(KIFE37) (13,056)
Disposal k= (4,070)
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RERERATEZS (41,344)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRF=A=+—H 2,513,161

Included in the investment properties are completed properties
of HK$2,045,932,000 (2024: HK$2,108,931,000) and properties
under development of HK$467,229,000 (2024: HK$487,523,000)
which are located in the PRC.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties in the PRC
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 have been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on the respective dates by CHFT Advisory
and Appraisal Ltd., an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group. The resulting fair value loss of
HK$41,344,000 (2024: fair value loss of HK$94,639,000) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 was recognised in profit or loss. The
valuation of completed properties was arrived at by reference to
comparable market transactions available in the relevant markets
for similar properties in the similar locations and conditions.
The valuation of properties under construction was arrived at
by the adoption of the residual approach on the basis that they
will be developed and completed in accordance with the latest
development proposals and having taken into account the
construction cost that will extent to complete the development to
reflect the quality of the completed development. In estimating
the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use.

B 452,045,932,0008 T (=&
— P4 : 2,108,931,00058 7T ) 2 B R
% K 467,229,000/ 70 ( —F — PO 4 -
487,523,000 7T ) 2 U iR B By B R AR
S E

R-E-_RAER TS -_NFE=ZA=+—
B AEBURFEZEENEZ AT
ENREEANEEMEREZ B IS
BEEGHEMITEDZATEERARF
NEBRPHETZHEESH BE_Z
“TEFEZAZ=+—HIEE  HUEES
2 A F{EE1841,344,00058 T(ZE =M
F 0 NF{EE B 94,639,000 5T ) A8
R - BEEKWEZGHEZEEMU
MERBLUIEME RIEH T 2B
GRESHAELRMBERSMEH -
EEMEZHEDNRABELILERZ
EMEBSRESTEEFRMER K
FERK v AT K FERK 3R T RE M B iR
AMEH URMEERERBERNE
2 RETMELATFER  UENES
MERERBRAHBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REYXE @)

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about
the fair value hierarchy as 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

AEBER - ZE-_RAFMA T -_NF=A
—t—HNEEMERBBRATESH
BEREBIT

Fair value (Level 3)

DFE(E=R)

2025 2024

—ECRHF —EmE

HK$'000 HK$000

FExT T

Offices located in the PRC (o8N REE = ORI /NE 2,045,932 2,108,931
Commercial units under construction LA B A AL

in the PRC 467,229 487,523

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the management of the Group
works closely with the independent qualified external valuers to
establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements. Where there is a
material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the
fluctuations will be reported to the directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REYXE @)

ERERTENTEHRE AYE
ZAVEEB(E=ZR) 2EH

TRETHEBREVMEETE A FERMA
BETDEREERLAABEENAEE

Information about fair value measurements using
key unobservable inputs (Level 3)

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the
determination of fair values for investment properties and the key

unobservable inputs used in the valuation models. A B o
Relationship of
Range of unobservable
Description Fairvalue asat31March ~ Valuation techniques  Unobservable inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
R=A=t-Hz TURE FABREA TURERAHER
#a MVE fHERE LD ¢ HBEE AYEZRE
2025 2024
ZECRE CEOME
HK$'000 HKS$'000
T TER
Offices located in the PRC 2,045,932 2,108931  Comparison approach  Adjusted transaction price to RMB3,220-RMB84, 476 The higher the adjusted
reflect market value of similar — per square metre (2024: transaction price the
properties, taking into account ~ RMB3,289-RMBB8,316 per higher the fair value
factors such as location and square metre)
direction
ERPENHAE AV LEERSRRIRMENDE STIRARBINTE  HRERSEKER A
MiE SR AMERAEE  ARMSMAT6R(ZECME:  EEE
i FTHRARE3 289TEA
R¥8831670)
Commercial units under 467,229 487523 Residual approach Adjusted transaction price to RMB14,600-RMB16,200 The higher the ajusted
construction in the PRC reflect market value of similar ~— per square metre (2024: transaction price the
properties, taking into account ~ RMB15,600-RMB17,100 higher the fair value
factors such as location and per square metre)
direction
A EREREf BE% ERELHERNRMENNE  BTARARBUMNIE  HRELAERES A
Wi SR AMERAEE  ARKI6200T(ZE2CME:  EEE
i FEHRARK15,600TE
ARE17,1007)

Adjusted developer's profitand ~ 7.5% (2024: 7.5%) The higher the adjusted
risk rate, taking into account developer's profit and
of the progress of the property risk rate the lower the fair
under construction value

CERRRENERERE . 75%(CECRE:75%)  SAREEEERERR
BHAERNEER #E - NTEYE

2,513,161 2,59,454
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group'’s
investment property portfolio and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than
through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts
of investment properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred
taxation in relation to the Group’s investment properties has been
measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the carrying
amounts entirely through use.

15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. M3% - BERRME
Coal-bed
Machinery  Furniture methane
Owned Construction and and Motor development
properties  Pipelines inprogress equipment  fixtures  vehicles ost  Vessels Total
BER  BAR RER
BENE BE  AEIR R EERE fE  HYER Bl a3t
HKP000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKF'000  HKE'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Thn TEr TR TR TR TR TR TEm TR
CosT A&
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=%#RmA-A 6,857,927 51164364 11848673 764207 1,086,848 953604 877,799 TT441 80490,953
Exchange adjustment [ (313075 (2628131) (841305  (434,102)  (108,674) (47812) (47,116) (4901)  (4,425716)
Transfer from investment properties  E% B ANE 73,100 - - - - - - - 73,100
Additions RE 146,255 401,667 5417084 177,591 364,633 44502 288,604 —  6840,3%
Disposal and winding up of subsidiary (HEHBARRNEBLARER (3,549) - %) 69 (1229 (639) - — (10993
Disposal it (55564)  (268,814) — (184175 (0467)  (653%9) — 0 (636621)
Redlassification EkipL 470371 6071950 (7,899,148) 1,356,827 - - - - -
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=+-H 1175466 54741036 8522372 8537789 1,291,115 884256 1,118,707 60,338 82,331,079
Exchange adjustment 5 (13586)  (660,6098)  (136,926) ~ (101,593)  (28,445) (8,869) (1,676) (938)  (1,012,731)
Additions E 51,883 433 4367302 232,369 PEARVE] 52,225 183,199 — 5,189,584
Disposal and winding up of subsidiaries [HENBARRINBLRIER
(note 37) (H337) (110569 (20209  (18377)  (418952) (4,65) (6,539) - - (579291)
Disposal HE (65,123) (65,539) —  (158,691) (25269 (104,095) - - (w8717)
Redlassification ] 397770 4151636  (4970,187) 420,781 = = = = =
At 31 March 2025 S e oy 1375841 58,217,659 7,764,184 8511703 1,463,929 816978 1,300,230 59,400 85,509,924
DEPRECIATION AND IMPARMENT 7R i
At 1 April 2023 WZFZ=EMA-A 1426642 7841318 — 3433283 267,029 521,064 65,678 44,684 13,599,698
Bichange adjustment EXE 63357)  (47014) — o201 4183 7458 6 15y (199,870)
Provided for the year ErifE 21,08 1,561,148 — 40897 117,708 74850 28,955 5006 2430372
Eliminated on disposal and winding up EEHBAZRINELR
of subsidiary BB (931) - - (1,075) (560) (370) - - 2,936)
Eliminated on disposal HERHH (19560)  (240,014) - (88.489) (11,663) (50,075) - (1637  (#17,438)
At 31 March 2024 W-F-mF=A=1+-A 1,564,002 8715438 — 3,562,601 318,331 518,011 90,943 40,500 14,809,826
Exchange adjustment R (16,621)  (134,859) - (45,160) (14,676) (5,037) (1) (517)  (217,087)
Provided for the year ERifE 25965 1,757,353 — 465399 140,275 04,714 28,174 5131 2,687,011
Eliminated on disposal and winding up (HENE L AIRMEBAA
of subsidaries (note 37) EREME(E) (37,000) (1,036) —  (247,69) (2.867) (4332 - - (292,933)
Eliminated on disposal HERTH 22801 (10263) —  (102221) (141690 (76,841) = - (26301
At31 March 2025 R-B-RF=A=1-H 1713545 10,326,633 — 363915 426804 496515 118900 45114 16,760,516
CARRYING VALUES RaE
At 31 March 2025 \ZECREZA=T-H 566229 470891026 7,764,184 4878788 1,037,035 320463 1,181,330 14,286 68,749,408
At 31 March 2024 WZF-EE=A=1+-A 5611464 46025598 8522312 49715188 972,784 366,45 1,027,764 19,838 67,521,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 16. Y% - HERRZRHE @

The pipelines of the Group are located in the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis at
the following rates per annum:

Owned properties Over the shorter of the remaining
terms of the leases or 50 years
Pipelines Over the shorter of 30 years or

the operation period of the
relevant company

Machinery and equipment 5%-10%
Furniture and fixtures 15%-50%
Motor vehicles 25%
Coal-bed methane development Units of production method
cost based on the expected proven
reserve to be extracted
Vessels 7% (new vessels acquired from

suppliers) or 34% (acquired
from second hand market)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, interest capitalised in
construction in progress amounted to HK$488,477,000 (2024:
HK$752,880,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group is in the process
of obtaining title deeds from relevant government authorities for its
land and buildings in the PRC amounting to HK$30,663,000 (2024:
HK$31,170,000). In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the Group is not required to incur additional cost in obtaining the
title deeds for its land and buildings in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FHEEE

Machinery
Leasehold Leased and Motor
lands  properties  equipment vehicles Vessels Total
HELH BEME BERRE RE i At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TET TET THT TET
As at 31 March 2025 R-B-1%=A=1-H
Carrying amount RS 2,127,820 185,465 — — — 231328
As at 31 March 2024 R=B-MmE=A=1+-H
Carrying amount REE 2,254,143 166,453 203 3 — 2,420,802
For the yearended 31 March ~ HE-ZE-RFE=fA=1-H
2025 LEE
Depreciation charge HEER 77,135 72,550 203 3 — 149,891
Fortheyearended 31 March ~ HZE-Z-_ME=A=+-H
2024 LEE
Depreciation charge HEBR 79,180 67,442 266 13 151,819 298,720
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
BE-Z-HF HE_ZT_MF
=A=+-—H =Z=A=+—H
LHFEE IFFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHAEAMENAY 91,979 76,630
Total cash outflow for leases MEMRE ML AR 209,357 401,300
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFEREESE 130,711 147,604
Adjustments arising on lease modifications ~ FAE{EF]E 4 v FH% = (993,427)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17. FRHEEE®)

The Group leases various leasehold lands, offices and warehouses,
machinery and equipment and motor vehicles for its operations.
Except for the lease of leasehold lands, lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 to 30 years (2024: 1 to 30 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has obtained the land use right
certificates for all leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with
carrying amount of HK$31,445,000 (2024: HK$38,956,000) in
which the Group is in the process of obtaining. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the Group is not required to incur
additional cost in obtaining the title deeds for its leasehold lands in
the PRC.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for properties,
machinery and equipment and motor vehicles. As at 31 March
2025, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed as
above.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into time
charter agreements with its joint ventures in relation to the time
charter of two liquefied natural gas (“LNG") vessels for a charter
period of 20 years from the date of delivery at a daily hire rate
ranging from approximately United States dollars (“USD") 80,000 to
USD100,000. Under the time charter agreements, each of the LNG
vessels shall neither be delivered nor shall hire commence before
31 December 2026 and 31 May 2027 respectively. As at 31 March
2025, the total future undiscounted cash flows of the two LNG
vessels over the charter period amounted to HK$10,561,630,000
(2024: HK$10,561,630,000).
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REEE NFIZRE
2025 2024
—E_RE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cost of investments in associates: REFE RN B2 EKA
Listed in Hong Kong REBLM 971,551 1,017,779
Unlisted JEET 5,592,337 5,488,364
Share of pre-acquisition dividend DR RIS (1,296) (1,296)
Share of post-acquisition profits and PG U R E I R E 2 E A
other comprehensive income (net of (R UEE & FTIURE.)
post-acquisition dividend received) 2,990,486 3,267,937
Discount on acquisition of associates U EEBE & N B 2 I 8 232,970 232,970
9,786,048 10,005,754
Fair value of listed investment, based on FHREZAFE
quoted market price (IZmismET=) 4,348,981 5,158,313
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REFE N T 2B’ E )

The Group had interests in the following significant associates:

A AT B A A A S

Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value of
Form of registration/  place of Class of registered/issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
i3 AE@ATEM/ BRIT
TEER RBERRA MR LBH FEEEHH  RAER RAEELA TEER
2025 2024
—E-RE —TomE
% %
EEMIRMRRIEEREBAR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 44 44 Gas pipeline construction
venture
FOaEL%E HE e Al MREEZR
EESBEERNERAF Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 31 39 Exploration, collection,
venture transportation, purification
and sales of natural gas
PHEELE il il i Bk Wk B% OFREE
EEMALEEARARERAR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
RHEERE FE FE i AARHERMREERR
BEERERRARETAR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 48 48 Sales of natural gas and gas
([ramErE]) venture pipeline construction
PNEERE HE HE i} RARHERRAEBRR
BRESIEERLERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 35 35 Refining process, storage of LPG
BREALE F FE A} RICRARIRRNIERE - @
W REEIRAARER AR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREALA FE g i RARFERMAE EER
BN RRRERAE Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of LPG
BREALA FE g i) RICRAREE
Zhongyu Energy* Limited liability company ~ Cayman Islands PRC Ordinary 36.49 37.00  Investment holding, sales of
natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
e BREERTF HEHS FE R REER  ARAHERMRE

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REFE N T 2B’ E &)

Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value of
Form of registration/  place of Class of registered/issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
i3y AEEATFEMR/ BRIT
L¥ER EBRBHA EMRIGY FTEEELYE REAER RAEELL I TR
2025 2024
—E-RE —TomE
% %
BNEETRT IR TIRE Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 44 44 Sales of natural gas and gas
ERBRRA pipeline construction
BREARR FE FE i RARHERMAEEER
BHRREARER AR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREERT FE FE Al RARHERMAEERR
ERTEHAARERERAT Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREALA FE FE i AARHERMREBRR
REEBRELRRITERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered a2 42 Development of energy
technology and sales of
natural gas
BEREARE FE FE et BERBMAERAAREE
RAESRILAARBRAR Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of LPG
BEREALE FE FE FEff RICRAREE
AT HERREARLA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 30 30  Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREARTA FE e i AARHERMREBRR
LREXRARMAERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 25 25 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREALR FE FE ] RARHERMAE BER
RERAREREEERAR Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 22 22 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREALE FE FE i RARHERMREERR
BB BRRRERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 46 46 Sales of natural gas and gas
([#E5ERE]) pipeline construction
BREAATA HE FE Al ARRHERMREBRR
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“m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18. REFE QR 2 REm)
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value of
Form of registration/  place of Class of registered/issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
i3y AEEATFEMR/ BRIT
rEZR EBRBHA EMRIGY FTEEELYE REAER RAEELL I TEER
2025 2024
—E-RE —TomE
% %
RS IR RER DR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 2 22 Production of coke and coking
chemicals
BREARR $ HE Al FRERREN 2R
JEFZHRARARERDA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREERF + FE Al RARHERMAEBRR
IHIERHIEEERAF Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Production and sales of LPG
BREERT + HE Al RICRMREERFAE
It RERBARERLERAA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREARA FE e i AARHERMREBRR
N E &P RaERER AR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
HHEELE HE FE ] RARHERMAE BER
ERRRBICAARERETAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 10 —  Operation and management of
liquefied natural gas terminal
facilities
BREALA FE g Al BRICRARL mRBEERER
* Its shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and its financial * HERO R BB P T - BEMEER
information is publicly available. A AFAMEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

18.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

At 31 March 2025, included in the cost of investments in associates
is goodwill of HK$2,869,423,000 (2024: HK$2,905,918,000).

The financial year end date for Zhongyu Energy is 31 December.
For the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting, the
consolidated financial statements of Zhongyu Energy for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2024: 31 December 2023) have been
used as the Group considers that it is impracticable for Zhongyu
Energy with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange to provide a
separate and complete set of financial statements as of 31 March.
No significant transactions requiring adjustments took place during
the intervening period.

The financial year end date of J&[%/& 75 is 31 December. This was
the statutory reporting date established when that company was
registered. The financial statements of J&[Z/EP for the period
other than its statutory reporting date had not been provided by
JE&[5& T to the Group. For the purposes of applying the equity
method of accounting, the financial statements of J&F5)& P for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2024: 31 December 2023) have
been used. No significant transactions requiring adjustments took
place during the intervening period.

Summarised consolidated financial information of
material associates

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each
of the Group’s material associates is set out below. The summarised
consolidated financial information below represents amounts
shown in the associate’s consolidated financial statements.

All of the Group’s associates are accounted for using the equity
method in these consolidated financial statements.

18. REFE N T 2B’ E &)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information of
material associates (Continued)

18. REFE N T 2B’ E )
EEMENTRAUKRERSE

(#&)

K EES B and its subsidiaries REEREREMHEA T
2025 2024
—E_REF —EPF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENEE 1,061,224 912,810
Non-current assets ERFEE 3,026,177 3,061,662
Current liabilities MENBE (915,014) (812,498)
Non-current liabilities IEREBE (239,145) (241,722)
Net assets FEE 2,933,242 2,920,252
Revenue WA 2,323,867 2,563,717

Total comprehensive income (expense) FEFERA(FAZ)BEE

for the year 12,990 (102,270)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

LB TS E R B BN AR A B A SRR
RN E QR 2 WERMELK

2025 2024

—E-RF —E N4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Net assets of WA B2 BREREFEE 2,933,242 2,920,252
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest AEBRBEERE 2

in lREERE AR D) 48% 48%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REERGRETEZ

in BEEAR E reflected in the Group's EREERE(EAEE
consolidated statement of financial position 434 BITEAR R R AP e gt ) 1,407,956 1,401,721
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

18.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

ENTFIZRE @)

Summarised consolidated financial information of BN\ E B EREE
material associates (Continued)

Zhongyu Energy and its subsidiaries R R EMEB AT

2025 2024

—EHF —EFoEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Current assets RENEE 6,557,744 6,512,465

Non-current assets ERBEE 19,664,880 19,917,642

Current liabilities mENAGE (9,675,694) (11,786,342)

Non-current liabilities IEREEE (8,165,959) (5,950,338)

Net assets FERE 8,380,971 8,693,427

Less: Non-controlling interests W FEEARE R (995,443) (992,114)

Net assets attributable to owners HEARIEFEE 7,385,528 7,701,313

Revenue WA 13,472,199 13,643,682

Total comprehensive expense for the year FEXEATBE (207,654) (197,363)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18.
Summarised consolidated financial information of
material associates (Continued)

Zhongyu Energy and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

REEE DT 2 B]E @)
BEERENTISAUBERHE
(&)

hBEERREMB AT (E)

PR BERBE BN G E M RRE
R E QA 2 IERMELR

2025 2024
—E-REF —EO4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Net assets attributable to owners of RHERES AEIEFEE
Zhongyu Energy 7,385,528 7,701,313
Less: Fair value gain on revaluation of o ETAYE - BEREE
pipelines included in property, plant BEEEHATERS
and equipment, net of depreciation (BHIBRAEREITE )
thereon* (1,385,739) (1,609,470)
5,999,789 6,091,843
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest ZNEEE R ABEIR 2 A #E
in Zhongyu Energy e dstu it 36% 37%
Goodwill [EES 461,930 472,257
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in ~ REBRHHEEIR 2
Zhongyu Energy reflected in the Group's FREE(EREEZ
consolidated statement of financial position 434 BITEAR R R A2 e gt ) 2,651,173 2,726,239

* Zhongyu Energy measures its property, plant and equipment under
revaluation model. The cumulative revaluation surplus and the
depreciation thereon is reversed to conform with the Group'’s accounting

policy.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18.

Summarised consolidated financial information of
material associates (Continued)

REE QAT 2BRE®
BEERENTISAUBERHE

(#&)

&[5 &7 and its subsidiaries SIS R LB AT
2025 2024
—EC-ERHF —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MBEE 2,300,478 2,208,032
Non-current assets ERBNVE E 7,234,788 6,909,818
Current liabilities mEAE (5,694,651) (5,563,130)
Non-current liabilities e UN=E= (2,607,183) (2,285,111)
Net assets FEE 1,233,432 1,269,609
Less: Non-controlling interests B IEERR R (107,808) (128,374)
Net assets attributable to owners e AEIEFEE 1,125,624 1,141,235
Revenue WA 4,310,007 4,527,827
Total comprehensive expense for the year FELPHMAX 4% (36,177) (291,148)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in associates recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:

LB TS E R BN AR A B A R
RN E QA 2 WERMELK

2025 2024
—E-RHE —EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Net assets attributable to owners of &I5/&ETT B ETHEE ABIGFEE 1,125,624 1,141,235
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 7N BB 5 &E 78~ A 1
in &S ER - Fdndlll 46% 46%
Goodwill RS 1,425,760 1,441,257
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REBNEG B 2 s
in J&B5 & reflected in the Group's FRAE(EAKE 2
consolidated statement of financial position 4R & BATSAR L 3R 4 S gt ) 1,943,547 1,966,225
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information of
material associates (Continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not
individually material

. RBEZERATZ2RE @)

N,

EEHE
(#&)
BRmMSEFEE2BHEQRNE

NAFREMBEMEE

2025 2024
—E-RHEF —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

The Group's share of results of REEERZEHE A RZ
these associates B 95,390 117,143

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ REERZEHE AT 2

interests in these associates D AETRMEE 3,783,372 3,911,569

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

19. REERRIZKERE

2025 2024
—E-hEF —EO4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of investments in joint REERBZIRERKA
ventures — unlisted — LM 9,846,385 9,844,657
Share of post-acquisition profits and DG U R E I R E M 2 E A
other comprehensive income (FNFR BB FTUCAR B.)
(net of post-acquisition dividend received) 1,897,919 2,158,817
Discount on acquisition of joint ventures WEEA B NGElZITiE 30,145 30,145
11,774,449 12,033,619
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

19.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had interests in the

19. REERAIZKRE =)

R-E-_RAER T -_NFE=ZA=+—

following significant joint ventures: H AEBRUTEEEGERAIRES
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value
Form of registration/  place of Class of of registered/issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation  operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
/2 AE@ATEEMR,
TLEER EBERRA Rt TEEENY RAER BRTRAEELA TEER
2025 2024
—E-RE —ToF
% %
W RETIRRER AR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
FORERE FE FE FEff RATHERMREBRR
BNFRETRRERERAR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
FHNGERE FE FE i AARHERMREBRR
ENR BT REERRAR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
HHEERE FE FE FEff RARHERMAE BER
ERTPRARTERTBRAR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Natural gas refill service and gas
venture station administration
FHEERE F FE i RATMFIRS RIFRLEE R
FHEAARRBRDA Equity joint venture PRC PRC Registered 51 51 Sales of natural gas
REME FE FE i RARHE
BETZRRGREER AR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Investment holding, sales of
([ERZRR) natural gas and gas pipeline
construction
BREARR FE FE i BREERR - RARHER
HREERR
ERREARRAEABETAR Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREAATA FE FE Al ARRHERMREBRR
RETIETRRREDERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREARLR FE FE i RARHERRAEBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REELQRIZIRE @)
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value
Form of registration/  place of Class of of registered/issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
X AEEFSEM/
TtEER EBRETR Jodvaich s TEEE Y REAER ERTREEELSH TR
2025 2024
ZE-EE ZEC@F
% %
AMPRE BRRTRREE Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
BRAR venture pipeline construction
FOAEL%E HE HE Al RARHERRAEEER
SEPRE BRERETRE Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas and gas
BERERAA venture pipeline construction
FORELE FE FE FEff AATHERMREBRR
REMAERREEERAT Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREARTF HE FE Al AARHERMREBRR
MM B TR RBRAR Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales and distribution of LPG
venture
FHGERE FE H i RCRHAEE RD
SIEMHERRERAT Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 50 50  Sales of natural gas,
petrochemical products and
gas accessories
BREARHA FE FE i RAR - AlLERR
AR HE
=HTERMREREERA Sino-foreign equity joint ~ PRC PRC Registered 49 49 Sales of natural gas and gas
venture pipeline construction
FORELE FE FE FEff AATHERMREERR
MMNRILREEEBRAA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered — 50  Sales of natural gas
(Note i)
(B
BREARR HE HE i RARHE
EkPREERERBR A Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREARLA FE I FEf AARHERMREERR
AR EEERAR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 40 40  Sales of natural gas and gas
pipeline construction
BREALA FE e FEf RARHERMREERR
R ABERARRHBER AR Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 4 41 Sales of natural gas and gas
(N=AH]) pipeline construction
BREALR HE HE Al RARHERRAEBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REEAQATIZERE @)
Place of Principal Proportion of nominal value
Form of registration/  place of Class of of registered/issued capital
Name of entity business structure incorporation operations capital held by the Group Principal activities
i, AE@ATIEMR
TtEER EBRBHA Jodvaich s TEEE Y REAER ERTREEELSH TR
2025 2024
ZE-EE ZEC@F
% %
ik ORI BRERERES Limited partnership PRC PRC Registered 99.34 99.34  Investment holding

(BRAE) (formerly known as
RRBRH ORY) BRERERERES
(BRAH)) Note i)
FRORN)EZRREEES ERA&BLE HE HE it} Bavls
(BEBRAR) (FIERRERHORI)
BREREEEC(ARAY))

(Bt i)
FYmEE KB 28R EREEAT Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 40 40 Investment holding
(Note i)
RITmREFRFZEREREARF FRETAA HE HE Al BEER
(B i)
REPMRTRERHBEEEAR AR Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 39.96 39.96  Piped natural gas (“PNG"),
(Note ii) LNG, compressed natural gas
("CNG") and LPG energy
projects
REFRDZERREEEERAT HREERA FE FE FEf FERARAPNG]) - ING *
(B=Eii) BERARCNG]) R
RACRAREREE
REFREZEREEERAF Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 39.60 39.60  PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG energy
(Note i) projects
REPRT 2 REEER AR BREARRA e + i PNG * LNG * CNGRRIL A
(B=Eii) RACIRIER
B ReEREEAR A F(Notei)  Limited liability company  PRC PRC Registered 39.60 39.60  PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG energy
projects
BMNFRERRBRERAR (M)  AREERA HE HE i PNG * LNG * CNG R &{L A
RAERER
By mR R REE R AR DA Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 39.60 39.60  PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG energy
(Note i) projects
BOTRREBERRRERRT  AREELA HE FE i} PNG * LNG * CNG /(LA
(B i) RERIEE
MERRELRERBRAF Limited liability company ~ PRC PRC Registered 39.60 39.60  PNG, LNG, CNG and LPG energy
(Note i) projects
MEFRERERERAR BREARRA e HE i PNG * LNG * CNGIIBIL AR,
(B=Eii) BRIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

@

(ii)

The joint venture was disposed of during the year ended 31 March 2025
with a loss on disposal of HK$3,624,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group entered into a limited
partnership agreement (the “Limited Partnership Agreement”) with &
REBIZEESEREE) ("hREL") and AITHRESERABREF
AF"FPRES") in relation to the formation of FRRIEFIRCRIN)EZ5E
JREREESD (the “Fund”), which is now renamed as FRCEYIE BELIR
ERES(BRAF). The Fund shall focus on investing in PNG, LNG, CNG
and LPG energy projects. The Fund has a duration of 7 years from the date
of first contribution of the committed capital, subject to an extension by
unanimous consent of all parties. The committed capital contribution from
the Group, F1RE® and F#AEE amounted RMB3.00 billion, RMB7.00
billion and RMB20.00 million respectively.

Under the Limited Partnership Agreement, F{RE % is entitled to
preferential return (the “Preferential Return”) based on its actual capital
contribution (after deducting any redeemed amount), and to seek early
redemption of its capital contribution (the “Preferential Redemption”)
at the 5th, 6th and 7th anniversaries of the date of its first capital
contribution amounting to 20%, 20% and 60% of the actual amount of
capital contribution, respectively.

Pursuant to the Limited Partnership Agreement, all of the shareholders
have contractually agreed the sharing of control over the Fund, as
key decisions about the relevant activities, including but not limited to
business, financial and operation matters of the Fund, require unanimous
consents from all of the shareholders of the Fund. Accordingly, the
Group has joint control over the Fund and the Group’s equity interest in
the Fund is accounted for as an investment in joint venture. Subsequent
to establishment, the Fund has then invested in investment projects in
accordance with the Limited Partnership Agreement and held equity
interests in (i) fRE TR BRERFEEBBR AT, (i) REFRRZHE
REBARAT,; (i) BINPREERERERAT; (v) BT HRZERE
BREHEAMRATR]; and (v) IBZHRHRREREER AR AR (collectively referred
to as the “Platform Companies”) and accounts for each of the Platform
Companies as the Fund'’s subsidiaries. The Group, through the Fund, held
33.33% of the voting rights in the Platform Companies.

Up to 31 March 2023, F{RE® contributed capital (before the
Preferential Redemption) of RMB5.80 billion, and early redeemed its
capital contribution of RMB2.32 billion. As at 31 March 2023, the capital
contribution from FF{REE and the Group amounted to RMB3.48 billion
(approximately HK$3.98 billion) and RMB2.72 billion (approximately
HK$3.22 billion) respectively.

19. REERFRIZBE®)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HEZ—=Z

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group, FAZB{E5E B R A A(" 7
EB{=5E") and each of the Platform Companies entered into a cooperation
framework agreement (the “Cooperation Framework Agreement”) and
related agreements to establish &I EEFERERBEREER

FZALR"). The Group and FAEB{EFE has respectively contributed
registered capital amounting to RMB606.40 million (approximately
HK$659.10 million) and RMB909.60 million (approximately HK$1,010.70
million) into AR K, and 2R has applied the capital contributions
and the new bank loan of RMB2.27 billion (approximately HK$2.52 billion)
(the “Bank Loan"”) obtained to acquire the entire equity interests of each
of the Platform Companies at the aggregate consideration of RMB3.79
billion (approximately HK$4.21 billion) from the Fund. The Group has
agreed to provide guarantee (and as guaranteed by the Group on any
shortfall) for repayment of such Bank Loan. The Group, through E2Z %,
held 33.33% of the voting rights in the board of directors of the Platform
Companies.

Pursuant to the Cooperation Framework Agreement, following repayment
of the principal and interest payable in respect of the Bank Loan, all
distributable funds shall be distributed to PA&F{=5E on a preferential
basis up to its equity investment amount together with pre-agreed rate
of return. Any remaining funds shall be distributed to the Group up to its
equity investment amount together with pre-agreed rate of return. After
the aforesaid distributions, any remaining funds shall be distributed to the
Group and FEEFERTE in proportion to their respective paid-up registered
capital amounts.

As key decisions about the relevant activities of EEF W require
unanimous consents from the Group and FAEB{55T, the Group has joint
control over ELZEF Bk and the Group's equity interest in BEEFR is
accounted for as an investment in joint venture.

Subsequent to the above, the Fund returned RMB3.48 billion
(approximately HK$3.78 billion) to F{RE % as redemption of the
remaining capital contribution and approximately RMB283.70 million
(approximately HK$308.40 million) to the Group. Following the capital
redemption, F{RE S ceased to be the Fund's joint venture partner, and
the Fund continues to be held by the Group and ¥ % under joint
control in the proportion of 99.34% and 0.66% of the Fund's registered
share capital, respectively.

The above transactions resulted in a change in the investment holding of
the Platform Companies and therefore, the Platform Companies continue
to be the Group's joint ventures after the above transactions and are
accounted for under the equity method.

At 31 March 2025, included in the cost of investments in joint
ventures is goodwill of HK$230,079,000 (2024: HK$232,580,000).

(ii)

19. REERAIZREM®
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REEATZERE )
Summarised financial information of material joint HBESE N EEREE
ventures
The summarised financial information below represents amounts TXEHINZHBERBERESE QT4
shown in the joint ventures’ consolidated financial statements. BTSRRI TSR -

All of the Group's joint ventures are accounted for using the equity AEEMBAEERRTRAERENA
method in these consolidated financial statements. RAE P BmERAALR -
BEZA and its subsidiaries EEZARHEKE AR
2025 2024
—E-hF —EmE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FiT
Current assets mEBEE 1,161,132 1,164,440
Non-current assets FEREEE 4,154,546 4,193,967
Current liabilities mERE (1,124,189) (1,360,182)
Non-current liabilities ERBALE (657,259) (592,398)
Net assets FEE 3,534,230 3,405,827
Revenue WA 2,865,352 2,841,681
Total comprehensive income for the year FE2EBALRE 128,403 52,275
Dividend received from 12 % & FANBUBIRBELAZIKE
during the year — 106,522
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

19.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19.

Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures (Continued)

F\BEZA and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

REEBERATZ2EBE @)
BEEREQTUBERE @)

BEZAREKE AR (9

LB TS E R BN AR A B TS R
RZNBERRZWERMELK

2025 2024

—E-RE ZEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Net assets of f@E L K BERLZRFEE 3,534,230 3,405,827
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBERBERARLZ

interest in @& A B RERERLL A 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REERBERARLZ

in t82 % 4R reflected in the Group's EmRAE(EASE 2
consolidated statement of financial position 434 BITEAR R 3R AR e gt ) 1,731,773 1,668,855
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

Summarised financial information of material joint

ventures (Continued)

19.

REEBERATZ2EBE @)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

ERCENAUBERNNE®

IR A 5H and its subsidiaries WERAHEREHB AT

2025 2024

—E_REF —EPF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current assets MENEE 1,732,862 1,516,219

Non-current assets ERHEE 2,414,925 3,075,193

Current liabilities mENEE (384,777) (559,007)

Non-current liabilities EREAE (342,709) (228,043)

Net assets FEE 3,420,301 3,804,362

Less: Non-controlling interests T FETERRE R (1,118,155) (1,693,269)

Net assets attributable to owners BB ANEEEEE 2,302,146 2,111,093

Revenue WA 733,961 800,152
Total comprehensive income (expense) FEFEBA(FAZ)BEE

for the year 144,806 (11,715)
Dividend received from [ E f M FREWLEARZEE

during the year 24,514 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

19.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19.

Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures (Continued)

L3R AH and its subsidiaries (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the investments in joint ventures recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

REEBERATZ2EBE @)
BEEREQTUBERE @)

WRAMREMBERE(®)

LB TS E R BN AR A B TS R
RZNBERRZWERMELK

2025 2024

—B-RE —TmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FAET

Net assets attributable to owners of LU AJH LR A MES ABIGFEE 2,302,146 2,111,093
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBRILRABZ

interest in LR A B R 41% 41%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REBRILRABZ

in LA reflected in the Group's HREEIE(EAER 2
consolidated statement of financial position 45 & B FSAR T 2R 5P e At ) 943,880 865,548
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 19. REELQTZRE®)
Summarised financial information of material joint BESENTMEEREIE %)
ventures (Continued)

FE A and the Platform Companies WERRRFEAT
2025 2024
—EC-ERHF —TEoEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENVEE 10,861,873 11,976,743
Non-current assets ERENEE 15,587,302 15,602,179
Current liabilities mEaE (14,170,761) (14,683,364)
Non-current liabilities ETBEE (10,073,007) (10,624,725)
Net assets FEE 2,205,407 2,270,833
Less: Non-controlling interests of %/ #& R BRI IEIR R M e (179,372) (168,433)
Net assets attributable to owners of BEZErFR R EIEEFRIRIEE A JB(LEEE 2,026,035 2,102,400
Revenue WA 4,818,090 4,532,382
(Loss) profit for the year FE(SEE) &M (54,558) 27,019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures (Continued)

HEZ M and the Platform Companies (Continued)

The carrying amount of the Group's investments in % /1
comprises the following:

19.

REEBERATZ2EBE @)
BESELDUKERME g

FEPREFEQFE)

7% 82 (8 1 B 2 7 R 7 4 B T M 9 A
TEE -

2025 2024
—E-HF —EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
The Group's share of accumulated profits of A& E fE{HE SRR~
R S ch gk ESeavl 148,600 203,158
Capital contributed to EZ B by the Group ZNE= B [m] # 22 FR A & 659,131 659,131
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEEREZERR 2
in EEFR IR reflected in the Group’s EnEEE(EAEE
consolidated statement of financial position 43 & BATEAR R 3R AR [ gt ) 807,731 862,289

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material

ERMSEHEEZEELRNER

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZpuE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT

The Group's share of results of these joint REFEERZESE LR
ventures ES 178,603 440,520

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s AEBERZZAE LT Z

interest in these joint ventures DA TRMEE 8,291,065 8,636,927

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024258 7R E

125



126

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

20. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 20.
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BAVEFAHMBEZEBAZ
BRATA

2025 2024
—E-hF —EmE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Equity securities listed: RUATHE B ET 2 IR AN B 5
— in Hong Kong — B 139,897 102,520
— in the Mainland of the PRC — FREIRRE 243,432 243,769
Unlisted equity investments JE ERAKRE 414,915 405,098
Other investments Hipig & 2,198 2,198
800,442 753,585

The directors of the Company have elected to designate these
equity investments as at FVTOCI as they believe that these
investments are not held for trading and not expected to be sold
in the foreseeable future. Details of the fair value measurements of
these investments are set out in note 39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

21. GOODWILL 21. B8
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FWNA—AH 3,230,141
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries BT B A BB I 8 (1,929)
Exchange realignment FE R EE (149,859)
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MF=A=+—H 3,078,353
Eliminated on disposal and winding up of subsidiaries & B & 2 5] Rz M1 8 2 51575 A% B 4 2
(note 37) (B&E37) (57,917)
Exchange realignment P A FE R (30,583)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZE-_RFE=A=+—H 2,989,853
The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually and in the AEERGFERNETHRECMREER
financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or more HgEBEaERE  EENREH
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. PE e IRAER - SEEFAIR -
Impairment testing on goodwiill [k AN
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to CGUs XBEaPRENEE EEERAX
that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The BEREBEHNBRSELSN %ZFH
CGUs are principally engaged in the sales of natural gas and gas PEABUFERERARBEERAR
pipeline construction business, sales of LPG business and provision BERRED  RIEAHRHEEEBLR
of valued-added services. RIS ERT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. %%{%)

Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued)

B R ERI R ()

The carrying amounts of goodwill as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 RZE-_RAFR T -_NF=ZA=+—

are allocated as follows: AR EERmES R T
2025 2024
—E_RHEF —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline UTEREEESENZ
construction business within each of IARRHEHERMRREB
the following CGUs ERRE
Clever Decision Enterprise Limited Clever Decision Enterprise Limited 132,573 134,014
BN TR RERER AR BN FRRSRTRRERER AR 41,911 42,367
IR HEAREER AR A A bR HAREHR AR A A 14,537 14,695
HEPEE SERABRAA HEREEE SERERAT 50,224 50,770
EEFRRMTRRERERA R EERRHMTRARERAGRAT] 13,966 14,118
BEISHRMHTMMREREBR AR EISHRMEMMRERER AR
and its subsidiaries N EMEAF] 25,385 25,661
HARRBE TR ERER AR HAFRB TR ERBR AT 28,436 28,745
ERBIEE et REMERER AR I RBUEE HeR T3 R
and its subsidiaries BRABREWB AR 30,210 30,538
Fortune Gas Investment Holdings Limited BRI EIERER AR R
and its subsidiaries HMB AR 930,189 940,300
PR EIMRBER AR HERPRE IMRER AT 15,590 15,759
BERRGEREE AR A and RERREEREEBR AT KL
China Gas Hong Kong Company Limited RIREBER AR R
and its subsidiaries EHIBA A 171,318 173,180
Beijing Gas Development Limited ERBERBR AR R
and its subsidiaries RSN 193,667 195,772
REIHMHETRARERERAR] REET R T R B R
and its subsidiaries ARARREMEBAR] 65,070 65,777
ERGIERARBERRAR ERBIERARHEBERAT 15,917 16,090
MBFEBRARARLDA MBFEBRAREBRAA] 11,601 11,727
HEMmeEMRERAR whEmeRMRERAR R
and its subsidiary HMB AR 16,841 17,024
SETMRAAREARAA SETRAAREERAF] 16,835 17,018
Bl SR MR B R A A Bl SRR AR AR A A 32,060 32,408
PRIk R ERER AT AR MM RERERAA
and its subsidiary KEHEB A A 13,797 13,947
RPN EEERER AR HIREPREREERER AR 15,506 15,675
Other individually immaterial CGUs EH b E RS WA EARR
WeEEBN 349,032 358,699
2,184,665 2,214,284
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

21. GOODWILL (continued) 21. @‘]_%W”é\
Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued) EEFEAE e
2025 2024
—E-REF —EO4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FBT
Sales of LPG business within the DNTHESELENZ
following CGU B HRHEES
AP ReEREB AR A A and its A PR REEBR AT K
subsidiaries EIBE AR 518,413 574,176
Provision of value-added services within U TIHREELEE >
each of following CGUs REEEREER
Daily Pride Limited and its subsidiaries HFARATREMEB AT 285,713 288,819
B4 (EE) FeERERAR] Bt (EE)#eeRERAF 1,062 1,074
286,775 289,893
2,989,853 3,078,353

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are those regarding discount rates and growth rates.
The management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessment of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on budgets approved by the management and industry growth
forecasts.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by the management for the next
five years. The cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 2% (2024: 3%) average growth rate for CGUs in the
natural gas and gas pipeline construction business, 2% (2024: 3%)
for CGUs in the sales of LPG business and 2% (2024: 2%) for CGUs
engaged in the provision of value-added services. The pre-tax rates
used to discount cash flows for CGUs are from 9% to 17% (2024:
11% to 20%). Based on the impairment testing performed, no
material impairment loss is identified for both years.

ReELEM 2 B EETDIEFTESE
REEEE FEEREEZZERXA
EEZUMBERIIERER - EEERAR
MEARFEEEZREERRSELE
L2 %5 E R 2 BRI L RAEETRAIR & -
BERREREHECRERERNER

TRHIEETE -

AEBREEEEMERARAF R
R HEERERESRETEE - BEAX
ARREMREBEEREGNRESELSE
i BRIEARAHEEBHNASELS
R HEREEERGEENRSES
BURFHRZBESREDBIRAEE
B R K% ( — T - PU4F : 3%) »
2%(ZF=F :3%) 2% (=F =Y
F2%)#ETHE - BRMIRESESE
BNREREZHALERHI%NE17%
ZEDF 1% E20%) TE - BRI
Frage TR BRI, - P RZ M 4F 5 1 4 o
RIE KR EEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

22. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. HhEFEE

130

Exclusive
rightsof  Production
natural sharing  Technology Customer
gas operation rights rights Licenses  relationship Total
ARREH 2
BROERE  EEONE hifiE #7 EFER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR Thn TR TR TR
cosT S
At 1 April 2023 s R 3,385,934 1,371,106 54,124 29,635 14913 4,855,712
Exchange adjustments AR (191,579) (41,075) (2,647) (1,450) (729) (237,480)
Additions AE - - — 783 - 783
At 31 March 2024 \ZEZMF-A=1—H 3,194,355 1,330,031 51,477 28,968 14,184 4,619,015
Exchange adjustments B3 % (34,329) (14,301) (554) (303) (153) (49,640)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RF=A=1-H 3,160,026 1,315,730 50,923 28,665 14,031 4,569,375
AMORTISATION Ba
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FEA-H 1,030,903 151,377 54,124 3,091 14913 1,254,408
Exchange adjustments EHRE (51,959) (5,864) (2,647) (151) (729) (61,349)
Charge for the year ERgi 145,710 32,602 - 3,093 - 181,405
At 31 March 2024 AE-ME=A=+-R 1,124,655 178,115 51477 6,033 14,184 1,374,464
Exchange adjustments A% (12,102) (1,915) (554) (64) (153) (14,788)
Charge for the year ERgH 145,571 32,51 - a3 - 178,525
At 31 March 2025 R-Z-R§=A=1-8 125814 208711 50923 6412 14031 1,538,201
CARRYING VALUES KafE
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RE=A=1-H 1,901,902 1,107,019 - 22,253 = 3,031,174
At 31 March 2024 RZE-WE=A=+-H 2,069,700 1,151,916 — 22,935 — 3,244,551
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

22,

23.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The exclusive rights of natural gas operation, technology rights,
licenses and customer relationship are amortised on a straight-line
method over the period of 30 years, 40 years, 3 to 10 years and 10
years respectively.

Production sharing right represents the right under the production
contract entered into between a subsidiary of the Company and
a PRC entity for the exploitation and development of a coal-
bed methane resource in the PRC (the “CBM Project”) under
an exclusive right granted by the PRC government to explore,
develop and produce coal-bed methane with that PRC entity as
joint operation partner until 2029. The management of the Group
sought advice from its legal advisor and has been advised that there
is a sound basis to further extend the exclusive right to 2038. The
Group has a 50% participating stake in the CBM Project. Production
sharing right is amortised by using the units of production method
based on the expected proven reserve to be extracted.

2. HEEEE »)

KAREE 2 BRCEHE - wflrrE - &F
A REFBE D BIR304 ~ 404 ~ 3210
FE M0 7 BRI LA B AR5 T LAY o

EENKEEARE —HNERRE—
Al P B b R B AR IR P B BT IR B
BEX(ERRRZERH) K - M#E
REEREBRONBREEHEM R LHA
HHhERERER(KERER DAL
MAEERNETNZEN  ARHE-F
“NEF - AKENEEED MEEREE
RMEBRBERYEEMNERSBERDIER
HEBRECERE-FERE_FT=)N\
FoARERKERBEBHEA0NSHE
e o AEDRERERHARNERL
REARBBEREEEE T ASE -

INVENTORIES 23. &
2025 2024
—E_EREF —E O
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Construction materials fEv 2,141,951 2,101,380
Value-added products and BEE M RIRE ERESR
service consumables 762,482 938,753
Properties under development BRERAYE 374,237 413,399
Natural gas KRR 322,335 470,877
LPG AL AR 594,412 691,539
Consumables, spare parts and HER - BEREME
other materials 89,278 115,332
4,284,695 4,731,280
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES

BREE BfE

2025 2024
—EBC-EHF T NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Contract assets — current EHREE — I
Construction contracts in gas pipeline MREEREREEGL
construction 11,753,650 10,260,982
Contract liabilities — current EHEE — B
Construction contracts in gas pipeline MREBRENEESD
construction 1,554,742 1,728,220
Purchase of natural gas, LPG and other sales BEE XAR - WL AHRE
HihiHE 6,366,746 6,840,041
7,921,488 8,568,261

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
Contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration
for work completed because the rights are conditional on the
Group's future performance in achieving specified milestones on
the contract work. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

As at 1 April 2023, contract assets amounted to HK$12,706,697,000
and contract liabilities amounted to HK$9,080,132,000.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

EBHEERASENCBRTREPNE
im 2 AR 75 U AR FE X (B A R (1) R AR 75
BEGRME)  ERBEEBMBHRS LR
9 R EIRE - ik - JT‘&E%Z, HEASE
BB E R R AR HER) - DR F e
FHEBRENAZRZN - ANEEE
EFNAEERD TR TERIRRED
R RRRE REN AR AEEARK
ERA N TN ERRRER - TEE
T EEMBNKAEGNE  G0E
ENEBEEFRYRE -

EHRBEEASERE AT KERE
(HEIHEBMZRE) > MARTFEZE
SRS RBHRT

HEANHEBEZAENEERENABR
FFREEANRNES -

RZZE-_=FMW™A—A8 -
12,706,697,000/% 7T -
9,080,132,0005 JT, °

:.,\\"]E%E‘JZ%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued) 24. EHEE BB w

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
assets and contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Construction contracts in respect of gas pipeline
construction

The Group’s revenue from gas pipeline construction contracts is
measured using the input method. The Group requires certain
customers to provide upfront deposits before the commencement
of the construction as part of its credit risk management policies.

FEOHMANANEERANEGEE
RO ZES SRR TS

SEERER

pid
i

AEENMREEEREQBATIER
WAL E - AREERETEFPRIE
TREAMEHRSRSE  FREEER
SERHRAN &

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the HRAEEERHRERLERBPAZER
Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle. ZEANEBE HBZZEENEENIR

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction
commences, this gives rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit.

Purchase of natural gas and LPG

For the sales of natural gas to household customers, the Group
generally requires advance payment before the usage of the
natural gas through prepaid cards. The charge of the actual usage
of natural gas will be deducted directly from the balance of the
prepaid cards. The customers can only consume the natural gas
up to the balance of the prepaid cards. For certain industrial and
commercial customers, the Group requires advance payment before
the usage of the natural gas, and bills any shortage against the
periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural gas. This
gives rise to contract liabilities until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contract reaches/exceeds the amount of advance payment.

WA RERETREZFKREZRE - Al
RENFREELANEE EE2HH
BRFERNBABBRE SRS

BERARIBRILAHR

RARXEEFPHERARMNS » A5E
BEEERNEATEMRZATEETE
MREMFIEA - EARRARZERKE
HEZRBEN RORENR - RFEP
AEFRARAREERN RHENTR
Ik AEEERETIHEERPRER
RARBITAN KA - LK ARER
ERNEHERERNETAER - &5
EERNAE  EEZHEMAAOMERD
WAZESD, BBENSERL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

Purchase of natural gas and LPG (Continued)

For the sales of LPG, the Group requires advance payments from
certain customers for the sales of LPG which gives rise to contract
liabilities until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract
exceeds the amount of advance payment.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates
to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

Elnqﬁé/ié{E (#8&)

BE RARKRILARAR ()

E‘Mﬁ BIEAHRME @ AEEEEKX

ETEPHEE RO mRIENK
HEAAWNAR HEHBES ,\\’]Ffrﬁﬁw
M ANBBBENEEMLE

TREJCEANPAREESNAR
BRNRELFZHEBITNROER
BRZE®E -

Purchase of

natural gas,
Construction LPG and
contracts other sales
BERAR
BB MR R
BREN HitigH &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_E-—RE=ZHA=+—H
LFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the F#HERBERA O BELEH
contract liabilities balance at the beginning  BJUA
of the year 1,728,220 6,840,041
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-E-WHE=HA=+—H
LLFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FHERBRENES N A ELEH
contract liabilities balance at the beginning  BJUYA
of the year 2,020,536 7,059,596

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in
note 39.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

BREEZREMMSFFITHNME39 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EZEWARE R HA BRI
2025 2024
—E-RHEF —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade receivables from contracts with BERFAYELXNE S ERKEEE
customers 6,748,869 6,684,417
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,049,187) (1,060,618)
Trade receivables, net g 5 EWARIBF 58 5,699,682 5,623,799
Deposits paid for construction and TITREFEMVBE RS
other materials 1,286,794 1,474,578
Deposits paid for purchase of natural gas BERARKBICAHRR
and LPG [EENE & 2,706,018 3,067,304
Advance payments to sub-contractors BT OB 5IE 1,055,454 1,046,921
Rental and utilities deposits Hek AAEEZLS 433,036 521,239
Other tax recoverable EAth AUk 1B IR 664,278 663,550
Other receivables and deposits HpfEWERIE R RS 2,039,018 1,675,697
Consideration receivable from disposal and  HEWB AT RMEAREE
winding up of subsidiaries (note 37) FEWARAE (M7E37) 282,021 —
Prepaid operating expenses TR E M 1,323,650 1,376,951
Amounts due from non-controlling WP /&8 A B FEE AR M 2 SR IR
interests of subsidiaries 72,548 69,559
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments E i fEUGARIE - #7¢ LA FIA 9,862,817 9,895,799

5 e Y AR TR e H At FE UK AR TR

Total trade and other receivables Fak 15,562,499 15,519,598
As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers R-ZZE-_=ZFNA—B BFANELE
(net of allowance for credit losses) amounted to HK$6,282,627,000. WE SEKER(HNBERBEAEE) A

6,282,627,0008 7T °

Other than certain major customers with good repayment history BRETHREHERT I IERRPEARE
to which the Group allows a longer credit period or settlement EAEFERREEHS DRI - &K
by instalment basis, the Group generally allows an average credit EE-RAEE S ERFRETH302180
period of 30 to 180 days to its trade customers. HZEEH-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into
contracts with an independent third party (the “Entrusted Party”),
pursuant to which the Group has agreed to entrust the Entrusted
Party with trade receivables in the gas connection segment of
amounting to approximately RMB2,471,000,000 (approximately
HK$2,730,387,000) in aggregate, for the purpose of the issuance
of debt financing instruments backed by the cash flow generated
from the trade receivables. Management of the Group assessed
that, through the contracts with the Entrusted Party, the Group
has transferred all the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
and transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the trade receivables to the Entrusted Party. The Group
derecognised the related trade receivables of RMB2,471,000,000
(approximately HK$2,730,387,000) during the year ended 31
March 2024 upon completion of transfer and recognised a loss
on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost of
HK$237,601,000 in other gains and losses.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of

25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

B 2 B ARE R H Atb FE U AR TE

PPN
(%8)

REBEZE-_ET-_NMF=ZA=+—8IF
E AEBE-EZ2BIF=F([XET
HJ)JI 4Bl AEEERES
TA AN ARE2,471,000,0007T (£
2 730,387,000 70 ) A RIER D E 5
JEWBRB TR EFTH > UBITUESE
WREEENREREERNEBRE
TH AEBEETEETE  BBHEXE
HAMAEH  AEBEERHEWREUE
SRENENRIRERE ZEKERE
R ERID BB &RER TS ET
B AEBRERERERIEEREE
—ECNFEZAZ+—HIEFERNARE
Z 5 e ERIA A R ¥52,471,000,0007T (49
2,730,387,000/87 L) + WA E Uz K 85
BRERRIEERIZBERAFTEZ S M
ZER18237,601,000/8 7T °

RBEHAR RERAHZI2EFHE

allowance for credit losses presented based on invoice date at the WEETE (IR I RBE) 2B DT
end of the reporting period: PN

2025 2024

—E-RE —ZpuE

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAT

0-180 days 0Z2180H 2,377,423 2,400,788

181-365 days 181HZE365H 561,231 576,011

Over 365 days 3658 2,761,028 2,647,000

5,699,682 5,623,799

The Group has policies for allowance for credit losses which are
based on the evaluation of collectability and aged analysis of
trade receivables and on the management’s judgment including
the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
customers as well as relevant forward-looking information.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) ASSOCIATES/ 26. EW(FEM K& AT SERQ

JOINT VENTURES

Amounts due from (to) associates

Included in the balance of amounts due from associates are (i) loans
of HK$91,860,000 (2024: HK$26,422,000) which are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand; (ii) amounts that
are of trade nature of HK$80,557,000 (2024: HK$44,971,000) and
aged within 180 days based on invoice date; and (iii) a dividend
receivable of HK$4,727,000 (2024: HK$4,779,000) from associates.
A credit period of 30 to 180 days is granted to the associates for
trade amounts. Details of impairment assessment of amounts due
from associates are set out in note 39.

As at 31 March 2025, amounts due to associates of HK$57,770,000
(2024: HK$81,760,000) are of trade nature and aged within 180
days based on invoice date.

Amounts due from (to) joint ventures

Included in the balance of amounts due from joint ventures are
(i) loans of HK$59,140,000 (2024: HK$65,217,000) which are
unsecured, interest-bearing at fixed rate of 5.70% (2024: 5.70%)
per annum and repayable on demand; and (ii) amounts that are
of trade nature of HK$741,372,000 (2024: HK$2,008,153,000)
and aged within 180 days based on invoice date. A credit
period of 180 days is granted to the joint ventures for trade
amounts. The remaining balance of HK$2,705,504,000 (2024:
HK$4,241,345,000) is of non-trade nature, which is unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. Details of
impairment assessment of amounts due from joint ventures are set
out in note 39.

Included in the balance of amounts due to joint ventures are
amounts that are of trade nature of HK$153,618,000 (2024:
HK$180,704,000) and aged within 180 days based on invoice
date. The remaining balance of HK$344,440,000 (2024:
HK$185,798,000) is of non-trade nature, which is unsecured, non-
interest bearing and repayable on demand.

GIE S|

FEUR (A ) Bt R RIFRIE

AT T U B & A T%ﬁl\ 4
X 91,860,000 78 7T ( =
26,422,000 7T) Eﬁaﬁfﬁ?ﬁﬂ ‘5{151/,\
R ESREEE 5 (i)FIE80,557,000/8 7T
(ZZ VU4 : 44,971,000/ T) DB Z
SMEE MERR %;z%’*magﬁim%moa
A R FE W B 2 A BIRR B &4,727,000
BIL(ZZ_UF 4,779,000%71) o Bt
%%%&Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬂ?ﬂﬂoagsoaz
EEH - U E AR FIE 2 R EFG
FEIB RN IEE39 ©

MRZZE-_RAF=A=1+—08  EN#KE
N B)FRIA57,770,00058 7T ( —FE P4 ¢
81,760,000/ L) VBB S 1HE « FRERIZ
BEREERETA180HR °

FEW (B R E A RIFUR

AABBEAEERARREEKRZOE
59,140,000 B L ( = & — ¥ F
65,217,000/ 7T) » JHEEIR « IRETF
F&5.70B(=F —PU%F : 5.70E):t 8
i (iiyFRI8741,372,000/8 70 ( =& —PU4F :
2,008,153,00087C) HEE S 1S - IREL
RBEZARERITA180BR - REHR
IEﬁA;ém—iF%SOEZFEHH BT
45 #22,705,504,000/8 T ( — T — W4
4 241,345,000/ L) VEBIEE SIS - &
Hif - BT EREREE - BRAE
A RIFE 2 BB A BEE M RE39 ©
SFAJER A E R RFKIE4E#2 153,618,000
BIT(—Z P4 : 180,704,000/87C) Y
BESHIHE  RERBEZEAELERTA
180E|W 88 T 45£42344,440,000/8 T (=
T PO ¢ 185,798,00058 7T ) VB IEE
%IEE'%-E MR . 2 B HBERERIEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. TE€@MTE
2025 2024
—E-RF T NF
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE =L BE afE
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FET T
Derivatives under cash flow BenshestET
hedge accounting: PTETHE :
Cross currency interest rate RXEMN R BEH
swap contracts 19,868 24,818 36,512 28,757
Derivatives not under hedge FEEHREEIE T ITELA
accounting:
LPG futures contracts BIbEMRAEE L 44,230 26,597 — —
64,098 51,415 36,512 28,757

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The Group designates derivatives as hedging instruments for cash
flow hedges. At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and
the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore,
at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item

attributable to the hedged risk.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

TETAMSRIUTETAEGHBEH
M AFEER - HRANBEHRNA
FEEFHAE AKERENTETARF
RREREE P LR TR - REIHE
FEABER  AEBEE I TAEERKY
FIAR 2 HMEE - ARERREER
BLEETERE TR P 2K - Ut
S REBEGRE A MR AR
ETHFE T TARS®ER BRI HK
HhEBARRERMEHZ A FER

Renegg -



For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers whether
the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged
risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the
following hedge effectiveness requirements:

o there is an economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument;

° the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes
that result from that economic relationship; and

o the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging
instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity
of hedged item.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
and other qualifying hedging instruments that are designated and
qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated under the heading of hedging reserve,
limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item
from inception of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and
is included in the “other gains and losses” line item. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the
recognised hedged item.

27.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Cross currency interest rate swap contracts

The Group entered into cross currency interest rate swap contracts
in order to manage the Group's foreign currency exposure and
interest rate exposure in relation to the Group’s borrowings which
are denominated in HK$ and USD and with interests indexed
to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") and Secured
Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR") respectively. These cross
currency interest rate swap contracts are designated as hedging
instruments which hedge the variability in the cash flows relating
to interest and principal repayments of the underlying hedged
borrowings.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following
outstanding cross currency interest rate swap contracts:

() An aggregate notional amount of HK$1,688,700,000 (2024:
HK$1,688,700,000) that requires the Group to buy HK$ for
RMB at exchange rate of RMB0.9187 for HK$1 and change
from paying floating interest rate of HIBOR+1.10% per
annum to paying fixed rates ranging from 3.95% to 3.98%
per annum with a maturity period that matches the maturity
period of the relevant borrowings; and

(i)  An aggregate notional amount of USD283,500,000
(approximately HK$2,211,300,000) (2024: USD283,500,000
(approximately HK$2,211,300,000)) that requires the Group
to buy USD for RMB at exchange rate of RMB7.3127 for
USD1 and change from paying floating interest rate of
SOFR+1.30% per annum to paying fixed rates ranging from
3.96% to 3.99% per annum with a maturity period that
matches the maturity period of the relevant borrowings.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the fair value gain of
cross currency interest rate swap contracts that are designated
and effective as hedging instruments of HK$66,205,000 (2024:
HK$32,936,000) is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in hedging reserve. Cumulative fair value gain of
HK$78,910,000 (2024: HK$25,181,000) was reclassified to profit
or loss on realisation of cash flow hedge.

The cross currency interest rate swap contracts are measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. Details of the fair value
measurements are set out in note 39.

27.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

27.

28.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

LPG futures contracts

The Group enters into LPG futures contracts in order to mitigate
the fluctuation in market prices of LPG products in relation to its
sales of LPG business. The LPG futures contracts are designated
as hedging instruments which hedge the commodities price risk
exposures of the underlying purchases or sales of LPG.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the fair value gain of LPG
futures contracts that are designated and effective as hedging
instruments of HK$29,969,000 (2024: Nil) is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve.
Cumulative fair value gain of HK$29,969,000 (2024 Nil) was
reclassified to profit or loss on realisation of cash flow hedge. The
net fair value gain on LPG futures contracts not designated as
hedging instruments of HK$5,881,000 (2024: Nil) is recognised in
other gains and losses in note 7.

The LPG futures contracts are exchange-traded products in an active
market. The fair value is determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant exchange. The fair value of LPG

27.
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HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 28. HEEERE
2025 2024
—ECRHE —ZTE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Equity securities at fair value listed BRATEIME2ES LR
in Hong Kong EH 35,602 27,585

Held-for-trading investments as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
represent equity securities listed in Hong Kong. The fair values
of the investments are determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the Stock Exchange. The fair value of held-
for-trading investments is classified as Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy. Details of the fair value measurements are set out in note
39.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

29. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting
to HK$310,447,000 (2024: HK$185,999,000) have been pledged
to secure short-term bank loans and undrawn short-term facilities
and are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank
deposits carry fixed interest rates of 0.20% to 3.45% (2024: 0.20%
t0 2.05%) per annum.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months
or less and carry interest at market rates which range from 0.01%
t0 1.35% (2024: 0.01% to 1.35%) per annum.

The details of the Group’s pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents which are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the respective group entities are set out
below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

9. EERARITER RERAS

Z{EEE

ERBROGTREANGE FTAEE
ZIRITBREMBERTFRITZER °
310,447,000 % 7. ( = T = M F
185,999,000/ 7T ) 2 17 5k B fE K #7 AR
BEBEBTEREARRIZ EHHE -
At p AR EE - CEMIBITER
HEF020EE3L5E (T UF
0.20/2%2.05[F ) 2 EEFEET B ©

RekBeESEEBEEAEEEFZ
BERFEARZEAKARNE 2 EH
RITER  REF001ER135E(-=
TPO4E : 0.01EE1.35F) 2 BRI R
H o

AEBASHBESE LR Z2EEEI
S B EHAEZEBMRITERARLR
MRS FERE ZFFEIMOT

usbD SGD HK$
EYH N3 T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THETT THET
equivalent equivalent
8 EE
At 31 March 2025 RZEBE-_RAF=ZA=1+—H 203,784 11 71,815
At 31 March 2024 W_ZE_ME=R=+—H 534,574 855 69,387
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EZEMNRERHMENIRIE
2025 2024
—E-REF —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade and bill payables 2 S EMNRIBRENEE 12,526,559 12,969,934
Other payables and accrued charges HAb I ERIE R ESE A 1,358,934 1,756,140
Consideration payables JERE 101,818 283,200
Construction cost payables JER TIZEH 735,848 582,990
Retention payables and security deposits BURFS RiZE
received 1,252,940 1,318,370
Accrued staff costs JEET B TRCR 250,291 150,980
Loan interest payables FERTERF & 395,105 375,488
Amounts due to non-controlling interests of ~ FETH B A T IEIERR S 2B
subsidiaries (Note) (K3E) 125,391 191,649
Other payables and accruals HihFENBRIA N ETE 4,220,327 4,658,817
Total trade and other payables B 5 T ARIE N E At JE AR IE
Gk 16,746,886 17,628,751
Note: The amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are non-trade MizE : FENIB AT IEERERREAIEE S -
in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. R BB RERERRERE -
The average credit period on trade purchases and ongoing costs is BHORBRBENN 2 FHEER RO
90 to 180 days. £180H -
The following is an aged analysis of trade and bill payables RIERR - BBRZEAHEIN 2B HE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting NEEB R ENEZE VRO T ¢
period:
2025 2024
—E_RE —EE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
0-90 days 0%F90H 7,482,865 6,901,648
91-180 days 91HE180H 1,175,594 1,731,838
Over 180 days 180B A E 3,868,100 4,336,448
12,526,559 12,969,934
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HE&E
2025 2024
—E_RE —EPUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEEE :
Within one year R—FR 64,578 58,146
Within a period of more than one year A —F LA FENEBEMRE
but not more than two years 32,389 30,500
Within a period of more than two years BEMFEL AT EBRART
but not more than five years 60,509 56,693
More than five years HFLAE 36,035 27,711
193,511 173,050
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 & : 1218 B R 2| HE B 5| AR H)
months shown under current liabilities BEZHIA (64,578) (58,146)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 121 3 & B HAE 2 5 A IE 7R &)
shown under non-current liabilities AEzHIE 128,933 114,904
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease EHAREEAENNEEHEEEEF
liabilities is 4.64% (2024: 4.64%). RBA64%(ZFZIUF : 4.64%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

32. RITREMEE

2025 2024
—E_RE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Bank and other borrowings comprise the RITRAMBEREATEE
following:
Bank borrowings RITEE 40,551,687 45,359,660
Other borrowings HbfEE 19,679,110 13,705,695
60,230,797 59,065,355
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MMERERMEHNAE
Current E) 21,081,999 23,043,420
Non-current JEFEY 39,148,798 36,021,935
60,230,797 59,065,355
Secured EoRiigi 5,893,052 6,705,324
Unsecured Eii i 54,337,745 52,360,031
60,230,797 59,065,355
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

32. RITREMEE®)

Bank borrowings

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

Other borrowings

RITHEE HitfgE
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZECRE —ToMFE ZB-HE —TOMF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT FE T T
The maturity profile of the above _Eit{E & > FIHAIER
borrowings is as follows: O
On demand or within one year ~ HREREBESHN—FA 17,965,694 19,930,314 3,116,305 3,113,106
Within a period of more than RE—F A BT
one year but not more than BES
two years 7,069,010 15,210,395 658,826 727,358
Within a period of more than REARFLA LB EA
two years but not more than RF
five years 13,443,081 8,171,883 14,350,809 8,216,918
More than five years AFUE 2,073,902 2,047,068 1,553,170 1,648,313
40,551,687 45,359,660 19,679,110 13,705,695
Less: Amount due within one B —FARESARE
year shown under current BfERIE
liabilities (17,965,694) (19,930,314) (3,116,305) (3,113,106)
Amount due after one year —F1&EERSIASERB
shown under non-current BEZHIE
liabilities 22,585,993 25,429,346 16,562,805 10,592,589
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

32. RITREMEE®)

2025 2024
—EBC-EHF —E e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 28,358,231 24,349,587
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE
— HIBOR for offshore RMB(“CNH HIBOR") — EHEIRITRIEAREIKE
plus 0.11% to 1.00% ([EBRITRAEAREF
(2024: CNH HIBOR B S0 11EZE1.00E
plus 0.11% to 1.00%) ZEDNE - FHARTA
FAREHFESM0NE
%1.00E) 1,855,484 2,565,227
— HIBOR plus 1.15% to 1.20% — BILRITRZEREESM
(2024: HIBOR plus 1.10% to 1.20%) 1.15EE1.20B(-ZE M
F BT BRITREREE
SN 10E=1.20/2) 2,387,625 3,692,926
— SOFR plus 1.30% (2024: SOFR plus — BEREERBREFESIN
1.00% to 1.30%) 1.30EB(=Z 4 :
BERERBRENER X
SAN1.00EE1.30E) 2,211,300 4,091,100
— Base rate of the People’s Bank of China  — B A RIFTTEER|= 25,418,157 24,366,515
60,230,797 59,065,355

Other borrowings mainly include: (i) other borrowings from
certain financial institutions of HK$4,302,766,000 (2024:
HK$5,131,787,000) which are secured by property, plant and
equipment, carry interest ranging from 3.18% to 4.17% (2024:
from 3.18% to 4.17%) per annum and repayable in 2029 to 2034
(2024: 2029 to 2032); (ii) corporate bonds and super and short-
term commercial papers in the PRC of HK$7,311,828,000 (2024:
HK$4,025,000,000) which are unsecured, carry interest ranging
from 1.87% to 3.00% (2024: 2.20% to 3.20%) per annum and
repayable in 2025 to 2029 (2024: 2025 to 2029); and (iii) the
Company'’s corporate bonds as disclosed below.

HiEEFEBE  ((REETEmEE
B E {th f£54,302,766,00058 7T (ZE =
& :5,131,787,000/87L) * U - B
B REEBIEER - BN TF318ER417E
(ZZE - 318EFE417E) NEF
i E  WEAR-_ZE-_NFE_ZFT=N
F(ZZ_WF: TN EFE_T=—
FI)MMEEERZ  WRPENAFESR
R ¥ E57,311,828,0008 L (=
—PO4 : 4,025,000,000/87T) @ AE
I BN F1.87EE3.00E(- -
&1 220FE=3.208 ) MFEFEFTE jr
/EﬁA T-RFE T 71¢<_?
F —HEEZ hi)ﬁﬁﬁﬁfé
Z &(m)zlx TTYP)’T%&E@E’J AfES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HEZ—=Z

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

The details of the corporate bonds of the Company as included in

32. $RITK

HMEE @

AAEMEBEZARRNARESFIS

the other borrowings are as follows: A
2025 2024
—E-RF T4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Corporate bond 1 (Note i) AREH(FIEE) = 1,086,956
Corporate bond 2 (Note ii) NRIEH2(FsEi) 1,612,903 1,630,435
Corporate bond 3 (Note iii) ~alfEH3(KIaEi) 1,612,903 1,630,435
Corporate bond 4 (Note iv) NEEFA(FEEV) 860,215 —
Corporate bond 5 (Note v) NafEHES(KiFEy) 1,290,323 —
Corporate bond 6 (Note vi) NalEHE6(KiFtvi) 1,075,269 —
Corporate bond 7 (Note vii) N EIEHT (K sEvii) 1,075,269 —
Corporate bond 8 (Note viii) A AEHS (Pt #viil) 537,634 —
8,064,516 4,347,826

Notes: Hi5E

(i) The corporate bond of RMB1 billion was issued with coupon and effective (i) ZAREFABAREI0ET _Z:

(i)

(iii)

interest rate of 3.38% per annum through private placement in PRC on
10 March 2020 and maturity date on 10 March 2025. The corporate bond
is tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, the corporate bond matured and was
redeemed in full.

The corporate bond of RMB1.5 billion was issued with coupon and
effective interest rate of 3.15% per annum through private placement in
the PRC on 6 September 2023 and maturity date on 6 September 2028.
The corporate bond is tradable in the National Interbank Bond Market of
the PRC.

The corporate bond of RMB1.5 billion was issued with coupon and
effective interest rate of 3.20% per annum through private placement in
the PRC on 18 October 2023 and maturity date on 18 October 2028. The
corporate bond is tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the
PRC.

(ii)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HEZ—=Z

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The corporate bond of RMB800 million was issued with coupon and
effective interest rate of 2.46% per annum through private placement
in the PRC on 20 May 2024 and maturity date on 20 May 2029. The
corporate bond is tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the
PRC.

The corporate bond of RMB1.2 billion was issued with coupon and
effective interest rate of 2.37% per annum through private placement in
the PRC on 8 July 2024 and maturity date on 8 July 2029. The corporate
bond is tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC.

The corporate bond of RMB1 billion was issued with coupon and effective
interest rate of 2.37% per annum through private placement in PRC on
15 July 2024 and maturity date on 15 July 2029. The corporate bond is
tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC.

The corporate bond of RMB1 billion was issued with coupon and effective
interest rate of 2.20% per annum through private placement in PRC on
24 February 2025 and maturity date on 24 February 2030. The corporate
bond is tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC.

The corporate bond of RMB500 million was issued with coupon and
effective interest rate of 2.27% per annum through private placement in
the PRC on 21 January 2025 and maturity date on 21 January 2032. The
corporate bond is tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the
PRC.

32. RITREMEE®)

BRE - ()

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ZRRIEFRYBARKBOBEL =
ZoMFERR T HEPBALE A
7 _mﬂT&a%ﬂTHQEZME
ﬂ%ﬁﬁ “hERAZ +E°& Gl
%%Tm¢léﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%m

K-z

—?

ZREEFRBARE122ET
—HFEEANBEFBALE T AET
SRMERERNEATF237E » B
ZAFEELANR - ZRREFA
RHE2BERITEERTISRS -

ZRARMEFRBARKI0ET  R_F
THEEA+RAAERBERLES A
T BENEREBEMNEREF237E -

ﬂ%ﬂ%fthitﬂ+£5°& Gl
BRARhE2ERITEESTS

ZAREEBBARKI0EL B2
_£¢ A=+ HBERB LSS A 8
BRENXRERFNELSTF2.20E -
W%E% T=TF A= +mao¢ﬂ
AEH AT EZEETREESFNSERS

ZARIEHFABHMARKS00BET KT
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m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 32. BITRAEMEE @)
The range of effective interest rates on the Group’s borrowings are REBESZERFERMERBEMNT -
as follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZTpuE
Effective interest rates per annum: BEBREF X
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 0.70% -3.80% 0.90% - 5.50%
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE 0.90% - 6.60% 3.00% —6.65%
The details of the Group’s borrowings which are denominated in REEINEHEZEEFERIAT ¢
foreign currencies are set out below:
Japanese Yen Renminbi
("JPY") RMB
H ARYE
(THEL) (AR)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
equivalent equivalent
EE EE
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_RF=A=+—H 280,329 698,924
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_WNF=A=+—H 297,974 —
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. R
Convertible
Ordinary shares preference shares Total
EER MRRELR by
No. of shares No. of shares
‘000 at '000 at
HK$0.01 each HK$'000  HK$1.00 each HK$'000 HK$'000
BiREE.01 BiREE1.00
TTH) B TCH)
Tl THEL FhrkE Fhr ThEL

Authorised ET 9,000,000 90,000 124,902 124,902 214,902

Issued and fully paid: BEIRAR

At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FNA-AH 5,440,336 54,403 — — 54,403

Shares repurchased (Note ) BB R (i3H) (4,763) (47) - — 47)

31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=+—H 5,435,573 54,356 — — 54,356

Shares issued for scrip dividends AURREMETHIR

(Note ii) (BrsEi) 12,580 126 — — 126

At 31 March 2025 WZE-RF=A=1—H 5,448,153 54,482 — — 54,482

Notes: fFEE -

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company or its subsidiaries 0] HE-—Z-WNE=—B=+—HQIEE
repurchased a total of 4,762,600 shares of the Company on the Stock AAFREWEB L AR FERES
Exchange at an aggregate repurchase costs of HK$43,911,000, inclusive 44,762,600 I8 A 2 7B 15 - 42 [B] B AR
of total consideration paid of HK$43,723,000 and related transaction & 7/%43 '911 00035 7T (B4 B 1 1@ &1%
costs of HK$188,000. 43,723,000 7t % 48 B 3 5 A% 7K 188,000

BT °
Price per share
BRER
No. of Aggregate
ordinary shares consideration
of HK$0.01 each Highest Lowest paid
BRER

0.018712 ERRE
EERREY B& R hy
Month of repurchase EEAR HKS HKS HK$'000
BT BT FEL
May 2023 e 4,762,600 9.31 9.01 43,723

All the above repurchased shares had been cancelled. P BRI IG E FTEH

(ii) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company issued 1,866,027
new ordinary shares pursuant to the scrip dividend scheme in relation to
the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 10,713,542 new
ordinary shares pursuant to the scrip dividend scheme in relation to the
interim dividend for the six months ended 30 September 2024. The new

shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

(ii)

HE-_Z-_AF=A=+t—HItEE XK
ARRBEABRREFEREZ =2 =N
FZA-t+—HILEFEZRHARE T
1,866,027 % & imA% + WARME AR BT
g =T -_WFNAA=THIEAMEA
Z R EARS B EE1T10,713, 5428 5 @A o
HROES A EREERG ZEERMH

fiz o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax

balances for financial reporting purposes:

34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34. IEERIR
The following is the deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised and N TERAREERBFEEZCOERE
movements thereon during the current and prior years. ERIB(BE)BREAKLABES) o
Fair value
adjustment Impairment
on property, on trade
plantand and other Other  Impairment
Accelerated  Revaluation  equipment receivables  payables on property,
tax on and right-of- Tax  Intangible and contract and  plantand
depreciation  properties  use assets losses assets assets accruals  equipment Total
n% BE BARYRE
RRENR REMEN  EfEH ES
IniEBEE fmkgE RERAH KER BER
fE  ¥EM 2AVENE  FEEE  BREE  4ENWE  EHER RENE @t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
TEn TER TERL TEn TEn TER TERL TEn TEn
At 1 April 2023 RZZZ=%MA-A 337,438 214,557 127315 (481,065) 762,789 (421,583) (81,417) (28,204) 429,830
Exchange adjustments ERHE (17.837) (8750) (6085 27940  (31010) 11839 4020 1380 (24603)
Charge (credt)to profit orloss ERRERTIRGIA)
for the year (note 9 (Fizo) 5963 @5 B0 @8TAM9) (L4 21%) (230 - (132989
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ME=A=1-H 445,564 178,653 112,520 (940,574) 694,538 (411,940) (79,699) (26,824) (27,762)
Bxchange adjustments BiA% (5651) (74 (1011)  139M (6,718) 5,838 857 288 5710
(Credlt) charge to profit or loss ErpEaP GrA )Mk
for the year (note 9 (Fzo) (39911)  (109%) (8616  (M573)  (We31)  (422)  51,IM - (u4882)
Disposal and winding up of HENBLARNBLAER
subsidiaries (note 37) (MH37) (2.220) - — 48,210 = — — = 45,986
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RF=A=1-H 397,178 165,919 102,833 (950,026) 643,189 (430,374) (27,670) (26536)  (124,887)
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement M2V GEABRRAEMS - 5 TFIELE

MEEENAED TEE - L TN REH

BE s BT RS

DT

2025 2024

—EC-EHF —EoEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T FHIT

Deferred tax assets FREFRTBE = (1,438,737) (1,459,037)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFHIBEAGE 1,313,850 1,431,275
(124,887) (27,762)

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profit earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onward. No deferred taxation has been provided for
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC entities
amounting to HK$73,727,277,000 (2024: HK$70,602,480,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Majority of the joint ventures and associates established in the
PRC are held directly by certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Group established in the PRC which are therefore not subject to the
above-mentioned withholding tax.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of HK$18,131,580,000 (2024: HK$18,407,909,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of HK$3,859,598,000 (2024:
HK$3,821,798,000) of the tax losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised for the remaining estimated tax losses of
HK$14,271,982,000 (2024: HK$14,586,111,000) due to the
uncertainty of future profits streams. Included in unrecognised
estimated tax losses are losses of HK$2,967,131,000 (2024:
HK$4,146,323,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year of
origination which is ranged from 2026 to 2029 (2024: 2025 to
2028). Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

34. &

BREBECEMSHE BT N\F—
A—RAR P HEWELQEMERR2
wm AT E R R B ABKEN - 4R
Aﬁﬁﬁi&%iﬂiﬁxﬂtﬂlﬁiiéﬁﬁﬂ
73,727,277,000  jt ( =& = Y 4F
70,602 480000,%75)2@*51#%%{’&%%
ERIEEE  RERANEERE I%IJ%@
TR R BEREREAAE
A B R E o

REBORPEXLNEERRMEBER
AR AEEEFEXZZET2EM
BAREERE  RItHAGM LA
O ©

RHEBRBR - AEBE A NIKHE
AR BH 2B ABABHEBIE
4 18,131,580,000 & 7t ( — & = [T
% : 18,407,909,000 7 T ) o O #t
3,859,598,000 & jt ( — & — MW &
3,821,798,000/%8 7T ) 2 Fi 1B B 18 HERIE
Eﬁlﬁﬁ’éﬁ%_ o B AR AR T AR A T i

C H e ET R IE 618 14,271,982,000
,%75(_ — P4 ¢ 14,586,111,000 7%
TL) WEBREERIBEE o RERME
;.erﬁﬁiﬁaq:@%@uﬁ*iﬁ_y_/\
FEZZNF(ZTEZMEF -
—ﬂiifyf/\iﬂsﬁﬁ)bﬂim):
W2 2,967,131,000/8 T ( —F W4
4,146,323,0007T ) 7 518 o EfE1EA]
IR AL o

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 HEIMFIZBRAER DT 2024258 1§ E

153



154

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (employee share-based compensation reserve).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate
of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based on
an assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-
based compensation reserve. For share awards/share options that
vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
awards/share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in employee share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.

When share awards granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve and the
amount of the relevant share awards (presented under treasury
shares reserve) will be transferred to accumulated profits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company

A share option scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
passed on 20 August 2013 (“Old Share Option Scheme”).
The purpose of the Old Share Option Scheme is to grant share
options to eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Old Share Option Scheme was
terminated and replaced by a new share option scheme (“New
share Option Scheme"”) on 23 August 2023.

The OIld Share Option Scheme

The eligible persons as defined in the Old Share Option
Scheme are individuals or entities who or which may
participate in the Old Share Option Scheme (“Eligible
Persons”). The following individuals or entities who in
the absolute discretion of the board of directors of the
Company have contributed to the Group on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group
may participate in the Scheme:

(i) an eligible employee;

(i) a non-executive director and an independent non-
executive director of any member of the Group;

(i) an agent or a consultant of any member of the Group;

(iv) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any director or employee of such supplier;

(v)  acustomer of any member of the Group or any director
or employee of such customer;

(vi)  person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy
or professional services to any member of the Group or
any director or employee of any such entity;

(vii) a subsidiary of the Company; and

(viii) a company in which the Company holds, either directly
or indirectly, 20% or more of its equity interest.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BBk A

ERBETENMRAENAERA
T2 EBERRE SMNEASL
ER(AERALD - ARAES
SERUTEALERBHAREN
BRIMERMIFNER - REEY
HERERRETEHAEEER
Bt RIS 8aagEtEl

)y AEREER:

(i) AKBEMKERFZIFH
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(i) ARBEMKERFZRIE
SR

vy AREEAKERBEZEY
SRR EE AR BEREZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

The OIld Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The maximum number of shares available for subscription is as
follows:

(i)

(i)

Subject to the Listing Rules, the maximum number
of the shares of the Company subject to outstanding
unvested or vested options under the Old Share Option
Scheme and outstanding options under other share
option scheme of the Company (if any) must not exceed
30% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 20
August 2013 (“Overriding Limit”). No options may be
granted if it will result in this Overriding Limit being
exceeded.

Subject to the Overriding Limit, paragraphs (iii) and (iv)
below, the total number of shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
must not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at 20 August 2013 (subject to adjustment in
the event of a capitalisation issue or rights issue or open
offer of shares of the Company, or consolidation, sub-
division or reduction of share capital of the Company
(other than an issue of shares of the Company as
consideration in respect of a transaction)) (“Mandate
Limit”). Unless approved pursuant to paragraphs (iii) or
(iv) below, no options may be granted if such grant will
result in the Mandate Limit being exceeded. Options
lapsed according to the terms of the Old Share Option
Scheme or other share option scheme(s) will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the Mandate
Limit.

35.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

The OIld Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Subject to the Overriding Limit and an approval of
shareholders of the Company, the Company may from
time to time “refresh” a Mandate Limit provided that
the total number of shares of the Company which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the limit as “refreshed” must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at the date
of the resolution to approve the “refreshed” limit
(“Refresher Date”). Options previously granted (whether
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed (according to the Old
Share Option Scheme or the other share option schemes
of the Company) or exercised) will not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the limit as “refreshed”. The
Company can seek the approval of shareholders of the
Company to “refresh” a Mandate Limit any number
of times as the board of directors of the Company
considers appropriate. Unless approved pursuant to
paragraph (iv) below, the board of directors of the
Company cannot grant any options on or after the
Refresher Date if such grant will result in the Mandate
Limit as refreshed being exceeded. On 21 August 2019,
the Company obtained the approval of shareholders to
refresh the Mandate Limit, which represents 10% of
the total issued share capital of the Company on that
day.

Subject to the Overriding Limit and a specific approval
of shareholders of the Company, the board of directors
of the Company may grant options to Eligible Persons
identified by the board of directors of the Company.
If the approval of shareholders of the Company is
obtained, the board of directors of the Company may
grant options to any Eligible Person in respect of such
number of shares of the Company and on such terms
as specified in that approval of shareholders of the
Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

The OIld Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme must be
taken up within 20 business days of the date of grant and pay
the Company the amount payable, if any, on acceptance of
the option. Any option under the Old Share Option Scheme
which has vested, in respect of which all conditions attaching
to it have satisfied and which has not lapsed may be exercised
at any time, by no option may be exercised if such exercise
would, in the opinion of the board of directors of the
Company, be in breach of the Old Share Option Scheme, any
applicable law, rule or regulation or the terms and conditions
of the relevant option granted under the Old Share Option
Scheme.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant;
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s share.

The New Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to (a)
recognise and reward the contribution of certain eligible
participants to the growth and development of the Group
and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; and (b)
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group.

The New Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on 23 August 2023.

The eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme
include the Employee Participants, the Service Providers and
the Related Entity Participants (each, an “Eligible Participant”,
as defined below).

“Employee Participants” include any director and employee of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)
The New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

“Service Providers” include any person who provide services
to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary
and usual course of business which are in the interests of
the long-term growth of the Group, including the following
persons:

(i) consultants providing business consulting services to the
Group, in relation to the Company’s principal business
activities involving sale of natural gas, gas connection,
engineering design and construction, sale of LPG and
value-added services (which include the sale of kitchen-
focused household products and services, value-added
services provided to corporate customers, customer
pipeline maintenance and the sale of value-added
products and services for government-led projects) and
any other principal business activities the Company may
engage in from time to time; and

(i) persons or entities that provide marketing,
public relations, investor relations and corporate
communications-related and other professional services
to any member of the Group.

For the avoidance of doubt, Service Providers may not
include placing agents or financial advisers providing advisory
services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions, as well as
professional service providers such as auditors or valuers who
provide assurance or are required to perform their services
with impartiality and objectivity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

“Related Entity Participants” include the directors, chief
executive and employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company,
provided that the board of directors shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether or not one falls within such
category.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon the exercise of all share options to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 544,033,577,
representing 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
on the adoption date of the New Share Option Scheme, i.e.
23 August 2023, on which the New Share Option Scheme
was adopted by resolutions of the Shareholders, unless the
Company obtains an approval from the Shareholders pursuant
to the conditions set out in the New Share Option Scheme.

Subject to certain performance targets and clawback
mechanism as further set out in the New Share Option
Scheme, the total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options and awards
granted to each Eligible Participant or grantee (including
exercised and outstanding options but excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of such
schemes) in any twelve (12)-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at the date of grant.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Options for the time being outstanding may be exercised in
whole or in part at any time during the option period. In order
for the exercise of an option to be effective, the Company
must, prior to the expiry of the option period, have received: (i)
a written notice from the option holder exercising the option,
signed by or on behalf of the such holder and specifying
the number of shares of the Company in respect of which
the option is being exercised; and (ii) payment in full of an
amount equal to the exercise price multiplied by the relevant
number of shares of the Company in respect of which such
option is exercised.

Notwithstanding anything in provisions under the New Share
Option Scheme to the contrary, the option period shall not
be extended and, on the expiry of the option period, all rights
in respect of an option for the time being outstanding shall
terminate, except in so far as there has been an effective
exercise of that option prior thereto and the Company has
not discharged all its obligations under the New Share Option
Scheme in relation to such exercise.

Save for certain circumstances prescribed in the New Share
Option Scheme, an option must be held by the option holder
for at least 12 months before the option can be exercised.

To accept an offer to grant an option, an amount of
HK$10.00 per option shall be payable by the Eligible
Participant within ten (10) business day from the date of
grant.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The exercise price (subject to adjustments set out in the New
Share Options Scheme) shall be determined on the date of
grant at the absolute discretion of the board of directors
of the Company as an amount per share which shall be at
least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant, which must be a trading day;
(b) the average of the closing prices of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five (5) trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant, provided that the exercise
price shall be subject to adjustment in accordance with the
provisions set out in the New Share Options Scheme.

Information about the share options granted by
the Company

On 23 April 2020, 268,720,400 share options were granted
by the Company to certain directors of the Company, certain
employees of the Group and eligible persons. The vesting
period of the options is from 23 April 2020 to 31 December
2026, and the options may be exercised on or after 15
October 2023. The exercise of the options will be subject to
the satisfaction of either one of the conditions: (i) the Group's
audited net profits after tax (before share-based payment
expenses) and deduction of net profit after tax attributable
to non-controlling interests for any of the financial years
ending on or before 31 March 2022 based on the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group amounts to
HK$14 billion or above; or (ii) if the above condition is not
fulfilled, the options may be exercised if the Group’s audited
net profit after tax (before share-based payment expenses)
and deduction of net profit after tax attributable to non-
controlling interests for the financial year ending 31 March
2023 based on the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group amounts to HK$15 billion or above. The options
will lapse if none of the above conditions is satisfied within
the validity period of the options.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

Information about the share options granted by
the Company (Continued)

All outstanding share options granted on 23 April 2020
lapsed on 5 July 2023 as none of the above conditions had
been satisfied.

On 24 May 2023, 3,000,000 share options were granted by
the Company to an external consultant of the Group. The
exercise of the options is subject to the grantee meeting
the performance targets to be determined by the Company
from time to time, and the Company will determine whether
the grantee meets such performance targets based on the
performance appraisal results and taking into account factors
such as the grantee’s contributions towards the long-term
development of the Company. Exercise of the options is also
subject to the condition that a grantee shall remain as an
external consultant of the Company at the time of exercise
of options. In addition, the options will lapse on the date
of a grantee ceasing to provide service to the Company, or
in the event of serious misconduct, bankruptcy, insolvency,
conviction of any criminal offence, or other breach of the
terms of his service contract by the grantee, among other
things, unless otherwise determined by the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

Information about the share options granted by
the Company (Continued)

The estimated fair value of the options granted on the date of
grant was HK$5,796,000. The fair value of the share options
granted was calculated by using the Binomial Options Pricing
Model. The variables and assumptions used in computing the
fair value of the options were based on the directors’ best
estimates. The value of a share option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. The following
assumptions were used to calculate the fair value of the share
options:

Closing price in valuation date HK$9.55
Exercise price HK$10.50
Expected life of option 2 years
Annualised validity 49%
Expected dividend yield 5.76%
Risk-free interest rate 3.60%
Exercise multiple 2.20

No share options were granted by the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2025. No share options were exercised
for both years.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, share-based payment
expense in respect of the share options granted on 24 May
2023 of HK$2,898,000 (2024: HK$2,477,000) is recognised.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remaining outstanding
is 3,000,000 (2024: 3,000,000), representing 0.055% (2024:
0.055%) of the shares of the Company.

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

. BRESERURGERAR
B )

(A) ARBBREE )

BRAQFAREZBREZER

(#&)

RES AR EOERENGHETA
F1H A5,796,0008 70 © & HHEE
R N FE T ER BT
BEMNTE - STEERE AFE
RERMAERERBRIERE
EMEEGE c BEREEESR
AT EHBREMTRPEEZMN

ot EEREATERERTIA
INCEE

FHE B TE 9.5587C
IEE 10.5078 7T
SRS 2~ TE R4 HP 24
FEAEHE 49%
TEHARR B U as K 5.76%
[ e | R 3.60%
TTFEREE 2.20

HE_ZT_RF=A=+—HIL*F
B - ARSI ERAE o W
(B4 R A T T

HE-Z-_RF=A=+—"HItF
B gR-_E-_=F1A=-+mA
B 2 BRI R AR D T R A 3k
32,898,000/ 70 ( = & :
2,477,00057T) °

R-E-_RAF=A=+—H8 B
B M ARTTE BRI S R MRS
£ H /43,000,0000% (= Z Z U4 :
3,000,000 8% ) * 15 A& & &1 {19 7Y
0.055% (== —PU%F : 0.055%) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

Information about the share options granted by
the Company (Continued)

The following table discloses details of the Company’s
share options held by employees (including directors of the
Company) and movements in such holdings during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024:
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exercisable price 1 April 31 March 31 March 2024 and
Date of grant period per share 2023 2024 2024 2025
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MEEREERE
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Weighted average exercise price 23.80 10.50
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(A) Share option schemes of the Company (Continued)

(B)

Information about the share options granted by
the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The vesting period of the options is from 23 April 2020 to 31
December 2026, and the options may be exercised on or after
15 October 2023 subject to the performance targets as disclosed
above. The share options lapsed on 5 July 2023 as none of the
conditions had been satisfied.

(ii) The vesting period of the options is from 24 May 2023 to 23
May 2025, after which the options may be exercised subject to
the performance target and exercise condition and clawback
mechanism as disclosed above.

Share award scheme of the Company

The Company adopted the share award scheme on 27
November 2020 (the “Share Award Scheme”). Pursuant to the
Share Award Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may from time to time at its absolute discretion select eligible
persons including the directors, senior management and
consultant of any member of the Group and employee of
any member of the Group to participate in the Share Award
Scheme and determine the shares to be awarded. The Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of 10
years commencing on the adoption date.

The board of directors of the Company shall not make any
further award of shares under the Share Award Scheme
which will result in the total nominal value of the aggregate
of shares awarded by the board of directors of the Company
under the scheme exceeding 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time. For the avoidance of
doubt, the awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Award Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the limit of the scheme. The maximum number of
shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under
the scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company in any 12-month period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

(B) Share award scheme of the Company (Continued)

Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited (“Tricor”) was appointed as
a trustee of the Share Award Scheme. Subject to the terms
and conditions of the Share Award Scheme and the fulfilment
of all vesting conditions, the shares awarded held by the
trustee on behalf of a selected participant shall vest in such
selected participant and the trustee shall transfer the shares
to such selected participant.

Tricor did not purchase shares of the Company during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

On 8 October 2021, China Gas Capital Management Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
total return swap transaction (the “TRS Transaction”) with
Nomura Singapore Limited (the “TRS Counterparty”) in order
to hedge its exposure to future share price appreciation in
connection with the Share Award Scheme. Please refer to
the Announcement of the Company dated 8 October 2021
for details. In connection with the termination of the TRS
Transaction, any shares acquired by the TRS Counterparty
may be sold to the trustee. As informed by TRS Counterparty,
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the TRS
Counterparty did not purchase shares of the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, Tricor and the TRS Counterparty hold
15,739,800 (2024: 15,754,800) shares and 37,000,000
(2024: 37,000,000) shares of the Company for the purpose
of the Share Award Scheme.

On 19 September 2022, a total of 45,000 share awards
divided into three tranches of 15,000 each were granted to
a selected employee. The share awards are subject to certain
performance conditions and have no cash exercise price.
The estimated fair value of share awards granted on 19
September 2022 amounted to HK$513,000, which is based
on the market price of the relevant shares at the grant date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (Continued)

BRESTERUARAER TR
B )

35.

(B) ARTBIKIMRMREETE (%)

(B) Share award scheme of the Company (Continued)

The first tranche of 15,000 share awards vested on the grant
date of the share awards. The second tranche vested on 18
June 2023 and the third tranche vested on 18 June 2024.
The Group's estimates of the number of share awards that
are expected to vest are based on an assessment of the
performance conditions at the end of the reporting period.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, share-based payment
expense in respect of the share awards granted of HK$21,000
(2024: HK$336,000) is recognised.

The movements of the Company’s share awards during the
year are as follows:
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Number Vested Number Vested Number

of share during the of share during the of share

awards at year ended awardsat  year ended awards at

1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2023 2024 2024 2025 2025

R-B-=F BE-F-ME  RCF-ME BECRCRF RCRCER

MA-A®W =A=t-RA ZA=t-HM =A=t-H =ZA=1-HH

Date of grant Rt RORBEE LFECHEE ROLZRHE LFECHER  ROEEHA
19 September 2022 “ZZZFNARTAR 30,000 (15,000) 15,000 (15,000) —

Share awards vested are settled with the existing treasury
shares held by Tricor as the trustee of the Share Award
Scheme and are thus credited to treasury shares reserve. As at
31 March 2025, there is no outstanding share awards (2024:
the outstanding share awards represent 0.00028% of the
shares of the Company).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

36.

37.

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL INTEREST IN
SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 March 2025

The Group’s acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 March 2025 is not significant.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

On 13 September 2023, R BREZE(RYNBR AT ("R
%."), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
an acquisition agreement with RE/SEELEBER AR ("RER
B"), pursuant to which F#A#AS has agreed to acquire, and 3
[E./5E has agreed to sell, shares of HEFR R AR ER AR A
7] ("HIEF "), representing in aggregate approximately 15%
of the total issued shares of TR #A at a cash consideration
of RMB34,279,000 (approximately HK$37,056,000) (including
transaction costs thereon). +#E# # was a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company in which it held approximately 85%
equity interests before the acquisition. Upon completion of the
acquisition on 26 September 2023, the Group holds approximately
100% equity interests in +HEH A, THEFA is principally engaged
in sales of natural gas and gas pipeline construction.

The acquisition did not involve in a change in control over +#&
#R. The difference between the consideration paid and the carrying
amount of the additional interests acquired by the Group of
HK$60,037,000 was credited to equity as capital reserve during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

DISPOSAL AND WINDING UP OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered into a
share transfer agreement with an independent third party in relation
to the disposal of the Group’s entire equity interests in N #E3]
AHRRBRAGT and EMEGIMFEH BIR AR (collectively
referred to as “EMZEEL") for an aggregate consideration of
RMB650 million (approximately HK$710,383,000). The disposed
subsidiaries were wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company
established in the PRC and engaged in the sales, manufacturing and
related logistics and transportation of highly purified LPG, highly
purified propane and butane.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

37. DISPOSAL AND WINDING UP OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

The Group also disposed of and winded up certain other wholly-
owned and non-wholly owned subsidiaries during the year ended

37.

HENBARRKEQRFE

(#)

AEEREE-_T-_RAF=A=+—H
IEFER#HETEMEZE MIE2ENE

31 March 2025 which are not individually or in the aggregate
significant to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the disposal and winding up of subsidiaries for the year

ended 31 March 2025 are as follows:

REAHENEE ZERQ
Ui AMBEHBRMSLTERK -

EIERIEE:S

BE-F-RF=A=t+-ALEEH
B 2 R R B A AL ST ¢

EMNEEL Others Total
NS Hth z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FHET
Analysis of aggregate assets and HAEZFENBEERE
liabilities over which control was lost B :
Investment properties HEME 13,056 — 13,056
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NEE 193,906 92,452 286,358
Right-of-use assets FREEE 28,793 2,941 31,734
Goodwill RS 32,561 25,356 57,917
Deposits for acquisition of property, IWHEMZE ~ R &
plant and equipment Bt — 767 767
Deferred tax assets REFTBE = 48,104 106 48,210
Inventories FE 2,290 2,390 4,680
Trade and other receivables S REBRE R
HAh FEUARTR 324,341 33,716 358,057
Tax recoverable BEEEE 49,128 — 49,128
Cash and cash equivalents Re MR EHEEE 18,044 83,862 101,906
Trade and other payables E o ENIRBR
E At R ARTE (130,356) (45,721)  (176,077)
Contract liabilities aMaE (17,082) (10,543) (27,625)
Tax payable FERIHIIR — (581) (581)
Bank borrowings RITIEE (362,523) — (362,523)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBEE — (2,224) (2,224)
Net assets disposed of I EEETE 200,262 182,521 382,783
Aggregate consideration BRE
Cash received 2R S 428,888 102,129 531,017
Consideration receivable FEWREGIAZ SR
(included in trade and other receivables) ARTE N H b FE YL BRTE) 281,495 526 282,021
Total consideration mRE 710,383 102,655 813,038
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

37. DISPOSAL AND WINDING UP OF SUBSIDIARIES 37.

(Continued)

(#)

HENBARRKEQRFE

EMEES) Others Total
EMEE] Hit 458
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Gain on disposal and winding up of HEMBE QT RMELE
subsidiaries B R
Consideration received and receivable B & U (E 710,383 102,655 813,038
Net assets disposed of FrHEEEFE (200,262)  (182,521)  (382,783)
Non-controlling interests JEIEARRE RS — 41,891 41,891
Gain (loss) on disposal and HEWB AT KRB AT
winding up of subsidiaries AR N (EE) 510,121 (37,975) 472,146
Net cash inflow arising on disposal and HEMBEATRMEQ T
winding up of subsidiaries BREEECZRERANFHE
Consideration received ERE 428,888 102,129 531,017
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B THERE R
disposed of ReSEER (18,044) (83,862) (101,906)
Net cash inflow on disposal and winding up  H &M B2 7] K& H B A A
of subsidiaries BREAZRERNFE 410,844 18,267 429,111

Information about the disposal and winding up of subsidiaries for
the year ended 31 March 2024 is not disclosed as the directors of
the Company consider the financial impact is not significant to the

consolidated financial statements.

HRARREEBRRBE_T_MF
ZA=ZtT-HLEFELERBRBTRN

BRABRZMBZEEREMBRER

MELFEKX - MW EBTEEHEEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

38.

39.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
amounts due to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings disclosed in notes 30,
31 and 32 respectively, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital disclosed in note 33,
reserves and accumulated profits as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

The management reviews the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the management, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.

38.

EXEREE

AEEEBEER  ARRAEEMRT
ERETHEASEEELEGE P
B B L T R A T B A (R
B - B - AR E Y BB
TR -

AREBZERGERBRER (2R
PAMIEE30 ~ 31 K32 B Z BB A F)
FFEBERRE  HERBEARRITR
HEE) RARBEA ARG (H
MEEBBE 2 CBHITRAURGE R
EHRBE R RREDRNERK)

BEEREZEARAREZERER
FRZARBRNERER ENEEE
2EF  AREBEBKMNERE - #T
MR BETHENELREGER FEE
EREARLEE -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 39. ETH
Categories of financial instruments SRT AR
2025 2024
—E_REF —EPF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets SHEE
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRATVEFAREMEEEAZ
BATE 800,442 753,585
Derivative financial instruments PTAEERIT A 64,098 36,512
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BHI AR AT ER ABR 2
— Held-for-trading investments — BEEERE 35,602 27,585
Amortised cost BESHAR R 21,373,261 22,561,516
Financial liabilities Eo =L
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRT A 51,415 28,757
Amortised cost HESERAR 77,283,220 76,991,388
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include equity instruments
at FVTOCI, derivative financial instruments, held-for-trading
investments, trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from associates and joint
ventures, trade and other payables, amounts due to associates and
joint ventures, amounts due from/to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries and bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risks

Currency risk

The Group is not subject to significant foreign currency risk as most
of the Group's revenue and costs as well as capital expenditures are
denominated in RMB in its operations in the PRC.

The Group has cash and cash equivalents and bank and other
borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the respective group entities which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk. At the end of the reporting
period, the carrying amounts of the Group’s material monetary
assets and liabilities and intra-group balances that are denominated
in foreign currencies are as follows:

30. €@ T )

IR ERE B R RBUR

AEBFESRTIABERQATER
AEMEERAZEATLE - fTE£SH
TH BEEERE BEZEREEREAR
Hi YRR - SEMRTER  RE
LReEEER  BRBERTREE
REFIE - EHEMNRENEMEMNR
B ENBERARKRAERAEA K
W/ IB B A R IEIR AR S AROR - ERTT
REMEEAREERE - ZEERT
B H BN AN ERE - TX#HYIE
ZETRTAEBRERNEBIERE
BEZERBRIBER EEEEENER
ZERRE - NEREFEMEBEETE
BZIE

[0
B R

AREBRF B EREEHKIL WA
RBRAAREARRXANAREE
BN B BAEERIMNERR

AEBTERE RS EEEB ALR
TREMEENSSEERZINGEEE
Nz EHEEHE - S ARBEAEINER
B o M¥EHR - NEBAIINEFTEZ
TREREERABCRAENLEHE
NRRIFEAEHRIT -

Assets Liabilities
BE =T

2025 2024 2025 2024
—E_REF —EUF —E-RF —EoF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT Fi&T FExT FiBT
usD ETT 203,784 534,574 — 185,798
HK$ BT 71,815 69,387 — —
RMB AR — — 698,924 —
JPY B — — 280,329 297,974
SGD N T 41 855 — —

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 HEIMFIZBRAER DT 2024258 1§ E

173



174

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

entered into cross currency interest rate swap contracts which are
designated as effective hedging instruments to hedge the variability
in the cash flows relating to interest and principal repayments
arising from bank borrowings denominated in HK$ and USD
amounting to HK$1,688,700,000 (2024: HK$1,688,700,000) and
HK$2,211,300,000 (2024: HK$2,211,300,000) respectively as at
31 March 2025. The Group reviews the continuing effectiveness
of the designated hedging instruments at least at the end of
each reporting period. The Group mainly uses the dollar offset
method for the assessment of the hedge effectiveness of the cross
currency interest rate swap contracts. The management of the
Group considered that the Group’s net exposure to currency risk
to the extent that it is under an effective hedging relationship as
insignificant.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. T A
Financial risk management objectives and policies B REREE B ERBER ()
(Continued)
Market risks (Continued) HIS R (%)
Currency risk (Continued) B E R ()
Intra-group balances SERA MBS
Assets Liabilities
gE af&
2025 2024 2025 2024
—EB-RHF —EopF —B-EHF i
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TAT TR TR
usDh =TT = — 2,244,720 4,044,140
HK$ AT = — 1,678,155 3,465,709
The management of the Group monitors the foreign exchange $;@ =18 BES I ANE RS 0 WEER
exposure and considers hedging significant foreign exchange =R U E ASMNE RS o Snp 27
exposure should the need arise. As disclosed in note 27, the Group R EE - AN B i b is T A A ai b

TANRKNEBRREHELY 8D
7l 41,688,700,0005 7T ( = Z — PO 4F :
1,688,700,0007% 7t ) }2,211,300,000/%
TT(ZZFZPY4 : 2,211,300,0008 7T ) -
LWEHR T RAF=A=+—HWUE
TMETHENRTEENELNF
BERAGEFNIEBERESARELHE - &
EBELORNEREHRBABTE T
B 27BN - AEBXEHAEITF
W ERNEEF RS EE 42 $ K
e AEEEBRERE  AEEZEYE
BB F i DR E B PR T RERX o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A

MERERERE B ERBER (&

Market risks (Continued) miZER (%)
Currency risk (Continued) BRI (%)
Sensitivity analysis BRBEDN

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% (2024:
10%) and 5% (2024: 5%) increase and decrease in the functional
currency of the relevant group entity against USD, HK$ or RMB
and JPY or SGD respectively. The respective percentages are the

TRAMAEEFREEEEERNG
EESBIHET BLXARERAE
SRET N T AEREZE10% (ZF =Y
F:10%) K5%(ZFE-MF : 5%) 2

sensitivity rates used when reporting foreign currency risk internally g{(FSZF EEOLAATEEEAERN
to key management personnel and represent management'’s SWINEREEPTA B REL R - I
assessment of the reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange 1{2\%4@%%%[% & TER] RE B i

rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and excludes the effect
of foreign currency denominated borrowings that are under an
effective hedging relationship as the Group’s net exposure to
currency risk arising from the hedging relationship is insignificant,
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a
10% (2024: 10%) and 5% (2024: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates of USD, HK$ or RMB and JPY or SGD, respectively. A positive
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the
USD, HK$, RMB, JPY and SGD weakens against the functional
currency of the relevant group entity. For a 10% (2024: 10%) and
5% (2024: 5%) strengthening of USD, HK$ or RMB and JPY or SGD
respectively there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
result for the year and the balances below would be negative.

T2eHE - BRESTERERRABRE
ZINEEHEE®RIER - HEHJ‘EQ$%
HHRREEZERRRFHMOLTE
7. Iltl:?@?‘éﬁ#ﬁxﬁ(ﬁi@%ﬁ%"ltu
SNEEHEZBEZRE  WHET B
ﬁﬁ/\EM&EI‘X*MDi&fEGI\MEZE

DRI EN0%(— T _MF : 10%) K5%
(_E_EE 5% )N IE MR ER SR
B TRARZEBUEMET - BT
ARE - HEIRFMBETAEREEE
BOMREERRE BREENEHM
e WET  BLTRAREKRBER
KT D RITHE10% (ZF Z U4 :
10%) }5% (ZZF —PU% : 5%) - ¥4
EXERKBERERRAZZE - AT
_EBS AR

2025 2024
—E_RE —EomEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT

Impact on post-tax profit for the year: HEFBRTIEBEN 3
usb e 153,070 277,152
HK$ BIT 120,476 254,724
RMB AREE 52,419 —
JPY =]E| 10,512 11,174
SGD T () (32)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

No sensitivity analysis has been presented for derivatives that
are designated as hedging instruments because the Group’s net
exposure to currency risk arising from the hedging relationship is
insignificant.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk mainly in
relation to amounts due from joint ventures that are interest-
bearing at fixed interest rates, lease liabilities and fixed-rate bank
and other borrowings (see notes 26, 31 and 32 for details of these
balances respectively).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk mainly in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and floating-rate bank and
other borrowings (see notes 29 and 32 for details of these balances
respectively).
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=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39.

\\\\\

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The Group manages its interest rate exposure based on interest
rate level as well as potential impact on the Group's financial
position arising from volatility. As disclosed in note 27, the Group
entered to cross currency interest rate swap contracts which
are designated as effective hedging instruments to hedge the
interest rate risk exposure arising from bank borrowings that are
indexed to HIBOR and SOFR amounting to HK$1,688,700,000
(2024: HK$1,688,700,000) and HK$2,211,300,000 (2024:
HK$2,211,300,000) respectively as at 31 March 2025. The Group
reviews the continuing effectiveness of the designated hedging
instruments at least at the end of each reporting period. The
Group mainly uses the dollar offset method for the assessment of
the hedge effectiveness of the cross currency interest rate swap
contracts. The management of the Group considered that the
Group’s net exposure to interest rate risk to the extent that it is
under an effective hedging relationship as insignificant.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rate risk for floating-rate bank and other borrowings
at the end of the reporting period (excluding derivative financial
instruments). The sensitivity analysis excludes the effect on
variable-rate bank borrowings that are under an effective hedging
relationship as the Group’s net exposure to interest rate risk arising
from the hedging relationship is insignificant. Variable-rate bank
balances have not been included in the sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the interest rate would not fluctuate
significantly in the near future and therefore the financial impact to
the Group is not significant. A change of 100 basis points (2024:
100 basis points) was applied to the yield curves and interest rate
on both floating-rate bank and other borrowings. The applied
change is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

PBEREE B RRBR (&
5 B ()

BEERR(

BURE A 47 (4)

AREEBARIE FI ZoK T O 1R 1 AN 52 B B
BARAFER 2 BEFEEREFER
Br o SRAOBISE27FT I E - ANEEET
IBEABRE T T A XN EEF RS
HEeEH  UEFRBFBROTRAERS
&?%1%&%&@%%?Z’%rfﬁmfﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁ
EEZFARER R-_T-_HAF=A
=+ El k3 Roa sl 7% 1,688,700,000 /&
JTT(—Z P04 : 1,688,700,000% JT )
%%2,211,300,000 8 7T ( = F = 1 4
2,211,300,000/87L) - AEEZE LR ER
EHRMTIEEE R T A ZFERK -
AEBEERAETTFHEETIHRIXE
MEF RIS ERE 4 2 HRAR R - ANEBEE
BERA  ANEBEZFERRFHOR
BREDFAER T TERX ©

HRENITIRIBRE R R ¥ BRIT
LkEMEE(TRETESRITR) ZH
KRERETE - HNAKERE HHERE
HEZMERERFH AL TEKR - Eih 8]
REDM T EEENBME PRETF

BRITEENZE - HNEEBR /RN
REIAN XA &RIEKE - SAEEN

MBFETK - B BT BIRITER
FABREDH - ERFBRITRE
i 8 B 27 Wk A A e M) 2R 46 P 100 B 22 B

(ZZT W4 - 1001EEE) REEN B
R EREIEABREL2 HA R E R

SEAMERES  HWEPRREHEE
BMER AR AR E) 2

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 HEIMFIZBRAER DT 2024258 1§ E

177



178

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate of floating-rate bank and other borrowings had
been 100 basis points (2024: 100 basis points) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, after taking into account the
interest capitalised to construction in progress, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year would decrease/increase by HK$150,488,000
(2024: HK$164,195,000).

No sensitivity analysis has been presented for derivatives that
are designated as hedging instruments because the Group’s net
exposure to interest rate risk arising from the hedging relationship is
insignificant.

Equity price risk

The Group's certain equity instruments at FVTOCI and held-for-
trading investments are measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity price
risk. The management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T E ()

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risks (Continued)
Equity price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks of listed equity instrument at the
reporting date. A 10% (2024: 10%) change is used when reporting
equity price risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management'’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in equity price.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, if the market bid prices of the
listed investments had been 10% (2024: 10%) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit
for the year would increase/decrease by HK$2,973,000 (2024:
HK$2,304,000) and the Group's investment revaluation reserve
will increase/decrease by HK$38,333,000 (2024: HK$34,629,000)
respectively. This is mainly attributable to the changes in fair values
of the listed held-for-trading investments and equity instruments at
FVTOCI respectively.

Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk as the Group’s
sales and purchases of LPG products are subject to movements in
the relevant LPG market index prices. The Group has appointed
a special team to monitor the price risk and has entered into
derivative financial instruments (primarily LPG futures contracts)
under hedge accounting as disclosed in note 27 to hedge the risk
exposure.

No sensitivity analysis has been presented for derivatives that
are designated as hedging instruments because the Group's
net exposure to commodity price risk arising from the hedging
relationship is insignificant.

MERERERE B ERBER (&

i EL B ()
B E R ()
BREI N

T2 BBE ST TR LA T A
B4R B EARCE 2 A R R T
FeoRMEBERAANBLHBBA
1B 43 LIRS @ £ PR 109 (=B = P 45 -
10%) BEB B - AREERBEBA
B 2 A AT KRB 2 3T -

HE-_Z-_RAE=A=1t—HBI%E
W EmREZTBEEBLEF TE10%
“ZTFE 10%) C MATEHEE
WHTE  AAREEZFEBRBEER
#1180 422,973,000 7T (ZZE =Y
F :2,304,000870) - MAEEZIRES
a7 4>38,333,00058 7T ( —
T —PULE : 34,629,000870) © Wk EEH
RETMHEBEEREREAFEFAR
b2 EBAZBRAT ARFEDFIB AT

EEEIELEE

ARASREEERIEAHRERTIEH
BRI AR TISEHERRBNTE -
AEBBEAZEHREBRR - O
IFERE AEBEEZAZEBEHE
ZERER - WEFTZEHHREFIETIT
AT A(FERARELABRBES
#9) - DAY HRER o

HRASEREPEEREL 2B mER
RBFHM AL RNEX - MAERIEE R
O TAZITAETAZSIBREDT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable
to trade receivables, contract assets, other receivables and deposits,
amounts due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries,
amounts due from associates and joint ventures, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets and financial guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables based on provision matrix and contract assets based on
collective assessment.

Deposits and other receivables and amounts due from non-
controlling interests of subsidiaries

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook of the
industries in which the counterparties operate, and concluded
that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The ECL on deposits and other receivables and
amounts due from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are
assessed based on 12m ECL and are considered to be insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Amounts due from associates and joint ventures

The Group has assessed the financial position of associates and
joint ventures as well as the economic outlook of the industry in
which the associates and joint ventures operate, and concluded
that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The ECL on trade-nature amounts due from associates
and joint ventures are assessed based on lifetime ECL, and the
ECL on non-trade nature amounts due from associates and joint
ventures are assessed based on 12m ECL. The ECL are considered
to be insignificant.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks in the PRC or banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies and the Group has
limited exposure to any single financial institution.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group performs impairment assessment
on bank balances by reference to the average loss rates for
respective credit rating grades published by international credit-
rating agencies and concluded that the ECL is insignificant.

R EIE B EREE®)

FERB KA (E)
W2 N B A B R RIFIA

AEBECHEBERRAREERTNEG
B - ARBERFREERARE
PREFTEMEER S @ WISHAR - B
R HERIAR - S E R &R E S
me BRBERBRAEERRESME
RENFAREEBEBEDREFENRE
HIEEBRETE  MEKEZE QA
MREBERAREESUHERENTAMEE
BEREIRBN2EARREEBRETH
- REEEEEMRA/ALTEN -

EHEMRITER MR TR

HRRZEFHRTEEERFZIRIT
HESHREETARBIERBRE
B RZRIT MASETEE -8
BREERTEAAZ ZER LR - FR
B2 7 EERRER -

RZZE_RF=A=+—H XEEZ
ZEBEEEFARBLMNSEETR
FRMFHERE - HRITERETR
B YFhAmRARRREEER
WAEK e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate amount of
outstanding financial guarantees issued to banks in respect of
bank facilities granted to and utilised by the Group’s associates
and joint ventures that the Group could be required to pay
amounted to HK$10,677,848,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$10,344,878,000). The fair value of these financial guarantees,
as at dates of initial recognition, were considered insignificant. At
the end of the reporting period, the management has performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12m ECL. No loss allowance was recognised in the
profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2025, other than the concentration of credit risk of
an amount due from a joint venture of HK$2,549,507,000 (2024:
HK$4,064,576,000), the Group does not have other significant
concentration of credit risk on trade receivables, with exposure
spread over a number of industrial, commercial and household
customers. In order to minimise the credit risk of those receivables,
the management of the Group closely monitors the recoverability
of the amount due. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

Internal credit

30. €@ T )

R EIE B EREE®)

EE RN EETL(E)

$ERIAMX :

Trade receivables/
trade-nature amounts

due from associates and

joint ventures/

AEBOAEEERE BRI F A BHAT

Other financial assets/

rating Description contract assets other items
B3 EWERE FER
BENAREERT
ESMERES HttemEE
AREERFR BHREE HttE g
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
{liVENE HFFELHRRE - IR EREH FEPRBEBEEER 128 AR EEER
NEERFIA — WEEERIE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BERAE ERALERIBRER - ERELEEE FEAEEPEEER 128 AR EEER
— WEEERIE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
R B HERE - WEEIETREINBERRGE FEBMRHEESE FEBMEREEER
MER BN MEE R AIEE N — WEEERE — W EERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
&8 BRERPEEHREERE FEPREREEER FEPREREEER
— BEERE —EBEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
6] BEREBRAGHEABARENVEEE TRIE B B TRIE B I

i 7% 5 [ Y B SRIR ) 75 S
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“m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T E ()
Financial risk management objectives and policies B REREE B ERBER ()
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FEEREBRBETE ()
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's TRAMAEBBEETEREEBEF
financial assets, contract assets and financial guarantee contracts, HHERHEE AHBEENMTTBTBERSE
which are subject to ECL assessment: HFEGREEERERE -

External Internal
credit credit

Notes rating rating  12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
MIEE  ABEE
i3 B M NERIFESRERGEER HELE
2025 2024
I It 13
HKS'000 HK$000
TEn T
Financial assets at amortised cost
REEHATENEREE
Trade receivables — contracts with customers 25 N/A (Note ) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 6,676,751 6,559,785
BARNEE—ZPal R (W) FEIRRSGEER(ARER)
Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 2118 124,632
FETRRECESR(RERRE)
6,748,869 6,684,417
Deposits and other receivables and amounts due 25 N/A Lowrisk 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 2,826,623 2,266,495
from non-controlling interests of subsidiaries
e RAMEIR AR ELHBAT 0 i ER%  2EAEREESR(TRESRAERERNE)
FEREENE
Amounts due from associates
U ERAE
— trade-nature 26 /A Lowrisk  Lifetime ECL {not crecit-mpaired and assessed individually) 80,557 44,97
—B5HE TR fRR FEIREREESR(IREEHERERNE)
— non-trade nature 26 /A Lowrisk 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 96,587 31,201
—FEHIE 0 i ERlE  2EARBEEFR(TRESRERERE)
177,144 76,172
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“m NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T E ()
Financial risk management objectives and policies BREMEEEERBE®)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) FEEREBRBETE ()

External Internal

credit credit
Notes rating rating ~ 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
MEE  ABEE
ik B T NEASFERHRNEEER FEAE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EoNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tk
Amounts due from joint ventures
BYAERTE
— trade-nature 26 N/A Lowrisk  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed inclvidually) 741,372 2,008,153
—BHlE R ERlE FEERESEEEE(IAEERERENNE)
— non-trade nature 26 N/A Lowrisk ~12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 2,764,644 4,306,562
—FEHHE NER BER  12EAERGEER(IEEERERERTE)
3,506,016 6,314,715
Pledged bank deposits 29 Al WA 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 310,447 185,999
BERROET NER  NRERBREEEB(IEEERERENNE)
Bank balances 29 Aa2 to Baa3 NA 12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed individually) 8,853,349 8,094,336
Rirh ha2ZRaa3  TER  EARBEEFB(UEESHERERRME)
Other items
EfiER
Contract assets — contracts with customers 1 N/A Lowrisk  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 7,704,305 5,535,718
BHEE—EPEN NER EER FEENRHREER(UEEEREREETH)
Watchlist ~ Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 2,556,089 3,232,923
EZLE GENHRHEERE(UARENEREETE)
Doubtful  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 1,969,101 2,082,057
RE GEITRBEESRUECENEREETHE)
Loss  Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired and assessed individually) 127,027 151,958
BB GEENEERCERE(CEERERERNTE)
12,356,522 11,002,656
Financial guarantee contracts (Note i) NIA N/A Lowrisk ~12m ECL (not credit-impaired and assessed collectively) 10,677,848 10,344,878
B ERAD () AR iR EER  EAESGESR(IEEENEREETE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HEZ—=Z

“HE=ZA=T—HLFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

39 ﬁl’-‘-ﬂIE AEJ

PR EERE

ZRBUER ()

ERARRAERE ()

Notes: MisE
(i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach 0] MEFHEWEEMS AEBCERES
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group R EERFE IR E AR EFEL
determines the ECL on trade receivables grouped by aged analysis of MBEHEESENEERE ASENE
debtors. When there are indicators that the relevant trade receivables may SEWEBIREEAEBRYT S ELER
be credit impaired, the relevant amount is assessed for ECL individually. BYETHEBEZEEREIE - WETSBETRME
FE 5 RKARIER L FEE ERME - 186
SRS LB AEE BB AR o
The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its AELEFEREBSARRRTGE P EEL
customers in relation to its operation because these customers consist %*aﬁazm@ RAAaZERFRasAEa8
of a large number of customers with common risk characteristics that BHRARBEHEP REREREELD
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in ?kiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘éﬁ RIBHIBE S » IRIBARE
accordance with the contractual terms. Based on the Group’s assessment IﬁTiﬁﬁﬁi%AF;{{*E}%E,@%Z#{E
of historical credit loss experience of the existing debtors and all available KFFERA mﬁraﬁ MHER(BIEERRENS
forward-looking information, including but not limited to the expected E’\jiﬁﬁq & Hk,ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬂ&% ) ARE
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements, N LR @ HBIBIOR Z A KT
the Group does not consider that default occurs for those contractual
payments that are more than 90 days past due.
The Group uses estimated loss rates based on aging for classes with ANEERIEAEETREER RIS LD
different credit risk characteristics and exposures, and the estimated RIRRERIER(E AAEH IR X - Ml EE
loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over RIZEEATERF BT BRELHR
the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking information that is N BB ERK A S S A S RTIE EE R
available without undue cost or effort, for example the economic growth EHET - Plan R ERS A EFRIETTE
rates which reflect the expected general economic conditions of the H) T8 BB A TR RO B AR IS R R o A
industry in which the debtors operate. The grouping is regularly reviewed REREETEHME  UERETEEBHAN
by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is HEBEHEEEH -
updated.
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit TRIEHAEHEZE S EREBEEZERRHO
risk for trade receivables which are assessed on a collective basis by using HER - S EWBRIE(E A1EE BRTE
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). EEEEOVEEERE) WA B ERE LA
SR AT -
2025 2024
—EBE-RF —EpUF
Gross carrying amounts Average Trade Average Trade
(provision matrix) loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
BRI E (BE5ERE) FHEEE EZEWRE FHEEE  BHEIARE
HK$'000 HK$ OOO
0-180 days 0%180H 0.9% 2,399,507 4.5% 2,512,766
181-365 days 181£365H 6.4% 599,529 14.5% 673,405
Over 365 days 3658 A 24.9% 3,677,715 21.5% 3,373,614
6,676,751 6,559,785
(i) For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount represents (i) HUBREREAOME  EEAEELREE

the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under the respective
contracts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has
been recognised for both trade receivables and contract assets
under the simplified approach.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

30. €@ T )

R EIE B EREE®)

AR RAETHE ()

TRETREBEHEZCERE SR
BREMAENBEENTFENREREES

B8 -

Trade receivables Contract assets
ESENEE BHEE
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(credit-  (not credit- (credit- (ot credit-
impaired) impaired) Total impaired) impaired) Total
FENEESD FEDEEY FENMESD REDEES
FEFE REER HEFR GEFR
(FERE) (LREERE) & (EEHE) (LEEEHE) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TETL TEL TEL T THn TR
As at 1 April 2023 RZE-=FNA—H 99,979 889,280 989,259 — 689,211 689,211
Changes due to financial RZEZ=4RA-H
instruments recognised BEleRTASHNE
asat 1 April 2023
— Transfer to credit-impaired ~ — ERZREEHE 167,190 (167,190) — 97,573 (97,573) —
— Impairment losses — BEZRERE
recognised 77,725 — 71,725 390,292 — 390,292
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — RERIFEFE (65,838) (277,871) (343,759) — (60,375) (60,375)
New financial assets/contract BEZHEREE/
assets originated BHEE - 535,266 535,266 — 86,449 86,449
Write-offs s (147,223) - (147,023) (335,907) — (335,907)
Exchange adjustments 5 A (7,151) (43,499) (50,650) - (27,996) (27,996)
As at 31 March 2024 RZZ-mE=A=1-H 124,632 935,986 1,060,618 151,958 589,716 741,674
Changes due to financial RZZE-MFENA—H
instruments recognised BRSRIEEHNES
asat 1 April 2024
—Transfer to credit-impaired ~~ — BEZREERE 170,188 (170,188) = 138,175 (138,175) =
— Impairment losses — BHTREEE
recognised 53,114 — 53,114 337,461 — 337,461
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — 2 RERERR (70,660) (265,168) (335,828) (3,170) = (3.170)
New financial assets/contract YR HeREE/
assets originated ahEE - 486,503 486,503 - 29,948 29,948
Write-offs ki (202,757) - (202,757) (495,763) — (495,763)
Exchange adjustments R (2,399) (10,064) (12,463) (1,634) (5,644) (7.278)
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-RE=A=1-H 72,118 977,069 1,049,187 127,027 475,845 602,872
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @R T E ()

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition to issuance of
new shares, the Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis because the directors
of the Company believe that the Group has sufficient funds to
finance its current working capital requirements taking account of
the cash flows from operations and assuming the continuing ability
to utilise the available bank facilities. As at 31 March 2025, the
Group had available unutilised bank facilities of HK$93,461,572,000
(2024: HK$91,255,455,000). Details of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March 2025 are set out in note 32.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities and derivative financial
instruments. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and lease liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from the interest rate curve at the end of the
reporting period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group's liquidity analysis
for its derivative financial instruments. The tables have been drawn
up based on the undiscounted net cash (inflows) and outflows on
derivative financial instruments that settle on a net basis. When
the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated
by the yield curves existing at the end of the reporting period. The
liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative financial instruments
are prepared based on the contractual settlement dates as the
management considers that the settlement dates are essential for
an understanding of the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.
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" NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 —ZE - RAF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €@ T R
Financial risk management objectives and policies BREMEEEERBE®)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) nEBESEEE)
Liquidity tables MEE B
Carrying
Weighted ~ Payable on amount
average  demandor  Between Between Between Total  attheend
effective  less than 1t 3months 1to Over undiscounted  of reporting
interest rate Imonth  3months  to1year 5 years Syears  cash flows period
mEYY ZEEZREE  -EAE ZfAZ AER  REEHK
BBAZE gHR-EA =R - -FEEF  EENE REREE  BEE

% HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TERL TRR TR TERL TRR TR

At 31 March 2025 AECTE
ZA=t-R
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 REE
Trade and bill payables ECIERER
ENZE — 12,526,559 - - - — 12526559 12,526,559
Other payables and accruals HERRER
EER — 3844645 - - - — 3844645 3844645
Amounts due to non-controlling ERFBATER
interests of subsiciaries ER/E - 1539 - - - - 125,391 125,391
Bank and other borrowings RAREMEE
— fixed rate — 8 212 864,229 2,084,937 5231265 20,377,272 1,837,682 30395385 28,358,231
— floating rate — 28 312 143,959 1,999,034 11,134,198 18,415,120 2,415,659 34,107,970 31,872,566
Amounts due to associates ENBE Nz 5E - 57,770 - - - - 57,770 57,770
Amounts due to joint ventures ENAENEZFE - 498,058 - - - - 498,058 498,058
Lease liabilities HEakE 464 6,654 12,534 50,105 108,043 43,633 220,969 193,511
18,067,265 4,096,505 16,415,568 38,900,435 4,296,974 81,776,741 71,476,731
Financial guarantee contracts BBERED — 10,677,848 - - - — 10,677,848 -
Derivative financial assets TELREE
— net settlement —FBLE
Cross currency interest rate swap RN EER|E
contracts BHAL = (13,280) - 19,097 - - 5817 4,950
LPG futures contracts BIRBE
HmeLn - (17,899) 1,078 (812) - - (17,633) (17,633)

(31179) 1,078 18,285 = (11,816) (12,683)
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

30. €@ T )

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

R EREIE B EREE®)

BE & Rk ()

Liquidity tables (Continued) mENESR(E)
Carrying
Weighted ~ Payable on amount
average  demand or Between Between Between Total  attheend
ffective less than 10 3 months 110 Over  undiscounted of reporting
interest rate 1 month 3 months to 1 year 5 years Syears  cash flows period
METY ERENEER EE “fEAz AR NRESE
AR d0R-ER il -£ —EERf RENE REREE LEEE
% HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000
T Tir Tir T Fir Fir T
At 31 March 2024 RE-ME
ZA=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ i 4HEE
Trade and bill payables EORNEER
ES - 11,29%,021 1,228,261 445,652 - — 12969934 12,969,934
Other payables and accruals HtERNRER
JE:ER — 4316188 - - - — 4316188 4316188
Amounts due to non-controlling ERHBLTEER
interests of subsidiaries BRZ7E - 191,649 - - - - 191,649 191,649
Bank and other borrowings ROREMEE
— fixed rate - 3.64 68,137 797231 13,036,640 10,168,114 1968452 26038574 24,349,587
— floating rate -8 468 44,280 1,358,457 8408427 26,509,560 2631619 38952343 34715768
Amounts due to associates ERBens 38 - 81,760 - - - - 81,760 81,760
Amounts due to joint ventures ERABREZFE - 366,502 - - - - 366,502 366,502
Lease liabilities HERE 464 5930 1421 45273 102,440 31,178 196,242 173,050
16,370,467 339,370 21935992 36,780,114 4631249 837113192 77,164,438
Financial guarantee contracts BBERAY — 10,344,878 - - — — 10,344,878 —
Derivative financial assets fTAEREE
— net settlement —BHLE
Cross currency interest rate swap RREHHE
contracts By - (22,657) - (61,714) 81,804 - (2.,567) (7,755)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €T A

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts
are the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle
under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that
amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the management
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed
suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for floating-rate bank and other
borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the
end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets and liabilities.

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The Group's held-for-trading investments, equity instruments
at FVTOCI and derivative financial instruments are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets and liabilities are determined.

R EIE B EREE®)

BE & Rk ()
MEBETR(E)

U EFHAMBRRENNSBREASE
EEREFHARFHUSHERRELHE
EREBLHF2ENNRSSHE - R
BER|EMROERS - BEBRLER
REZHEIHRENAEESRS - R
o BURRE F A RBERRELARD
AIREME (BB F 75 PIRF A R IR IE IR B K
ARZEEEBROA LR RE) -
HENE o

fid ) F B A R B A B S HIR AT
FEREETAIE - BIA LRt NFBRITR
HitfEENS R GHE -

TR TAEAFENE

AHERHEABARENTNEESES
MEERBEAFEZER

() AREERBFEEERQNFEET
BveMEERAELAYE

AEEFHEEERE - RO FER
ARMEEBAZBEARTARITE
TR TARSREPRIZ A FER
- TREHBBUINEEZES
MEENBRBEAFEZER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (Continued)

30. €@ T )

EMIBEAFETE®)

() AEERBFEEEZQFET
YN

BEveREERAR

Fair value
AFE Fair value
2025 2024 hierarchy
bt Sk 2 T DHEER
Financial instruments
£RMIA
Held-for-trading Listed equity securities Listed equity securities in Hong Kong  Level 1
investments in Hong Kong — HK$27,585,000 (Note i)
— HK$35,602,000 (Note i)
HIEEERE BB LEHRAES BB L HRAES E—&
— 35,602,0007% 7t (i 2Ei) — 27,585,000/ 7t (Pt #Ei)
Equity instruments at Listed equity securities Listed equity securities in Hong Kong  Level 1
FVTOCI in Hong Kong — HK$102,520,000 (Note i)
— HK$139,897,000 (Note i)
BATER A BB LEHRAES BB L HRAER E—&
FEHBAZEALA — 139,897,000 7t (FffaEi) — 102,520,00078 7t (B zi)
Listed equity securities in the PRC  Listed equity securities in the PRC Level 1
— HK$243,432,000 (Note ii) — HK$243,769,000 (Note i)
HE LT RAE S B ETRANE 5 E—5
— 243,432,000 7t ( Fff i) — 243,769,000/ 7T (Misii)
Unlisted equity investments Unlisted equity investments Level 3
— HK$414,915,000 (Note iii) — HK$405,098,000 (Note iii)
FLETRARE I ETRARE B/
— 414,915,000 7t ( FffFiii) — 405,098,000/ 7t ( Fif iii)
Derivative financial Cross currency interest rate Cross currency interest rate swap Level 2
instruments swap contracts (Note iv) contracts (Note iv)
Assets — HK$19,868,000 Assets — HK36,512,000
Liabilities — HK$24,818,000 Liabilities — HK$28,757,000
ITEEMTIA RXEMH=EHE LN (KZiv) RXEHER R E S 4 (HiEEv) -/
&EE —19,868,00078 7T Assets — HK36,512,000
£ 8 —24,818,0003 T Liabilities — HK$28,757,000
LPG futures contracts (Note v) Nil Level 1
Assets — HK$44,230,000
Liabilities — HK$26,597,000
BILRHRAE S (M) i £2—&

EE — 44,230,000 7T
B & — 26,597,000 T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

0

Fair

value of the Group’s financial assets and

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a

recurring basis (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

The fair values of the listed equity securities in Hong Kong are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Stock Exchange. The fair value measurement is classified as Level 1
of the fair value hierarchy.

The fair values of the listed equity securities in the PRC are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The fair value measurement is classified
as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s investments in
entities which are mainly engaged in (a) investments in financial
assets measured at fair value and holding of bank and cash
balances; and (b) trading and storage and logistics of natural gas
and LPG.

The fair values of the unlisted equity investments are determined
by reference to market-based factors such as price-to-book ratio
and enterprise value to sales ratio, asset-based factors considering
the nature of underlying assets and liabilities held by the investees
and net assets value of the investees. The fair value measurement is
classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The directors of the
Company consider that none of these investments is individually
significant.

The fair values of the cross currency interest rate swap contracts
are measured based on forward exchange rates (from observable
yield curves at the end of the reporting period) and yield curve of
relevant interest rates and contracted interest rates, discounted
at a rate that reflects the credit risk of various counterparties. The
fair value measurement is classified as Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

The LPG futures contracts are exchange-traded products in an
active market. The fair values of the LPG futures contracts are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
relevant exchange.

There were no transfers between instruments in Level 1, 2
and 3 in both years.

30. €@ T )

EMIBEAFETE®E)

0]

AEERE SRR R AT @
B SMAERAEATE®M

fcE

@

(i)

(iii)

% —

B LTBRAREZO R FEER B
Rz TS EEMEE - AF
EAEDEARFEBRE—A -

B L AR 0 A FEER R
YBHRSHABZ TBEBTE
o AFEHEHRBAFEER
1% -

FETRARBEASEHEIER
Z@UAFEFENEREERE
RFFARITRBRESES » RO)RA
REBCOHERNES - FFEED
MEENIRE -

FETRARENRFEDSZED
BERAETHBENEREELAR
MMEENEERSZ  UREIRET
MEEFEMEE - AFEFED
BRAATEBRE=H - ARAE
ERE REREHTBERNE
K o

RXEBNERREH 2 X FER
FEHERCREREIR I TBER
Y am AR ) o B B SR 2 W s AR AR K
FRRE  BERREXHHEFER
Rz M EBERMEE - AFEF
EDERATFEERE R -

BIEBRRAEADTINERTS
ERZSMEBEMER ° ZFRIL
AHRHEEHNZATFEENER
R BTIZREMEE

T RERITAZERmES

B EER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €@t T B

Fair value measurements of financial instruments SRTENFEETZE )

(Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and () FEERBISEEERAFEST
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a ECERMEEREBEAFE®S)
recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of TREEF=HAFEFEZ
financial assets R

Unlisted equity

investments

at FVTOCI

BRAFERTA

Htp2mEKBAZ

EHRARE

HK$'000

FHBT

As at 1 April 2023 RZZE-_=9FMWA—H 402,928

Disposal k= (6,551)

Addition NE 28,180

Exchange adjustment PEE 5, o2& (19,459)

As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ME=A=+—H 405,098

Disposal HeE (10,799)

Addition INE 24,922

Exchange adjustment bE 5 e R (4,306)

As at 31 March 2025 R-E-_RAFE=A=+—H 414,915

(i)

Fair value of Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities
is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. The directors
of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised
cost approximate their respective fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

Dividend Consideration
payable payables

EfRS EARE
HK$'000 HK$'000

40. MEERBEE 2 AEYHK

TEB/AKERERDELEZREE
HI5 BRASRIFRSEY - BEE
BELZABNREREIARKBRER
ERAEEGEARERERVBRRE
mBEREREZAE -

Bank and
other Amounts due
borrowings to non-
(including controlling
loan interest Lease interest of
payables) liabilities  subsidiaries Total
BITREM EAHEAR
RE(BEE FERER
HERFIE) HERE HE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THL FERL TET Fidn THn TR
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FNA—H — 295,278 60,264,098 1,376,044 197,965 62,133,385
Financing cash flows HERERE (2,991,470) — (2,304,121) (264,823) 3,275 (5,557,139)
Foreign exchange translation INEIRE — (12,078) (1,334,343) (8,309) (9,591) (1,364,321)
Interest expenses FlEEY — — 2,815,209 59,424 — 2,874,633
Dividend declared ERRE 2,991,470 - — — - 2,991,470
New leases entered and MRNEEE
adjustments arising on lease BiEE AR
modifications — — — (989,286) — (989,286)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=1—H — 283,200 59,440,843 173,050 191,649 60,088,742
Financing cash flows HERERE (2,637,765) (178,337) (71,798) (80,280) (64,197) (3,032,377)
Foreign exchange translation INEIRE — (3,045) (661,644) (2,507) (2,061) (669,257)
Disposal and winding up of HERBARAR
subsidiaries WEARER - - (362,523) - - (362,523)
Interest expenses FIBRX - - 2,281,024 9,635 - 2,290,659
Dividend declared BRRE 2,718,066 - - - - 2,718,066
Non-cash scrip dividend FREUBRKE (80,301) - - — — (80,301)
New leases entered SRR - — - 93,613 - 93,613
At 31 March 2025 WZE-hF=A=1+-H — 101,818 60,625,902 193,511 125,391 61,046,622
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

41. COMMITMENTS 41. &I

Operating lease arrangements
The Group as lessor

All of the Group’s premises, equipment, vessels and motor vehicles
held for rental purposes have committed lessees for the next one
and after five years (2024: one and after five years).

Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

REMHERH
REEERHBEA

AEEREHERAERENDE &
- MMEREERRR—FRAFE
AYEBA(ZCZE-_NE : —FERRE
%) e

HEAENEKESIT

2025 2024

—E_RHEF —EO4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Within one year — R 47,046 41,392
In the second year F_F 26,791 34,481
In the third year E=F 21,787 26,156
In the fourth year Epufes 10,652 17,485
In the fifth year FERF 6,237 4,416
After five years AFE 5,935 7,937
118,448 131,867

Leases are negotiated for an average term of one to twenty years
(2024: one to twenty years) with fixed rentals.

Capital commitments

The Group has capital commitments in respect of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment, construction materials for property,
plant and equipment and properties under development contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements
amounting to HK$88,690,000 (2024: HK$132,262,000),
HK$142,016,000 (2024: HK$85,156,000) and HK$167,537,000
(2024: HK$171,213,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

42. PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTIONS ON ASSETS 42. EEKFHRE

Pledge of assets

The Group pledged certain non-current and current assets and
equity interests over certain subsidiaries to banks or financial
institutions to secure loan facilities granted to the Group. Carrying
amount of the non-current and current assets pledged to banks or
financial institutions to secure loan facilities granted to the Group is
as follows:

BEEHA
AEEEETIERB MRS EEARR
ETHBARZBRAERERTRITH
TREE  FAREERZEFREZ
ER - -EERATRITHREBEBIERN
SEERZERREZRZIFRD IR
BEEREEWT -

2025 2024
—E-hEF —EO4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Property, plant and equipment and W R AR A K
investment properties "EEYE 6,898,021 8,562,336
Pledged bank deposits EHEARITER 310,447 185,999
7,208,468 8,748,335

At the end of the reporting period, the Company’s equity interests
in certain subsidiaries were pledged to a bank for credit facilities
granted to the Group.

Restrictions on asset

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$193,511,000 (2024:
HK$173,050,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
HK$185,465,000 (2024: HK$166,659,000) as at 31 March 2025.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor and
the relevant leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

RBEBR > ARFRETHBERFZ
BARGZERETASE 2 EERMER
Y —ERTT

BEPRS

Woh RZE—RF=A=1+—HER
B &(E193,511,0008 (- F -
£ : 173,050,000 7% Jv ) X 46 B {F A 4
& 185,465,000 T (Z T Z W&
166,659,00078 L) B HA A B HHE
EEEFHIREEZDN  HERETH
NERRE > MBBEEEETSRBE
& FIEIF -
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E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

43.

44.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme") for all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in Hong
Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The only obligation of the
Group with respect of the MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as at 31 March 2025 and
2024.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are covered
by the retirement and pension schemes defined by local practices
and regulations. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
specific percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement and
pension schemes. The only obligation of the Group in respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified contribution.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Apart from the amounts due from (to) related parties and
transactions as disclosed in notes 19, 25, 26 and 30, the Group
entered into the following transactions with major related parties
that are not members of the Group:

() During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
purchased gas for total amount of HK$3,685,000 (2024
HK$18,446,000) from a joint venture.

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group sold gas
appliances, consumables and spare parts for a total amount of
HK$518,855,000 (2024: HK$248,457,000) to joint ventures
and associates.

43.

44,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group received
engineering design and construction revenue and for the
building of property, plant and equipment for a total amount
of HK$144,038,000 (2024: HK$206,662,000) from joint
ventures and associates.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
purchased consumables and spare parts for total amount
of HK$212,359,000 (2024: HK$218,149,000) from joint
ventures and associates.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group sold gas for
total amount of HK$230,137,000 (2024: HK$195,754,000)
to a joint venture.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group sold LPG
for a total amount of HK$1,938,862,000 to an associate.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered
into sale and purchase agreements with the respective
holder(s) of the remaining equity interests holders for a total
consideration of HK$37,056,000. Details of the transactions
has been disclosed in note 36.

44. BEE R B )

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

HE-_Z-_AF=-—A=+—HL
FE  AEBNREGERRIREE
NEIWEEEYE - HE K&
ZIREEBEIWA  #5EE
144,038,000 7L ( =& Z [ 4 :
206,662,000 7T) °

HE_Z-_AF=-A=+—H1
FE  AEBNEGERRREE
NEHEBEERLESY  BEA
212,359,000 L (ZF Z M 4 :
218,149,000 7T) °

BE-_ZT-_RAF=A=+—HItHF
E  AREELE 2 %E230,137,000
BT (ZE =4 : 195,754,000/%8
THE—EEEARLERE -

HE-_Z-_NWF=A=+—HIF
g AEE4E£%581,938,862,000
BT — M A R HE R A H
ﬁ o

HE-_Z-_MWME=/A=1+—HItE
B AREEEKRRERFASE
MFEB AR LEE H#  BREAR
37,056,000/ 7T ° X H#F1BEE R
FE361HEE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(viii) The Group entered into 2 time charter contracts with a joint

(ix)

venture for the lease of vessels during the year ended 31
March 2021. The value of right-of-use assets recognised
under the transaction was approximately HK$1,580,993,000
at the commencement date of the lease. The lease payments
to the joint venture for the leased vessels during the year
ended 31 March 2024 were HK$189,676,000.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered
into termination deeds with the joint venture, pursuant to
which the relevant parties agreed to the early termination of
the time charter contracts for the lease of the two vessels.

The Group provided guarantees for banking facilities
granted to the Group’'s associates and joint ventures of
HK$10,677,848,000 (2024: HK$10,344,878,000).

The remuneration of key management of the Group was as follows:

44. BE R B )

Vi) BE-_ZT-_—F=F=1+—HItF

(ix)

B AEEE-FAEATIMHEE
WIS MO MMEESR - B
ERMKRBE X PE N ERNER
A& EEBEA#1,580,993,000 %8
TLeHE_ZE-_WF=A=+—H
IHEE > nEEMMSTFAERT
B E R 35189,676,00058 7T °

HE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HIF
B AEEEAEQBRLKLER
% B TR RES AR MM
HERPELMABEESR -

REBARNEBHRERAREE
NAEEMEBETRERHER
10,677,848,000/870( — &2 Y4 :
10,344,878,000/ 7T) °

AEBETZEREZMeNT

2025 2024

—B-HEF —T-MmF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F% Fitz

Short-term benefits %2 HAtE T 49,327 48,713
Post-employment benefits BRI ET 72 72
49,399 48,785

The remuneration of key management is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

=

EEEMEHFHEZESLERE

ARBETIZBEREE -

China Gas Holdings Limited Financial Report 2024/25 FEMTIZRAR AT 2024/258 #5RE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

45. LEGAL CLAIMS 45,

On 30 March 2017, the Company received a form of claim filed by
a former director of the Company in the Labour Tribunal of Hong
Kong claiming approximately HK$140 million (being the alleged
loss of salary in the sum of HK$21.6 million (annual salary of
HK$7.2 million) for the three financial years ended 31 March 2014
and the aggregate bonus in the sum of approximately HK$118.4
million for the four financial years ended 31 March 2014) and
other unliquidated damages and interest from the Company for the
alleged wrongful dismissal by the Company of a former director of
the Company as a director and an employee of the Company on 29
March 2011. By the mutual consent of the parties to the claim, the
claim has been transferred to the Court of First Instance of the High
Court and be consolidated with his claims against the Company
with regard to his purported exercise of the share options which
would entitle him to a total 100,000,000 share of the Company.

In respect of the aforementioned legal proceedings, the Company
has sought advice from its legal advisors and has been advised
that there is a sound basis for defending the above claims, no
amount of contingent liabilities was provided as at 31 March 2025
and 2024. For details of the legal proceedings, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 2 June 2017 on the website
of the Stock Exchange (please note that the above former director
has since withdrawn his claims against the Company in respect of
HCA751/2017 referred to in the said announcement).

In addition, several other share option holders initiated legal
proceedings against the Company with regard to their respective
purported exercise of share options, which would have entitled the
relevant persons to a total of 10,000,000 shares of the Company.
These share option holders withdrew their claims against the
Company on 9 May 2025 and have been ordered by the Court to
pay the legal costs incurred by the Company in defending their
claims.

ERHR

MN-BE—+F=F=+H KAFEE
ARAFAEENEBLEETERER
MEBERE  UBBEEARRRESR
BER-Z——F=A-t+tHLBHEAR
RITEHREABHAMAARBHRNIARE
T ABBEE—_T-NFE=-A=+—H
IF= AR FENHSEREE21.688
BL(EFEHFEAI2EEBT) REEC
T—NFEZA=+—BIENEMEFE
RITEALAREA 184RB L) R E b R 4L
BETEERERAE - KL FTRE %
FREERSSARRNEET EER
BRTEERERAARRENER—
HEE  BEHEBBITESEEEEES
N2 F)F£100,000,0008FAX 1D ©

BEMZEEFRME  AARERAE
FERBRSRERTEEMESASHIK
BhALEMBRELNE RZTEZAF
F-ZE-omME=A=+—08  BE}®NK
REABEIRBE - BEEEFLNF
B BR2EARER _ZE—tF A
BEBRATAMEMAE(FEEE '
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F2FFHCA751/2017 R 8B ¥ 2R A & #Y B
R) -

Btz BT EMBRESEARE
EEBBITEERERARAAIERERER
R EEBREOTEBEEEALRE
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

46. T EME A TFIE

TZMBARFEET

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/ Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
B HREES FARMBEES
WEAREE i/ gEnY  EBRERS RA/2MER  RA/RMEAEERA  IEEE
2025 2024
“ECRE CECME
% %
HRRER (R ERAR PRC Wholly-foreign owned Registered 100° 100 Investment holding and treasury
enterprises ("WFOE”) USD234,589,000
HE NEEALE i RERRRETR
234,589,000% T
HIRREBRAA PRC WFOE Registered 100° 100* Investment holding and treasury
USD250,000,000
HE IEEARR i RERRRER
250,000,000 7
FRPRIR R RITERLA PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 60% 60 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB20,000,000 construction
] HMEERR i ARARERMREERS
AEH20,000,0007T
HHPETRRERERLA PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 80" 807 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RIMB44,022,000 construction
# RERE i FAHERRREERR
ARH44,022,0007T
B R R RERLT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 90¢ 90% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB100,000,000 construction
ol hiheERE i AAREERMRERER
100,000,007
BRI R RERAT PRC Limited liabilty company Registered 70 70 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB70,000,000 construction
G EREFAT it AMERERMREERR
ARH70,000,0007
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
EaEAES HRER FRAMRER
(i P Hf/EEE  EERERR B&/ifEs  Re/GMEAEERS  FEER
2025 2024
S 3
% %
EEPRETREREERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIMB72,000,000 construction
i EREALT i ARAEERMRERER
AEH72,000,0007
ZRPRRARARLE PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB118,950,000 construction
H e ERE i ARAEERMRERER
AEE118950,0007
ZRATHTIRREERAA PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 100 100% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB16,002,000 construction
ol hhaErE it ARHERMRE R
AK%16,002,0007
BT AR RERAT PRC WFOF Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
USD6,060,000 construction
i HEBELE itff AARHERMREBER
6,060,000%7C
EMRmRRERERAT PRC Sino-foreign equity jint Registered 75 75%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB40,000,000 construction
b haERrR Gl AAFHERMFEBRR
AR 40,000,007
BRI TR RRARAT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 64t 64 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB265,725,582 construction
H mhRERR i ARAEERMRERRR
NRH265,725, 5827
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
EaEAES HRER FRAMRER
WEARAR Hf/EEE  EERERR RA/2MER  RA/EREXEENA  IEEE
2025 2024
S 3
% %
EEhRETSMRERARLA PRC Limited liability company Registered 64 64 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
R\B38,000,000 construction
H BRERAF i ARAEERMRERRR
AR#38,000,0007T
BT RE MR ERERLT PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 64t 64% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB20,000,000 construction
ke ERELAT it AARHERMREERR
AK%20,000,0007T
AR R ERER AT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB200,000,000 construction
b e ERE Bl AAREERMRERER
200,000,000
BlEmis R R RERAT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 70% 70% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB133,330,000 construction
i e ER% Eil AAREERMRERRR
AE%133330,0001
BETHRERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 80 80% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB183,800,000 construction
hE ERELAA Eil AAFHERMFEBRR
AE%183,800,00070
BEMRIPRATEEMR PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 80" 80 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
BRAR RMB20,000,000 construction
b EREFLT it AFHERMFEBRR
AFE#20,000,0007C
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREER FRAMRER
WEARAR Hf/EEE  EERERR RA/2MER  RA/EREXEENA  IEEE
2025 2024
ZECRE CECmE
% %
AR RERERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Investment in petrochemical facilities
RMB1,130,000,000 of storage and transportation,
fundamental facllities of pier and
sales of LPG
HE EREFAT i R RERERERRERARR
ARE1,130,000,0007C RERRIRBRHE
MIeRERERERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Sales, producing and storing LPG and
RMB300,000,000 chemical products
hE EREFLT i HE EERGHERLARRRIT
ARH300,000,0007 Em
BNl RRraaRLA PRC Limited liability company Registered N/A 100 Sales and manufacturing of highly
USD60,000,000 (note 37) purified LPG, highly purified propane
and butane
b EREFLT i TER HEREESHURLARR  BF
60,000,000%7C (W37) TRERT i
R RERRRAR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100% Sales of PG
RMB400,000,000
hE EREFLT i HRRRHE
ARH400,000,0007
Fortune Gas Investment Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding, sales of natural
Holdings Limited HK$876,980,073 gas and CBM business
EMMARARRERAR Bk BRERAF i RERR RAREEREERES
876,980,073% T
IREERRERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 80% 80% Sales of natural gas
RMB50,000,000
i BERERAR it AREE
AE50,000,0007
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(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. X EME A AFEE @)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
EaEAES HEERf ARARRORT
(i P it/ esnE  ERREL B&/ifEs  Re/GMEAEERS  FEER
2025 2024
S 3
% %
EHRRRERRAT PRC WFOE Registered 100% 100 Investment holding
USD30,000,000
hE NEEELR it REHR
30,000,000%7C
EBELRRERAA PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 100% 100%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB64,000,000 construction
H e ERE i AAAEERMRERER
AR 64,000,007
Fortune Liulin Gas Company Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 10 70%  Exploration and production of coal bed
USD102,460,140 methane
ERE AR AT Bk BRERAR i8 HRREEHER
102,460,140% T
MR AR RERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB100,000,000 construction
i ERELAA Eil AARHERMRE R
100,000,000
EERARRAEERAT PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 75% 75% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
venture RMB16,000,000 construction
hE hHaELR iiff RARHERMAEERR
AEH16,000,0007C
ERE TR e SR ERAE PRC Limited liability company Registered 99t 9% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB150,000,000 construction
hE ERELAA Eil RARHERMAEERR
AEH150,000,0007C
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
EaEAES HRER FRAMRER
WEARAR Hf/EEE  EERERR B&/ifEs  Re/GMEAEERS  FEER
2025 2024
S 3
% %
EERRETREREERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIMB300,000,000 construction
i EREALT i ARARERMRERER
AR%300,000,0007C
s 2 B ER AT PRC Limited liabilty company Registered 100 100%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
USD59,600,000 construction and investment holding
f# BREEAA itfft ARHERMRE BRI LRE
59,600,000 =k
AR R iAR AR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100% Development and investment in clean
RMB10,000,000 energy projects
43 BRERAR i RERREFZERER
AK%10,000,0007T
TR R RERAT PRC Limited liabity company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB397,050,000 construction
i ERELAA Eil AARHERMRE R
AE%397,050,00070
HRERERE AERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100%  Wholesale and trading of natural gas
RMB300,000,000 and liquefied natural gas
HE EREFAT i ARRARBIAARHEREE
AE%300,000,0007T
m AR EREBIERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 1007 100 Provision of procurement services to
RMB100,000,000 group companies
hE ERELAA Eil REBRARHRERSE
AEH100,000,0007
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HRER FRAMRER
WEARAR Hf/EEE  EERERR RA/2MER  RA/EREXEENA  IEEE
2025 2024
Z2oRE ZECmE
% %
China Natural Gas Investment Limited BV Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
UsD100
HERARRARRAE ZERAEE  AREELT iB RERRK
100%7
Panriver Investments Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100 100%  Investment holding
HKS1
BIRERRAT B EREFLT L RERRK
1T
Energy Link Investments Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
HK$800,000,000
KERERRAR Bk BREFAT L REABR
800,000,000/
China Gas Energy Utlization Holdings ~ Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
Limited HKS1
HI R R ERERAR 3 BREMAE L RERRK
1T
Zhongran Energy Network Development Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100°  Investment holding
Limited HK$100
TR RARAA Bk EREFAT i RERRK
1007
RERREFEEERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB390,310,169 construction
i EREAAT Fil ARAEERMRE RS
AEE390310,1697C
Beijing Gas Development Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100 100%  Investment holding
UsD1
IHERARAT AERAMS  ARELLR L RERRK
1%
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
EaEAES HRER FRAMRER
WEARAR Hf/EEE  EERERR B&/ifEs  Re/GMEAEERS  FEER
2025 2024
S 3
% %
ENReEEERERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 99# 99 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIMB300,000,000 construction
i EREALT i ARARERMRERER
AR%300,000,0007C
ENPRRARARLE PRC Limited liability company Registered 88.91% 88.91%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB118,000,000 construction
G EREART i ARAEERMRERER
AE118,000,0007
PETEERIEEARLA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100%  Development and consultancy services
RMB80,000,000 in gas pipeline construction
h ERELAT Bl MREERR L FE LIRS
AK%80,000,0007T
TR ERERAR PRC Limited liabity company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB80,000,000 construction
i ERELAA Eil AARHERMREBER
AK%80,000,0007T
FrEEENMRRIERERAT  PRC Limited liability company Registered 85¢ 85%  Development, consultancy services and
RMB107,500,000 investment in clean energy
b ERELAA Gl ERHRRY  FARBREE
107,500,000
FPREELBERAR PRC Limited liability company Registered 1007 100% Provision of distributed heating services
(formerly known as RMB300,000,000
MR NEREEERAT) T8 ERELRA Eil RED AR
AEH300,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
EaEAES HRER FRAMRER
WEARAR Hf/EEE  EERERR RA/2MER  RA/EREXEENA  IEEE
2025 2024
ZECRE CECmE
% %
hERE N HERR AT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Sales of electricity and development,
RMB500,000,000 consultancy services and investment
in clean energy
i EREFAT it ENHEREZNARY AR
AERE500,000,0007C Rix&
FFnRrRE 28 FAEERAR  PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Investment holding
RMB700,000,000
i EREFAT it RERRK
700,000,000
Zhongran Energy Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100 100°  LPG trading
HK$50,000,002
hiRERERAA Bk EREFAT LB HEREES
50,000,002 7
Sky Access Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100°  Investment holding
UsD100
ZBRAMS  AREELR R RERRK
100%7
Fresh Goal Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100°  Investment holding
UsD1
FHARRAA RBRAME  AREELW LB RERRK
E3
China Gas Capital Management Limited ~ BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100 Group financing and treasry
UsD100
HEMRERERARAR RBRAME  AREELW LB SERERER
100%7T
EEne R RARAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB100,000,000 construction
HE EREFAT i AAREERMRERER
AK100,000,0007T
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46.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. X EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREER FRAMRER
WEARAR Hf/EEE  EERERR RA/2MER  RA/EREXEENA  IEEE
2025 2024
ZECRE CECmE
% %
REPIREER AR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Investment in the construction of city
RIMB69,980,000 gas pipeline network, petrochemical
and natural gas projects
b EREFLT i WITRAEERR  AARES
AR 69,980,000 BREMTRE
ARREAARBREALE PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 65% 65 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB133,000,000 construction
] BREMAF i FABERRREERR
133,000,000
WREERETRAERERAT  PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 96,5+ 96.5% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB774,027,200 construction
H BRERAF FRal FARERRREEER
ARHE774,027 2007
EmEEEREERAR PRC Limited liability company Registered g 71%  Provision of value-added services and
RMB200,000,000 wholesale and retail of household
equipment, electric appliances,
kitchen appliances and others
b EREALT i REEERBRZARE &8 B
ARE200,0000007C FEGSHERTE
Rich Legend International Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100° 100°  Investment holding
UsD100
ABRAHE  AREALA R RAER
1007
ARt RERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100%  Investment holding
RMB50,000,000
i BERERAR it REBR
A 50,000,007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 T RF=A=+—HIEFE

46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
EaEAES HRER ARARRORT
(i P it/ esnE  ERREL B&/ifEs  Re/GMEAEERS  FEER
2025 2024
S 3
% %
R AR RRARA PRC Limited liabilty company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB200,000,000 construction
bt ERELRA Bl AARHERMREBER
200,000,000
BRI TR R RARAT PRC Limited liabilty company Registered 89.55 8955 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB50,000,000 construction
bt ERELRA Bl AARHERMRE R
ARH50,000,0007
Hai Xia Finance Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100 100%  Securities investments
HKS2
BIEBERA Bk ERERAR LB BEFRE
2ET
EETI AR TR TR PRC Sino-foreign equity joint Registered 65% 65 Design, construction and maintenance
venture RMB6,000,000 of city pipeline projects
hE PhaELE itff HTMREERE R BRREE
AE6,000,0007C
FmmmE 2 RERERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100% Development and consultancy
RMB10,000,000 services in natural gas projects and
investment holding
i ERELRA Eil RARIER L% RAARBIARR
AR10,000,0007T B
AEDRRTRERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100% Provision of construction services
RIMBA40,000,000
e ERELAA Eil RUEREH
AR 40,000,007
FERERERARAR PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB158,214,000 construction
EF BRELAA it AARHERMREBRR
AE158214,0007
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREER FARMEREN
HEARZHE i/ eEnY  EREEYS Ra/dREs  RA/ZREAEERA  IEER
2025 2024
ZECRE CECmE
% %
REPETR AR RERAA PRC WFOF Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
HK$59,450,000 construction
i NEEELE Eil AAREERMRERER
59,450,000/
SRR ERERAT PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB234,358,158 construction
] EREFLT i ARARERMREERR
NRHE234,358,1587C
RESTIIEERAR PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 70% 70% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB30,000,000 construction
i EREFAT it AAREERMRERER
ARH30,000,0007
Electronic Business Development BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 1 T1% - Investment holding
Company Limited UsD100
EFRBERERAA ABRAHE  AREALA LiE RERRK
100%7
Lofty Intellect Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
USD50,000
FEERAR ABRABE  AREALA i RERRK
50,000%7T
Nova Gas Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary USD2 100% 100% Investment holding
EEMRARA ABRAHE  ARERLA g REBR
ES
EETRReEIMRERDA PRC Limited liability company Registered 5 51%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB110,000,000 construction
i BRERAF i ARAEERMRERER
110,000,007
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
EaEAES HREER ARARRORT
i P GVA-E 3 I R&/ifEs  RA/GMEAEERS  FEER
2025 2024
S 3
% %
REBRmRRERERAA PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 80 80% Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RIB68,550,000 construction
hE BREEAA it AARHERMREERR
AR68,550,0007
Natural Shine Investment Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 100¢ 100°  Investment holding
HKS$1
Bk EREFLT L RERRK
127
Trade Merit Holdings Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100 100%  Investment holding
UsD1,000
AERAME  ARELLA 8 RERR
1,000%7
PREEERERAA Hong Kong Limited liability company Ordinary 1007 100 Investment holding
HK$182,000,000
B EREALT i REHR
182,000,000
IrhRANE SERAT PRC Limited liabilty company Registered 100 100%  Wholesale and trading of gas appliance
RMB26,751,300 and parts
b ERELRA Bl MRAREHUHEREE
ARH26,751,3007C
HTPA TR R EER AT PRC Limited liabilty company Registered 100% 100%  Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
RMB90,000,000 construction
bt ERELRA Bl AARHERMRE R
90,000,007
TR EERLE PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100%  Development and consultancy services
RMB20,000,000 in software
bt ERELRA Bl gtz AR R AR
AEH%20,000,0007C
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
BalAED HREER FARMEREN
HEARZHE i/ eEnY  EREEYS RA/2MER  RA/EREXEENA  IEEE
2025 2024
ZECRE CECmE
% %
MIERRRRERRAR PRC Limited liabiity company Registered 50,66 50.66% Development, manufacture and sales
RMB62,500,000 of gas appliance
i BRERAF it R EEREEMRA
ARH62,500,0007
REHANBRAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100 Provision of heating services
RMB200,000,000
] EREFLT i REHBRRE
AR200,0000007
AR EERAREERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100* Provision of rental and inspection
RMB50,000,000 services for safety production
i EREFAT it RERRAERE RBERY
ARH50,000,0007
PRRERERERLA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100%  Wholesale and trading of natural gas
RIMB50,000,000 and liquefied natural gas
] BRERAF FRal FARRBIARFHEREE
ARH50,000,0007T
Fun Track Worldwide Inc. BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100 100°  Investment holding
USD100
ABRABE  AREALA i RERRK
1007
United Keen Investment Limited BVI Limited liability company Ordinary 100% 100% Investment holding
USD1
ABRABE  AREALA LB RASR
%7
China Gas International Pte. Ltd. Singapore Limited liability company Ordinary 100% 100% NG and LPG trading business
USD2,000,000
I BRERAF LE BARIRRIERRE HER
2,000,000%7C
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46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 46. = EME A AFE @)

(Continued)

Place of
incorporation or Paid up issued share  Proportion of nominal value of
registration/  Form of business capital/registered  issued share capital/registered
Name of subsidiary operations structure capital  capital held by the Company  Principal activities
Bl HREER FRAMRERT
WEARAR GAUVE£ 3 S5 T RA/2MER  RA/EREREENA  IEEE
2025 2024
S 3
% 5
BEPETRAREERAA PRC Limited liability company Registered 100 100 Sales of natural gas and gas pipeline
R\B20,000,000 construction
i EREALT i ARAEERMRERER
AE#20,000,0007T
RSN EEER AR PRC Limited liability company Registered 100% 100% Investment holding
RMB110,000,000
k! EREALT i RERRK
ARH110,0000007
# Directly held # HERE
# Indirectly held # [Cz2sE]
The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company EXREVNESRAEAEEXELEE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results BXEEREARNRSEEWBAR -
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, EERAREHMBHBARFEIER
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive ERHBRILE ©
length.
None of the Company’s subsidiaries had issued any debt securities BRARBZEWBRARRREEFTRA
at the end of the year, except for FHAIREBRAF], a wholly- RIBETEHOARKE6,8008 & (4
owned subsidiary of the Company, which has issued medium- 732ABET)(ZEMF - ARK
term notes, corporate bonds and super and short-term commercial 3,703E & L(#4,025B58%E L)) 2+ H
papers of approximately RMB6,800 million (approximately - AREFRBEHARERRIN
HK$7,312 million) (2024: RMB3,703 million (approximately BEARFTNBRRNFERETEME
HK$4,025 million) in aggregate. BES o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. &R RE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of the financial position of the RATRBERRZ B ERREER N
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T:
2025 2024
—E-hEF —EmEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - B NREE 629 1,527
Interests in subsidiaries B RS 18,859,833 17,502,618
Investments in associates REERNF 2 I8E 1,241,903 1,262,750
Investments in joint ventures NEBRATIZIEE 567,938 570,400
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRATEFAREMEERA
ZBRARTA 2,900 2,900
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG O 30,051,699 25,741,920
50,724,902 45,082,115
Current assets MEEE
Other receivables and prepayment ot i Y BR T8 N FE (< 08 11,461 3,725
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkB2EFEEAR 273,873 344,491
285,334 348,216
Current liabilities mnEaE
Other payables and accruals H b FETBRIE R JERT IR 160,629 140,561
Amounts due to subsidiaries FARLENGIE S5 9,894,392 11,328,525
Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE —
due within one year R—FEREF|H] 4,745,742 7,119,889
14,800,763 18,588,975
Net current liabilities MEAEFE (14,515,429) (18,240,759)
36,209,473 26,841,356
Equity R
Share capital P& A 54,482 54,356
Reserves i 23,158,713 23,226,565
Total equity ey 23,213,195 23,280,921
Non-current liability ERBAG
Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEE —
due after one year R—F1&EIH 12,996,278 3,560,435
36,209,473 26,841,356
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE2—ZE - AF=A=+—HILFE

47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 47. KA TMEMRRER @)

COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves: ViN/NCIWAE L1
Employee
Treasury share-based Capital
Share shares  Translation Capital  compensation  redemption  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RiteE EEROREE EXRE BARE EEROSMEE LREDRE ESya) @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Thn Thn T Thn Thn Thn Thn
(Note)
(M)

At 1 April 2023 R-E-=FmA-H 20275595 (1,084,740)  (2,174,541) 65,475 174 3435 7383630 24,469,028
Profit for the year EEEF - - - - - - 2682373 2,682,373
Exchange differences arising from translation  E&4 7B 3 28 - - (892,315) - - - - (892,315)

Recognition of equity-settled share-based ~ BERRALENRAF AR
payment % - - - - 2813 - - 2813
Repurchase of shares BERA (43,864) - - - - - - (43,864)
Shares vested under the share award scheme  FR{3 2815+ 212 8B - 30 - - (171) - (209) -
Dividends recognised as distributions B2ES KRS - - - - - — 29914700 (2,991,470)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZME=A=1-A 20231731 (1,084360)  (3,066,856) 65,475 2,816 3,435 7,074,324 23,226,565
Profit for the year EEHF - - - - - — B 24821
Issue of shares Bkt 80,175 - - - - - - 80,175
Exchange differences arising from translation  EE4 7 [EF 28 - - 133,847 - - - - 133,847

Recognition of equity-sttled share-based ARAEEUROY AN
payment % - - - - 2919 = = 2919
Shares vested under the share award scheme R EEEIERBR - 379 - - (17) - (208) -
Dividends recognised as distributions AENEIRE - - - - - —  (2718,066)  (2,718,066)
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RFZA=1-A 20311906 (1,083,981)  (2,933,009) 65,475 5,564 3435 6789323 23,158,173

Note: The capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between
the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company as
a result of the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s
shares in 1995 and the nominal amount of the Company’s share capital

issued as consideration for the acquisition.

48.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company issued
a corporate bond on 23 May 2025 with a face value of RMBO0.6
billion (approximately HK$0.6 billion), effective interest rate of
2.27% per annum and maturity date on 23 May 2030 which is
tradable on the National Interbank Bond Market of the PRC.

MR - AR BMERFEEARREAARB RS
R—ANREF ETAETREEATIRE
BB AR MR EEFERARFIER
WEEREMETHRAEENZR °

48. REWERERE

RBEHRRE AR _ZFE_HFHA
—t=B#TEEARBET(V6EET)H
REES  BERNEXREF227E - 2IHER

“TZ=FFRAA-TT=H " ZAREFARF
BE2ERTHESFMEHERS °
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—-HLFE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—ECoRE BN = T4 ZE-_—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T8 T FET FHETT
Results EST
Revenue WA 79,258,009 81,410,133 91,988,445 88,225,193 69,975,381
Profit for the year attributable XA F%EA A
to owners of the Company FE(EEE A 3,251,614 3,184,939 4,293,484 7,662,036 10,478,683
At 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—ECoRFE ZENF o= T4 ZE-_—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FET T FHET
Assets and liabilities BEERBE
Total assets EEE 148,220,570 148,697,724 157,291,209 163,146,352 140,720,642
Total liabilities wa g (87,493,865) (87,950,371) (92,500,830) (91,077,199) (80,856,510)
60,726,705 60,747,353 64,790,379 72,069,153 59,864,132
Equity attributable to owners @A 7]
of the Company Wa AR 53,864,695 53,927,655 57,900,584 63,577,893 51,936,860
Non-controlling interests AR 6,862,010 6,819,698 6,889,795 8,491,260 7,927,272
60,726,705 60,747,353 64,790,379 72,069,153 59,864,132
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
ETRYFEH

Location Type Group's interest (%) Lease term
B Hhl AEE (%) A

Leasehold land and buildings

HELHMEET

In Hong Kong:

EEHE

16/F., Capital Centre Office premises 100 Long term lease

No. 151 Gloucester Road HI/NES Y ES REIEAD

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

BAE

E

ELITE1515%

BARFL6HE

In the Mainland of the PRC:

B R e

e BISARRAE Commercial 100  Medium term lease
SES R HATEAY

It mERMELMEEEHR Office premises 100  Medium term lease
MAEYZE R HATR 49

HEBRtES Commercial 100 Long term lease

B = A R K AR B SES REAFEA

RERFIL A

Investment properties

REYFE

ARt ES Commercial 100 Long term lease

N E G R K B AR B BES REFFEA

RMER T A

YT E K IE50225% Commercial and 100  Medium term lease

#EEISBEAEAR - 612 - 818 - 1018 - office premises R HRFR 4

1318 - 1412 - 1512 21812 [EEE /NI ES
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